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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin (Chairman)

Mr. CAl Liting (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. KAO Chao Yang

Mr. CHENG Yee Pun

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. PARK Ho Jin'
Mr. JEON Eui Jong?

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen

Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. TSANG Hing Bun

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. CHENG Yee Pun
Mr. TSANG Hing Bun

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen (Chairperson)
Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie (Chairperson)

Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan

Mr. CAI Liting

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin (Chairperson)

Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie

Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan

! appointed on 31 March 2021
2 resigned on 31 March 2021
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Omicron variant induced another round of global lockdown in late 2021 and
early 2022. However, the aggressive roll-out of the vaccination programs
in developed countries notably reduced the fatality numbers in vaccinated
countries from the outbreak of numerous virus variants in 2021. Business
communities and general public are largely used to the new normal under the
prolonged pandemic era.

BUSINESS REVIEW

We faced both opportunities and challenges in 2021. We benefited from the
resilient business recovery in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
and the increasing adoption of Personify’s software applications. However,
our new retail business was distorted due to the outbreaks in Taiwan and
our brand licensing and supply chain management (“BLSC”) business has
suffered because of the global supply shortages of electronic components and
worldwide transportation supply chain bottlenecks. Despite those headwinds,
we managed to increase our overall revenue and net profit in 2021.

The delivery of a number of sizable solutions to overseas clients boosted the
performance of the industrial solution business remarkably during the reporting
year. For smart office business, we completed the acquisition of a basket
of Personify related intellectual properties from Hon Hai Precision Industry
Company Limited (“Hon Hai”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Hon
Hai Group”) on 22 March 2021. In addition, our BLSC business gradually
expanded to Asian and European markets from North America during the
reporting year. As a results, we now have a more balanced revenue mix from
major regions of the world.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The backlog orders from oversea clients for our industrial solutions are
promising and they are expected to contribute to our performance in 2022.
Given sizable manufacturers are diversifying their production capacities from
the PRC to overseas markets due to cost and geopolitical risk concerns, we
shall continue to explore opportunities in both the PRC and oversea markets.
For smart office business, both Personify and BLSC businesses are in an
expansion mood and scheduled to launch new products in 2022.

APPRECIATIONS

I would like to express our gratitude to all our stakeholders for their continuous
supports, and to our directors, management and all our employees for their
dedications and invaluable contributions to our sustainable success.

CHIEN Yi-Pin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2022
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AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The group principally engages in industrial solution, smart office and new
retail businesses. Our revenue and net profit increased by 14% and 134%
to RMB596.3 million (2020: RMB523.4 million) and RMB34.3 million (2020:
RMB14.6 million) respectively for the reporting year when compared with those
of 2020. If the fair value change on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and the share-based payment were stripped, core net profit increased
by 34% to RMB26.3 million.

Inventory and Trade Receivable

As at 31 December 2021, there were approximately RMB110.1 million in
inventory (2020: RMB23.2 million) and they are primarily project-related
hardware and software products pending to be delivered to our customers,
and finished goods for BLSC business. Inventory turnover for the reporting year
increased to 50 days from 23 days as compared to the year of 2020 mainly
because of the stack-up of inventory for BLSC business in light of global supply
shortage of key electronic components.

As at 31 December 2021, there were approximately RMB195.1 million in trade
and lease receivables (2020: RMB202.0 million) which consisted of current
and non-current portion of RMB182.4 million (2020: RMB181.4 million) and
RMB12.7 million (2020: RMB20.6 million) respectively. Some of our projects
have been structured as finance lease in which customers are eligible to
pay in periodic instalments over a specific number of years. Trade and lease
receivable turnover for the reporting year declined to 122 days from 149 days
as compared to the year of 2020 solely due to our increasing efforts on debt
collection and ageing debt monitoring under the pandemic period.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2021, we had a net cash position while our cash and
cash equivalents were RMB189.1 million (2020: RMB212.4 million). Our total
assets of RMB641.9 million (2020: RMB536.4 million) were financed by total
liabilities of RMB229.4 million (2020: RMB181.6 million) and shareholders’
equity of RMB412.5 million (2020: RMB354.8 million). Although there were a
total amount of RMB30.6 million banking facilities available to the group (2020:
Nil), none of them were utilised during the year and we had no bank borrowing
(2020: Nil). We had a current ratio of 2.4 (2020: 2.7). Trade payables were
repayable within one year.

Treasury Policy

We generally financed our operations with internally generated resources.
We have adopted a prudent management approach for our treasury policies
and therefore maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the reporting
year. We strive to reduce credit risk exposure by performing periodic credit
evaluations of our external customers.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3§ 5
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Foreign Exchange Exposure

We mainly operate in the PRC, Taiwan, Hong Kong, the United States of
America (the “US”), Europe and Southeast Asia with most of the transactions
settled in Chinese yuan, US dollars, New Taiwanese dollars, Hong Kong dollars,
Euro, British pound and Viethamese dong. We are exposed to foreign exchange
risk from various currencies, primarily with respect to US dollars. We have a
policy to require our group companies to manage their foreign exchange risk
against their functional currencies which includes managing the exposures
arising from sales and purchases made by the relevant group companies in
currencies other than their own functional currencies. We also manage our
foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews of the group’s net foreign
exposures and would consider the use of foreign exchange contracts to
manage foreign exchange risks, where appropriate. We did not use derivative
financial instruments for speculative purposes.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Industrial Solution Business

We provide full range of smart manufacturing solutions and services to our
customers, including i) the implementation of a combination of software system
(i.e. enterprise resources planning, manufacturing execution system, warehouse
management system etc.) and automation equipment into the production
lines to enable smart processes that lower costs and increase operational
effectiveness and efficiency; ii) the implementation of facility monitor and control
system for monitoring the efficiency of the usage of water, power and gas to
production plants; and iii) the implementation of facial recognition system for
labour and security management of the entire industrial parks. We also provide
daily I.T. operating services and after-installation maintenance work in relation
to those smart manufacturing solutions. Due to the resilient business recovery
in the PRC market and the delivery of a number of sizable projects to overseas
clients, segment revenue and profit increased by 33% and 40% to RMB333.3
million and RMB44.4 million respectively during the reporting year when
compared with the year of 2020.

Smart Office Business
Smart office business consists of Personify plus BLSC business. Segment

revenue soared 1% to RMB236.0 million but segment profit fell 63% to RMB3.2
million during the reporting year when compared with the year of 2020.

6 EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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BUS|NESS REVIEW (continued)

Smart Office Business (continued)

Personify business serves two group of customers, namely B2C and B2B
customers. B2C customers subscribe the software applications through
periodic or one-off subscriptions while B2B customers subscribe the
applications or embed the technology in their own existing software or web-
based products on negotiated fees. Demand for the applications increased
dramatically since the outbreak of the pandemic because video conferencing
becomes a part of the new normal following the pandemic induced lockdown
and people are largely required to work from home. After the completion of
the acquisition of the Target Assets from Hon Hai Group in March 2021, we
have accelerated our marketing and research efforts in this business. Due to
the aggressive roll-out of the vaccination programs and the gradual recovery
from pandemic in the developed countries, revenue from B2C business, as
expected, was halved on a pro-rata basis when compared with the year of
2020 but the fall was more than offset by the doubling of the revenue from B2B
business. Thanks to the new corporate contracts entered plus a high renewal
rate of the existing corporate clients during the reporting year. On top of the
corporate clients from US and Europe, we have successfully added clients
from Asia. Aggregate revenue for Personify business increased by over 20%
on a pro-rata basis when compared with the year of 2020. We have invested
heavily in developing new products as well as enhancing our existing products
and resulted in drastic increase in research and development expenses which
hammered the profit of this segment during the reporting year. However,
it is considered as the investment for the future benefits of the company
by expanding the product family of Personify business using the acquired
computer vision technology.

For BLSC business, we have expanded into Europe, Southeast Asia and
China markets from the US market during the reporting year. The business
was severely distorted by the worldwide supply shortage of key electronic
components and transportation supply chain bottlenecks in the first half of
2021. However, it managed to catch up in the second half and achieved
satisfactory results for the whole year.

New Retail Business

We are delving into new opportunities for our digital signage solutions in the
retail sector of Taiwan. We completed installing our proprietary digital signage
solutions into 600 supermarket stores operated by a preeminent player in
Taiwan in 2020. With positive feedback for the solutions, we have been granted
the second phase project from the same customer, installing the solutions into
the rest of its stores in Taiwan, amounting to over 400 stores. However, the
progress of the second phase project was severely disrupted by the outbreak
of the pandemic in Taiwan in mid-2021. As a result, both segment revenue and
profit dropped by 32% to RMB27.1 million and RMB3.7 million respectively
during the reporting year when compared with the year of 2020.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3§ 7
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BUSINESS PROSPECT

Industrial Solution Business

In wake of the latest Sino-US geopolitical environment and pandemic induced
lockdowns, sizable players in manufacturing sector are adopting diversification
strategies. They will continue to maintain their operations in China but, at the
same time, they will diversify a meaningful share of their production capacity
to overseas markets in order to mitigate risks. We shall continue our business
development efforts in both the PRC and overseas markets going forward.
Furthermore, we witnessed some of our customers have rapidly embraced
new emerging technologies and commenced or planned to commence their
productions in electric vehicles and/or metaverse related products which may
provide new business opportunities to our business in the future.

Smart Office Business

We shall continue to devote our research and development and sales and
marketing efforts on Personify business. Beta testing on the new products
has commenced since late 2021 and we are closely monitoring the market
feedback. Once the new products are officially launched, we shall dedicate
more sales and marketing efforts on this business. Since 2021, we have
outsourced part of the research and development work to I.T. contractors
based in Ukraine in order to speed up our product development as well as tap
into the IT talent pools of this Eastern European country at competitive cost.
The recent Russia-Ukraine war may create complications for the launch of
some of our new products. We shall closely monitor the development of the
incident and adopt appropriate measures with an aim of reducing the potential
adverse impacts to our business. For BLSC business, we are working closely
with our suppliers in launching new product models to cater for the needs of
our customers as well as enhancing our overall competitiveness.

New Retail Business
We shall complete our second phase digital retail signage project in Taiwan

in the first half of 2022 and we are actively exploring opportunities in Greater
China region in a bid to develop our business.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The company’s business risks are mainly the following:

(i) macroeconomic conditions of the globe and the PRC which in turn will
affect the general demand of I.T. solutions, services and products;

(ii) market acceptance of our industrial, smart office and new retail solutions;

(i) rapid technological changes that may disrupt the market positions and
demand of our existing solutions and products unpredictably; and

(iv)  greater foreign exchange risk exposure due to the expansion of our
overseas businesses and higher volatility in major functional currencies in
recent years.

8 EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

Acquisition of Intellectual Properties

On 27 December 2020, the company, Personify Inc. (the “Buyer”), our wholly
owned subsidiary, and Foxconn (Far East) Limited (the “Seller”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of Hon Hai, announced that all the three parties entered
into an acquisition agreement (“Acquisition Agreement”’) on 24 December
2020 for the Buyer to acquire a basket of intellectual properties (“Target
Assets”), which included (i) 13 patents; (i) trademark of Personify; (iii) 26
software components including “Presenter” and “ChromaCam”; and (iv) 11
domain names, from the Seller at a consideration of HK$23.34 million. The
consideration would be settled by the issuance of 46.68 million new shares,
representing 6.65% enlarged shareholding of the company, to the Seller at
HK$0.5 per share upon completion of the transaction. It is a disclosable and
connected transaction and requires the application for a whitewash waiver from
the Securities and Future Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC”). Details are
set out in the announcement of the company dated 27 December 2020 and the
circular of the company dated 22 February 2021. The acquisition of the Target
Assets was approved by the independent shareholders (the “Independent
Shareholders”) of the company in the special general meeting (the “SGM”)
held on 15 March 2021 and was completed on 22 March 2021.

With the ownership of the Target Assets, (a) we are able to formulate a more
comprehensive business development and marketing strategy by exploring
every available business options including, but not limited to, generating
additional licensing fee for granting others to use its technology by sublicensing
the patents and/or providing access to the source code or related software
development kit; (b) we are more motivated to devote resources to develop
new and existing applications and products; (c) it will be cost-saving in the
long run as we shall no longer have to pay the licence fees for the Target
Assets after the acquisition of the Target Assets; and (d) it will eliminate the
uncertainties of the continuity of the existing licensing arrangement between
the Buyer and its licensor. We believe such acquisition is in the interests of the
company and our shareholders as a whole.

Given the day-end closing share price on the completion date of the
transaction was far above HK$0.5 per share, the total consideration, based on
the closing share prices on the completion date, is significantly deviated from
the underlying value of the Target Assets from accounting perspective. As a
result, a share-based payment of RMB10.5 million was accounted for in the
reporting year.

Saved as disclosed above, we had no material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries during the reporting year.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
GRC SinoGreen Fund V, L.P. (“GRC Fund”)

On 9 June 2021, the company announced that Maxnerva (Shenzhen)
Technology Services Limited, our wholly owned subsidiary, entered into the
limited partnership agreement as a limited partner with GRC SinoGreen
Capital Co., Ltd. on 8 June 2021, in relation to the investment in the GRC
Fund. Pursuant to the limited partnership agreement, we have committed to
contribute RMB30 million which size is expected to account for approximately
6% of the capital contribution committed by the partners of the GRC Fund. The
GRC Fund was established on 18 June 2021 and intends to invest in strategic
emerging industries, future industries and other industries including but not
limited to semiconductor, biomedicine, new energy, new materials, high-end
intelligent manufacturing and other high-tech industries. Entering into the
limited partnership agreement is a disclosable transaction and details are set
out in the announcement and supplementary announcement of the company
dated 9 June 2021 and 13 July 2021 respectively. We invested RMB9 million
out of the total committed capital of RMB30 million in GRC Fund in 2021. As at
31 December 2021, there were immaterial changes in the value of our interest
in GRC Fund. The investment is expected to generate capital appreciations in
the long term and may bring other business opportunities to the group.

SigmaSense, LLC (“SigmaSense”)

We invested US$2 million and US$0.5 million in the preferred shares of
SigmaSense in 2019 and 2020 respectively and our investment accounted
for approximately 1.99% of the total shareholding of SigmaSense as at 31
December 2021. SigmaSense founded in 2015 focusing on display related
touch sensing technology for a wide range of products, from laptops, tablets
and smartphones to large format interactive displays, gaming and automotive
etc. With the success of raising new round of funding by Sigmasense in
late 2021, the valuation of our investment in SigmaSense increased to
approximately US$5.6 million, about 5.5% of the total asset value of our
group as at 31 December 2021. The unrealized gain of the investment was
approximately RMB19.8 million during the reporting year. The investment is
expected to generate capital appreciations to the group in the medium to long
term.

Saved as disclosed above, we had no significant investment during the
reporting year.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS, CAPITAL
COMMITMENT, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES,
EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

As at 31 December 2021, there were no charges on the group’s assets and
contingent liabilities (2020: Nil).

As at 31 December 2021, there was a total amount of RMB26 million capital
commitment (2020: Nil).

There were no material events after 31 December 2021.

10 EEER KRB R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited



EEEA R RN

MANAGENMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEXRRBRER

RWZEZ—F+ZA=+—H ZxRBAEHE
701,543,448 BREHEOABTHNEETRG C°F
T E 4 1 654,863,448 i {n) o 1L 146.68E &R
Bein (FEER R AT LB ARREZ6.65%) THIZEH K
£0.58THT LENE3.34F BB TINE AU
WHEBZEE-

PR EXFIIREEIN ARBREFREN - -ZFF

RZE_-—FREFEHELERBOERQTEM
EmEse
EXSABRSFETERRNEARAKRE (&°F

—EE+ZA=+—H -
FHEMER S

E%ﬁ?—ﬂ; BRXZZHB F2RAFREFER
SE-RBRERS I~k

EBE -RARBERKRER

AT —F+ZA=+—H KMH
B (CE=% 1 408%EE8) » MR HE-
B EERESC

t B2 F543% &

=R Ay

RABEE > RPIBFMEERTSRBERITHHIEO RIZ
BMNEIIRERERMEE - FBABZHMNE
BIERKED HERREANFHERRRERRIAEN
WEREEMETE - —RESETAIZTEERES  WEE
REBPIZ BB RREARRHSTETE

AR RBEZE RS REERMNE I EEYIF -
BraiESREABEININ TRAEIRHERERE
TENRSEENEIRG LR -RATEBMET
LEERAATERERE TEZAERETI2MEE
REURRENRME TSR ILEHIIREFE
RAEENEXNAREXER AFEAEEZE
ERF -HMATEREME FIEPEHE SRS
BFEEED—EmBNHESRHENREERERD

=

F°

BABRIRARERMANBRERTEASER IR
HMNEREEBRESRENAEEE RHEE
HE%&&T%DEIMR R EMAE S X AN
B FBRLRAEFRANRE - HERERARS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND DIVIDENDS

As at 31 December 2021, the company has a total of 701,543,448 issued
shares with a par value of HK$0.1 each (2020: 654,863,448 shares). The
increase in 46.68 million new shares, representing 6.65% of the enlarged
shareholding of the company, was issued at HK$0.5 per share for the
settlement of the acquisition of Target Assets from the Seller at a consideration
of HK$23.34 million.

Saved as disclosed above, neither the company nor its subsidiaries had sold
and redeemed any of the company’s listed securities during the reporting year
of 2020 and 2021.

The board does not recommend any payment of a final dividend in respect of
the reporting year (31 December 2020: Nil).

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For details of the continuing connected transaction, please refer to the
paragraph headed “Report of the Directors — Continuing Connected
Transactions” of this annual report.

EMPLOYEES, ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
COMPLIANCE

As at 31 December 2021, we employed a total of 543 employees (2020: 498
employees) located in the PRC, Taiwan, Vietnam, the US and Hong Kong.

We believe that our remuneration policy is in line with the prevailing market
practices and is determined on the basis of performance and experience of
the individuals. Sales personnel are remunerated by salaries and incentives in
accordance with the achievement of their sales target and account receivables
collection. General staff are offered year-end discretionary bonuses, which are
based on the divisional performance and individual appraisals.

We are committed to devoting more resources in providing internal and external
training to the employees. Apart from orientation programs for new employees,
trainings in live broadcasting and online programs, covering wide variety of
topics, are provided. We also encourage staff to participate in relevant seminars
and lectures, and recommend qualified staff to take part in professional courses
to keep abreast of the latest technology and market development. The training
programs not only enhance employees’ professional knowledge and career
development, but also contribute to improving the management system of the
group. We also conduct a mentorship program in which each of the senior and
middle management in the PRC is required to provide regular coaching and
experience sharing with one to two new employees.

We are dedicated to creating a favourable circumstance for caring of our
environment and community. It is our goal to build a more harmonious, civilized
and sustainable society by maintaining a high standard operation with integrity,
providing services of high quality and protecting the environment. For details,
please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report included in
this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board is committed to maintaining good corporate governance standard
and procedures to ensure the integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure in
order to enhance the shareholders’ value.

The company has adopted the principles and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the reporting year,
save for the deviations discussed below. The board will continuously review and
improve the corporate governance practices and standards of the company to
ensure that business activities and decision-making processes are regulated in
a proper and prudent manner.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors have
confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code throughout the reporting year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular attention
paid to the growth and financial performance of the group. The principal
functions of the board are to:

1. establish the strategic direction and development of the group;

2. determine the broad policies, strategic plans and performance objectives
of the group;

3. monitor management performance;

4, approve financial plans and annual budgets, major funding proposals, key
funding and investment proposals;

5. oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls,
risk management, financial reporting and compliance; and

6. assume responsibility for corporate and ESG governance.

The board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control and overall
strategic development of the group, as well as overseeing internal control,
financial performance, overall management and operations of the group. The
board has delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is responsible
for implementing the group’s business strategies and managing the daily
business operations.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The board comprises four executive directors, one non-executive director and
three independent non-executive directors.

Regular board meetings are held at least four times a year to approve annual
and interim results, to review the business operation and the internal control
system of the group and to approve major or special issues.

The company has received from each independent non-executive director
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The company considers that all the independent non-executive directors
are independent.

Throughout the reporting year, the board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications on accounting or related financial management
expertise. The number of independent non-executive directors has represented
at least one-third of the board.

Given the nature and business objectives of the company, the board has a
balance of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the company. A list of directors and their biographical details are set out on
pages 61 to 64.

REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY
MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration paid to members of key management (including all
directors and senior management) for the reporting year fell within the following
bands:

A#
Number of individual

T % —EZEHF

2021 2020

AR #2,000,0017tE AR 12,500,000t  RMB2,000,001 - RMB2,500,000 - -
AR #1,500,0017t 2 AR #2,000,0007t  RMB1,500,001 - RMB2,000,000 - -
AR #1,000,0017t 2 AR ®1,500,0007t  RMB1,000,001 - RMB1,500,000 1 1
ZxE AE#1,000,0007T Nil - RMB1,000,000 8 9
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EETTR EETEHETEE/R ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS, BOARD
RRAGHEEERHK COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETINGS
FREEEHEBINEERY
Meeting attended/held
during the reporting year
EXE8E FNZE89E RAZE98E BKZE8EE BRERAE
Remuneration Nomination Audit
Board Committee Committee Committee General

EXEERE Members of the Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HTEZ Executive directors
WEWEE (ZE) Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin (Chairman) 0/4 01 0/3
EHREE BITR) Mr. CAI Liting (Chief Executive Officer) 1/4 01 0/3
BRELE Mr. KAO Chao Yang 0/4 0/3
BERLE Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 4/4 3/3
ERTES Non-executive directors
Park Ho JinfL&! Mr. Park Ho Jin' 1/2 0/
JEON Eui Jong%t 42 Mr. JEON Eui Jong? 0/2 0/2
BAERTES Independent non-executive directors
LIPS Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen 4/4 11 11 3/3 1/3
EaREE Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie 4/4 il 1 3/3 1/3
REEREE Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan 4/4 il 11 3/3 0/3
st Notes:

1 RZE-_—E=ZA=+—HEZF
2 RZZEZ—F=B=+—H&F

EFEZUEEER

FRAHERBEZENZTIENESTS  HJRSES
EZIHEE-EFEMESTIEABEES RZEAR
RED OBEEARNMERN Fi Xt RKEK
UERBEER - BERKR - RE - MHRRBFER-
EEEMAMEZZEURAMS ZRAETT ME
EREZEBREN LEEHEEEMEZ TENE

Eo

! appointed on 31 March 2021
2 resigned on 31 March 2021

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse board
which enhances the quality of its performance. Diversity of board members
can be achieved through consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. All the board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continueq)

Below are the graphical presentation of the diversity of the board as at 31
December 2020 and 2021:
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BOARD MEETINGS

The executive directors meet on a regular basis to discuss the ordinary
business of the company. Board meetings are held to discuss the overall
development, operation, interim results, annual
results and other business of the company that requires approval from the
board. Reasonable notice has been given to board members to give them
an opportunity to attend. All board members are provided with relevant
documentation covering the subject matter of the board meetings. Board

financial performance,

members are also provided with sufficient information in a timely manner to
review and consider matters to be discussed at board meetings. The company
utilises telephone conferencing for directors who are not able to attend in
person.

During the reporting year, all directors discharged their duties in a dedicated,
diligent and proactive manner with reasonable prudence. They have executed
their duties in accordance with statutory requirements, the company’s bye-laws
(the “Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules. All directors have exercised due care in
monitoring corporate matters of the company and provided sufficient time and
attention to all significant issues of the group.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The duties of the Chairman are as follows:

1. provides leadership and governance of the board so as to create the
conditions for overall board’s and individual director’s effectiveness, and
ensures that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the board in
a timely manner;

2. promotes effective relationships and open communication, and creates
an environment that allows constructive debates and challenges, both
inside and outside the boardroom, between non-executive directors and
the management;

3. ensures that the board as a whole plays a full and constructive part in the
development and determination of the group’s strategies and policies,
and that board decisions taken are in the group’s best interests and fairly
reflect board’s consensus;

4, ensures that the strategies and policies agreed by the board are
effectively implemented by the Chief Executive Officer and the
management;

5. sets the board meeting schedule and agenda to take full account of the

important issues facing the group and the concerns of all directors, and
ensures that adequate time is available for thorough discussion of critical
and strategic issues;
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(continued)

6. ensures that the board is properly briefed on issues arising at board
meetings and receives, in a timely manner, adequate information which
must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, to fulfil its duties, such
as reports on the group’s performance, the issues, challenges and
opportunities facing the group, and matters reserved for it to make
decision;

7. arranges informal meetings of the directors at least annually, including
meetings of the non-executive directors at which the Chief Executive
Officer is not present, and ensures that sufficient time and consideration
is given to complex, contentious or sensitive issues;

8. ensures that there is effective communication with shareholders, and
that each director develops and maintains an understanding of the
stakeholders’ views; and

9. establishes good corporate governance practices and procedures and
promotes the highest standards of integrity, probity and corporate
governance throughout the group and particularly at board level.

Whereas the duties of the Chief Executive Officer are as follows:

1. leads the management in the day-to-day running of the group’s business
in accordance with the business plans and within the budgets approved
by the board;

2. leads the management to ensure effective working relationships with the
Chairman and the board by meeting or communicating with the Chairman
on a regular basis to review key developments, issues, opportunities and
concerns;

3. develops and proposes the group’s strategies and policies for the
board’s consideration;

4, implements the strategies and policies as approved by the board and its
committees in pursuit of the group’s objectives;

5. maintains regular communication with the Chairman on important and
strategic issues facing the group, and ensures bringing these issues to
the board’s attention;

6. ensures that the management gives appropriate priority to providing

reports to the board which contain relevant, accurate, timely and clear
information necessary for the board to fulfil its duties;
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(continued)

7. leads the communication program with our stakeholders including
shareholders; and

8. conducts the affairs of the group in accordance with the practices and
procedures adopted by the board and promotes the highest standards of
integrity, probity and corporate governance within the group.

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. This code provision has been complied with by the
company throughout the reporting year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors bring independent judgment to the
board. Each independent non-executive director sent a written confirmation of
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules to the company.
Based on these confirmations, the board considers that all independent non-
executive directors have met the qualifications of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
for the reporting year.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Directors are appointed in accordance with their qualifications and experience
to ensure they are capable to perform their duties and protect the interests of
the stakeholders. Every newly appointed director receives a comprehensive and
formal introduction to ensure that he/she has an understanding of the group’s
business and operation, his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements, and the Model Code.

Under code provision C.3.3 issuers should have formal letters of appointment
for directors setting out the key terms and conditions for their appointment. The
independent non-executive directors are appointed for a specific term of office
of one year while all non-executive directors and all executive directors have
not entered into any service agreements or letters of appointment (as the case
may be) with the company and have no fixed term of service. However, they are
subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting of the company
(the “AGM”) in accordance with the Bye-laws. As such, the board considers
that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than set out in the CG
Code.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

According to the provisions of the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules, any director
appointed by the board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the next
following general meeting of the company, and in the case of an addition to
the existing board, until the next following AGM. Furthermore, each director,
including those appointed for a specific term or holding office as Chairman and/
or chief executive officer, are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The company
would provide a comprehensive induction package covering the summary of
the responsibilities and legal obligations of a director of a Hong Kong listed
company, the company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws (the
“Constitutional Documents”) and the Guides on Directors’ Duties issued by
the Companies Registry to each newly appointed director to ensure that he/she
is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. Continuing briefings and professional development to
directors would be arranged whenever necessary.

During the reporting yeatr, all directors and company secretary of the company
confirmed that they have complied with the CG Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three board committees, namely the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
to oversee particular aspects of the group’s affairs. The committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable requests, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the company’s expenses.

(a) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors and one executive director. The current members
are Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen, Prof. ZHANG
Xiaoquan and Mr. CAl Liting. Mr. Kan is currently the chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee.
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BOARD COM M |TTEES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Remuneration Committee (continued)
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the board on, among other things, the company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all directors and senior
management of the company and review the specific remuneration
packages for all executive directors and senior management of
the company. The remuneration packages for directors and senior
management are determined by reference to the skKill, experience,
performance, contribution to the company and the prevailing market
condition.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors and one executive director. The current members are Mr.
CHIEN Yi-Pin, Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, Mr. TANG Tin Lok. Stephen and
Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan. Mr. Chien is currently the chairperson of the
Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are to:

1. review the structure, size and composition of the board (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) at least once every year
and make recommendations to the board regarding any proposed
changes;

2. identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members
and select or make recommendations to the board on the selection
of, individuals nominated for directorships;

3. assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

4. make recommendations to the board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors in particular, the chairman and the chief
executive officer; and

5. where the board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an independent non-executive director at the general meeting,
the Nomination Committee should set out in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting why they believe the
individual should be elected and the reasons why they consider the
individual to be independent.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continueq)

(b)

(c)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee monitors and reviews the diversity policy
of the board members. The company recognises that diversity of the
board members provides a balance of skill, experience and professional
knowledge for the company’s business and future development. The
diversity policy is achieved by consideration of various aspects, including
but not limited gender, age, cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional knowledge and experience with the business of the
company. The ultimate decision on selection of candidates will be made
upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidate will bring to
the board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established and is governed by its written
terms of reference in accordance with code provision D.3.3 of the CG
Code. It currently comprises three independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen, Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie and Prof.
ZHANG Xianquan. Mr. TANG is currently the chairperson of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the
financial reporting process and internal control system of the group and
providing advice and recommendations to the board.

The Audit Committee is also authorised to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice and to secure the attendance
of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this
necessary.

During the reporting year, the Audit Committee has performed the
following duties:

1. reviewed the annual financial statements with the auditor
and reviewed the unaudited interim financial statements, with
recommendations to the board for approval;

2. reviewed the changes in accounting standards and policies as
well as assessment of potential impacts on the group’s financial
statements;

3. reviewed the group’s internal control and risk management
systems, the effectiveness of the group’s internal audit function
and discussed the relevant issues including financial, operational
and compliance controls, and risk management functions;

4. reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory
requirements;

5. considered and recommended the appointment, re-appointment
and approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of
external auditor;

6. discussed with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations; and

7. reviewed and monitored external auditor’s independence and

objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The board has delegated the duties and responsibilities in performing its
corporate governance functions to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
is responsible for corporate governance functions with the following duties:

1. to develop and review the company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4, to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to directors and employees; and

5. to review the company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements of the group which should give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the company and the group and of the results and cash flow for that
year in compliance with relevant laws and applicable accounting standards.
The board also ensures the timely publication of the financial statements of the
group.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, therefore the directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the reporting year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the
company, provided the following services to the group and its respective fees
charged are set out as follows:

=]

WERES Type of services charged Fees
ANEEFT

RMB’000

KEEZ BZRHE Audit services for the Group 1,810
JEBIZARTS Non-audit services -
4B %EE Total 1,810
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the group for the relevant accounting periods in
accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements. In preparing the
financial statements for the reporting year, the directors have adopted
appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently. The financial
statements for the reporting year have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out on
pages 88 to 89 in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the reporting year, the group has complied with principle D.2 of the CG
Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. Management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of such systems, while the board oversees management in
performing its duties on an ongoing basis and an internal audit on the internal
control and risk management systems performed on an annual basis. Main
features of the risk governance and management systems are described as
follows:

Risk Governance and Management

The management of the group proactively manages the risks by establishing an
Enterprise Risk Management (‘ERM”) framework to assist the Audit Committee
and the board in discharging its risk management responsibilities and individual
business units in managing their key risks. With reference to the “Internal
Control — Integrated Framework” Issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COS0”), the main features of the
ERM system are illustrated below:

o Control Environment: a set of standards, processes and structures that
provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the group.

o Risk Assessment: a dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analysing risks to achieve the group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: action established by policies and procedures to help
ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the achievement
of objectives are carried out.

° Information and Communication: internal and external communication to
provide the group with the information needed to carry out day-to-day
controls.

o Monitoring: ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each

components of internal control is present and functioning.
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(continued)
AREARER (&) Risk Governance and Management (continued)

AERWEREAREBUTXFARWIZERGIEE  The group’s risk governance structure is guided by the “Three Lines of
I8 o Defense” model as shown below.

Board of Directors
XY

Audit Committee

BREET

1st Line of Defence 2nd Line of Defence 3rd Line of Defence
SE1EAR SH2iERhAR SE3EAR
Financial Control
MFsEaE
Management
Controls
BB System of Risk i
Management and x3
Internal Control ok é
ESERRAEERLG Internal Audit i) >
POERE I g
Compliance
Risk Management =)
and Internal
Controls
Measures
EAREER Data Privacy and
PIEBEEIEIETE Information Security
BATLERENZR
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Risk Governance and Management (continued)
As the first line of defense, risk owners of all corporate departments and
business units of the group identify and evaluate the risks which may potentially
impact the achievement of their business objectives, mitigate and monitor the
risks (including but not limited to business, operation risks) by designing and
executing control procedures in their day-to-day operations. They conduct risk

assessment on a regular basis to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of
controls that are in place to mitigate the identified risks.

As the second line of defense, the group establishes specific functions to
ensure the first line of defense is properly in place and operating as intended.
The responsibilities of these functions include but not limited to financial
control, risk management and internal control, compliance, data protection and
information security and so forth.

As the third line of defense, the existing Internal Audit (“IA”) function acts as
an independent assessor which is composed of professionals with relevant
expertise (such as certified public accountant). It is responsible for i) reviewing
the major operational, financial, compliance and risk management controls of
the group on a continuous basis and ii) proposing any enhancement to the
risk management and internal control systems for consideration by the Audit
Committee and/or the individual department concerned. It schedules its work in
an annual audit plan which is reviewed by the Audit Committee every year. The
audit plan is derived from risk assessment basis and is aimed at covering each
significant corporate department and business unit in which the group involves
in day-to-day management within a reasonable period.

The Audit Committee assists the board in overseeing the risk management and
internal control systems of the group, including:

1. reviewing, at least annually, the risk management and internal control
systems of the group with the IA function to ascertain whether
management has fulfilled its responsibilities in establishing and
maintaining effective systems;

2. reviewing the risk assessment results, including changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last review and the group’s ability
to respond to changes in its business and the external environment; and

3. discussing with management on the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions to ensure that these are
adequate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
Risk Governance and Management (continued)

The board has the overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems, including:

1. setting the group’s strategies and corporate goals;

2. evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving its strategic and business objectives;

3. overseeing management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems;

4, overseeing the risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis, and ensuring that a review of the systems is conducted at
least annually to ensure their effectiveness;

5. reviewing the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since
the last review and the group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

6. considering any significant control failings or weaknesses that have been
identified during the period.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the reporting year, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

The board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function and
Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programs and budget provided were sufficient.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. TSANG Hing Bun was appointed as company secretary of the company
with effect from 3 November 2015. Although Mr. Tsang is not an employee
of the company as required under code provision C.6.1 of the CG Code, the
company has assigned Mr. CHENG Yee Pun, the executive director, as the
contact person with Mr. Tsang. Information in relation to the performance,
financial position and other major developments and affairs of the group are
speedily delivered to Mr. Tsang through the contact person assigned. Hence,
all directors are still considered to have access to the advice and services of
the company secretary in light of the above arrangement in accordance with
code provision C.6.4 of the CG Code. Having in place a mechanism that Mr.
Tsang will be informed of the group’s development promptly without material
delay and with his expertise and experience, the board is confident that having
Mr. Tsang as the company secretary is beneficial to the group’s compliance
with the relevant board procedures, applicable laws, rules and regulations. For
the reporting year, Mr. Tsang has duly complied with the relevant professional
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities have been in
force to protect the directors and officers of the group from their risk exposure
arising from the business of the group.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders are encouraged to maintain direct communication with the
company. Shareholders who have any questions for the board may write
directly to the company’s Hong Kong principal place of business, Room 1001,
10/F, Houston Centre, 63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, or email
to info@maxnerva.com. The company secretary will direct the questions to
the board. For institutional investors, please call (852) 3628 3815 or email to
ir@maxnerva.com for further information of the company.

Any questions regarding the shareholdings of the shareholders can be
addressed directly to the company’s branch registrar, Tricor Abacus Limited at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3§ 27



EEERRS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PREREFR @
READ

FABEBRRBERRTARG ERRMABZIHES
ERAZEZREARAHEHERS AT LR
R ARBHRRAEGZBIEGETENEE R
oA XNEGEHNE URERKRESIRIT 2R
o

EFENE RHREFEZEEIFENENAK B
EZTHEEABRIMNEZHBAK HERRBFEKR
EUEIERRZIER -

RRBFARREHIAENRERE

RE2EREBRFELARATANAERERATDRRERE
IRERBANZEMEREAFTDR D Z—BIREREE
RARAARADNEREIMMEEREETEIE
EEMBEHEMER URFLAENEEREET
BRERRFHIAEGUZEEBRERRNMMENERNE
BEH, MEBAGRNIEZBRERBDBHESME
AREGT -HEEFBEEEZ2AMERBAHEA21BAMN
REARRHIAG AIRHERALTREREEE
SRR —FULENEREA—EIUERLT AR
HEETARANAEREUEALNRRFTINARE M
RUHEBRALTHESREHREBAAREMELENA
BERREERDERETRS -

TEERDARPRIAGHER  HHEBKRRS
2o RAEESETRAEELNXXMF  SHXFHEH
—RREZARERREZ -

HEREY AEAMEREREFTGREEZERER
EREFCRREHELABAUBHARRFIARAG X
2O HEREN RREFESHZERKRERR K
BRIEGREZREHM-

Mg kRELBANUMEESERRRNRKRE
BFRIXgLArREEZNHREEZRLEMSR > 515
mr

. HEZEBRABRFHAZER FREERBEHER
AL SCEEETSN ) RIG T LUER]D) » AR /D E#
P+ —EEARFLORTETEEXANE
EEA 5 K

. HREEBREAADEEREFR AL EL T
BEARFLORHETEREEZHNEEAA

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at meetings if they are unable to attend the
meetings. The process of the company’s general meeting will be monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis, and if necessary, changes will be made to ensure
that shareholders’ needs are best served.

Board members, in particular, either the chairman of board committees or
their delegates, appropriate management executives and external auditors will
attend AGMs to answer shareholders’ questions.

Procedures for members to convene a special general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition sent to the company’s registered office in Bermuda and its principal
place of business in Hong Kong, for the attention of the company secretary,
to require a SGM to be called by the board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If the directors do not within 21 days from
the date of the deposit of such requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the
requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them may convene the SGM in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result
of the failure of the directors to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed to
them by the company.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the general meeting, signed
by the shareholders concerned and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more of those shareholders.

If the requisition is in order, the company secretary will ask the board to
convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered members. On the contrary, if the requisition
is invalid, the shareholders will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, a
SGM will not be convened as requested.

The notice period to be given to all the registered members for consideration of
the proposal raised by the shareholders concerned at SGM varies according to
the nature of the proposal is as follows:

o at least twenty-one clear days’ and not less than ten clear business
days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes a special resolution
of the company, which cannot be amended other than a mere clerical
amendment to correct a patent error; and

o at least fourteen clear days’ and not less than ten clear business days’
notice in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of the
company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continuea)

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as
amended), (i) shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the total
voting rights; or (i) not less than 100 shareholders, are entitled to request
the company to give shareholders notice of a resolution which is intended to
be approved at the next annual general meeting or special general meeting.
If any shareholders wish to propose a resolution to be put forward at a
general meeting of the company, a written notice to that effect signed by the
requisitionists with contact information must be deposited at the company’s
Hong Kong principal place of business, Room 1001, 10/F, Houston Centre,
63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon (addressed to the company
secretary). The notice shall contain, inter alia, a description of the proposed
resolution desired to be put forward at the meeting, the reasons for such a
proposal and any material interest of the proposing shareholder in such a
proposal. The request will be verified with the company’s share registrar in
Bermuda or the Hong Kong branch share registrar and upon their confirmation
that the request is proper and in order, the company secretary will ask the
board to include the resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the shareholders concerned at the AGM or the SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, the details of which are as follows:

o At least 14 days’ notice (the notice period must include 10 business
days) in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of the
company in SGM.

o At least 21 days’ notice (the notice period must include 20 business
days) in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of the
company in AGM or a special resolution of the company in AGM or SGM.

In the event of failure in serving the notice to the company by the requisitionist
within reasonable time, the company reserves the right to claim from the
requisitionist any expenses incurred by the company in serving the notice of
the resolution and circulating the statement given by that requisitionist to all
shareholders in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules
(unless the company otherwise resolves).

The rights and procedures for proposing resolution to be put forward by

shareholders at a general meeting is posted on the company’s website
Www.maxnerva.com.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders are one of our key stakeholders. The board and senior
management recognise their responsibilities to represent the interests and
create long-term sustainable value for the shareholders.

The company communicates to its shareholders through announcements and
annual and interim reports published on its website http://www.maxnerva.com.
Shareholders may put forward their enquiries to the board in writing by sending
the same to the company’s Hong Kong principal place of business, Room
1001, 10/F, Houston Centre, 63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon.
The directors, the company secretary or other appropriate members of senior
management respond to enquiries from shareholders promptly. All shareholders
are also encouraged to attend general meetings of the company to discuss
matters relating to the group. At general meetings of the company, the directors
will answer questions from the shareholders.

Investor relations has always formed an important part of the company’s
corporate governance. It provides two-way communication between
management and the investment community and continually updates investors
on the company’s latest business developments in a timely manner. The
designated team also regularly provides management with market feedback
and opinions from the investment community to improve the governance and
operations of the company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change to the Constitutional Documents during the
reporting year. The latest version of the Constitutional Documents can be
downloaded from the websites of the company or the Stock Exchange.

On 28 March 2022, the company announced proposing to amend the Bye-laws
(“Proposed Amendments”) and to adopt a amended and restated bye-laws of
the company (“New Bye-laws”) in order to update and bring the Bye-laws in
line with the latest legal and regulatory requirements, including the amendments
made to Appendix 3 (the “Core Shareholder Protection Standards”) to the
Listing Rules.

In November 2021, the Stock Exchange introduced a new listing regime for
overseas issuers which, covers, among others things, that all issuers are
required to comply with the Core Shareholder Protection Standards. The
amended Listing Rules are effective as from 1 January 2022. The Proposed
Amendments also include other updates incorporating legal and regulatory
changes in both Hong Kong and Bermuda. Details are set out in the
announcement of the company dated 28 March 2022.

The Proposed Amendments and the adoption of New Bye-laws are subject
to the approval of the shareholders by way of a special resolution at the
forthcoming AGM, and will become effective upon the approval by the
shareholders at the AGM.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The company is committed to sharing the results with shareholders while
striking a balance of continuous development of its business. Given the current
economic and financial conditions, the possible financial resources needed for
business development, the company does not expect to distribute any dividend
in the near term since it intends to invest the capital into its core businesses
as it strives to become one of the leading providers in industrial solution, smart
office and new retail sectors.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3§ 31



RIE-HERELRERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B A8 S

RIRF - HERER (TESG)) HELR T HMANATH
BERRMGEEFEMIEHNENRER -ESGHR
SR AEERRERRRAHERRKEETRE
ERIRRS IR -

ESG#R & &

ESGHREBEHA F—ARSHRMLERTE BE
BEEENAREFENIRE KT BRI - RESGHR
SRR ENIRIGAREMISRE (TKPL) DERAKER
REARSFETRINPTERNERER RAR/BE S
REBNETEZEME -

BREZER

ESGRENDRBELHRUMBZ -+ LN RE -HE
REBREESIRR - REAREFE - HMAEBT L
HIRTE

BRERRA

ESGHRENANADIBBIZMANE RETER MG
BEFEE ETOEHAEESCGHBNZE WEK
EREERRFNENER FERENEAREE
BE  URGHEEZEMRENEL ESGREEE
MEARFNEMBINEEHE-

ESGHREMRBLBILMIRRRHEEKP EFHED
EHTHEAEERNESGRIT - ARZSEKPIZZHR
WIRE NG EZ 2ETEMRKRRENEMN ERBEQ
BI R -RiESTRAFEEZHESGEMMIAT LS » &
ERRNECEITRERTEERA - BNRSER
SERE-BRAENEAEZE AEEERERES
B2 5 KR BAEFIE o

ABOUT THE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report presents our efforts
and achievement made in sustainability and social responsibility. The ESG
Report details the group’s performance in carrying out the environmental and
social policies and fulfilling the principle of sustainable development.

Scope of the ESG Report

The scope of the ESG Report remains unchanged from last reporting period,
which covers the whole group’s environmental and social performance during
the reporting year. The environmental key performance indicators (“KPI”) as
disclosed in the ESG Report are based on the performance of our operating
headquarters in Shenzhen for the reporting year, as the headquarters is the
major site of operation of the group.

Reporting Standard

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. We
have complied with the above provisions during the reporting year.

Reporting Principles

The content of the ESG Report is determined through stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment process, which includes identifying ESG-related
issues, collecting and reviewing the management and stakeholders’ opinions,
assessing the relevance and materiality of the issues and preparing and
validating the information reported. The ESG Report covers all key issues that
are concerned by different stakeholders.

Quantitative environmental and social KPIs are disclosed in the ESG Report
so that stakeholders are able to have a comprehensive understanding of
the group’s ESG performance. Information of the standards, methodologies,
references and source of key emission of these KPIs are stated wherever
appropriate. To enhance comparability of the ESG performance between
years, the group has strived to adopt consistent reporting and calculation
methodologies as far as reasonably practicable. For any changes in
methodologies, the group has presented and explained in details in the
corresponding sections.
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ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)

Information and Feedbacks

For details of the corporate governance of the group, please refer to the
corporate governance report on pages 12 to 31 of this annual report. Your
opinions are highly valued. If you have any advice or suggestions, please feel
free to contact the company through:

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
Room 1001, 10/F, Houston Centre,
63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel No.: (852) 3628 3857
Fax No.: (852) 3188 1523

BOARD STATEMENT

The group believes that good ESG governance strategies and practices are
crucial to the business in long term, especially in enhancing investment values
and returns. The board of directors is directly responsible for the oversight of
the group’s ESG-related issues, including measures, laws and regulations. The
board also bears the responsibility to monitor the execution of ESG-related
actions and provide macro instruction for policy setting, as well as review the
content and quality of the ESG report annually.

The board understands that it is essential to set ESG approach and strategy
according to the importance of ESG issues towards the group and its
stakeholders, therefore the board has assigned a third-party ESG professional
to conduct materiality assessment on ESG issues. To identify the material
issues, stakeholder surveys have been carried out, and industry-specific issues
were considered by using materiality maps together with professional advice.
Directors have also participated in the engagement exercise and provided
constructive opinions in determining the material ESG issues. The board is well
informed about the results and will keep reviewing the engagement channels
and exercise.

To make sure the management of ESG issues is on the right track, the board
oversees the coordination between departments according to their respective
targets, and will look for opportunities to set more explicit ESG goals and
targets for the group.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Understanding and taking actions towards stakeholders’ concerns and
expectations is essential towards our sustainability development. The
engagement of stakeholders helps us recognise our sustainability performance,
therefore we have established appropriate communication channels so that
comments and feedbacks from major stakeholders are effectively and timely
addressed.

The following table summarises the main expectations and concerns of our key
stakeholders and the corresponding management responses.

FinE
Stakeholders

HE

Expectations

ETEEEIE BEERE
Management Responses/
Communication Channels

BT e 55 B 1

Government and Regulators

BRE

Shareholders

BIERH

Partners

. BTERBR ERRER
. SR T R R
. R B BN TR

o Compliance with national policies,
laws and regulation

o Support for local economic growth

o Tax payment in full and on time

. EIE:5

. BREE

. RARBEE
. BHERBMER

o Returns

o Compliance operations

o Rise in company value

o Transparency and effective

communication

. HiERHE

. NEFHE

e BITE#H

e HEHF

o Operation with integrity

o Equal rivalry

o Performance of contracts
o Mutual benefits
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° Regular Information reporting

° Regular meetings with regulators
o Examination and inspection

. REAE

. NS

o BT BEEXK A DML

° General meetings

° Announcements

o Email, telephone conversation and

company website

. EBR

o YRR B RR

.  BHEREE

° Business communication

° Discussion and exchange of opinions
° Engagement and cooperation
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued)

A

Expectations

EEEEIE BEERE
Management Responses/
Communication Channels

'R

Customers

B
Environment

=]

Employees

HERAR
Community and the public

. BEEmARD
. BITEH

. Y
o Outstanding products and services
o Performance of contracts

o Operation with integrity

. B AE R

. IRiG 1R

o Energy saving and emission
reduction

o Environmental protection

. TR fR3E

. MR

. i K @ #l

. HEERE

. AN R

o Protection of rights
o Occupational health
o Remunerations and benefits
o Career development
o Humanity cares

. ERE

o Transparency

. FERRFB PO KRB
. ERMEERE

. HERRTEE

. HRERTE

o =R R

° Customer service center and hotlines
o Customer satisfaction surveys

° Meetings with customers

o Social media platforms

o Client reviews

. ESG#R &

o ESG reporting

. HETHTES
o P9 B HA 1) e P9 B 4
. BTI;AE

. AR b 5 &

o BIES

o Meetings with employees
o House journal and intranet
o Employee mailbox

° Training and workshop

o Employee activities

. NSk

. NE

. IREB IR

. HRERTE

o Company website

° Announcements

° Interview with media

o Social media platforms
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Employment and Labour Practices

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued)

In view of the relevance and validity of this ESG report with the group’s
environmental and social performance, the group has conducted a materiality
assessment to identify ESG issues that are material to the business of the
group and its stakeholders. The assessment is based on stakeholder surveys,
materiality maps provided by well-known external institutions', as well as
professional opinions from the third-party ESG professional. The material ESG
issues as identified are shown as follows:

. 13 R 3

o Training and Development

EEEA
Operating Practices

J = W
o Employee Diversity

. ERLRBRBBRE
. mEEHE

J R&E5

° Customer Privacy and Data Security
° Quality Management

° Anti-corruption

B 52

1. BENFGFRANEEEESEMSCIRAFEES
FHIZAEZ S E(SASB)E HRENESGTTEEEHE K
SASBE Z 1% (& ©

FAZ8T
8T

ANEBRDAEENI M HERABEETEEMUNA
TRABEBE-ABBEAT BMAEETIREAER
FHOEHFMN BRANBEERSEERARE THM A
RE -BRERSH TERE RBRE FEHS 2
b -REEUREMFERENERET(FEAR
HEMESEE)  (PEARENESEBHERE) ~ (&
Mg ENA (20195) ) ~ (EEI QA F & EELE L (1938
F) )V R(EBRERA) S L ERFREMNEREEZE
Ho-RMEBNIRREIMNG AERREAZERE-

. BEAH
.« mMERRE

° Operational Compliance
o Intellectual Property Protection
Note
1. The materiality maps referenced in the materiality assessment include the ESG

Industry Materiality Map and the SASB Materiality Map produced respectively by
MSCI and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB).

CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

Employment

Human resources act as the pillar of the group, thus employing the suitable
talents for different positions is of ultimate importance. To recruit talent,
we offer competitive remuneration to all of our employees. Throughout the
reporting year, we have strictly complied with relevant laws and regulations
in its places of business such as Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China
(FREARHXLFESEL), Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China (FEARIEMEALESFE), the Labor Code 2019 of Vietnam,
the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 in the United States of America and
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong in relation to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination other benefits and welfare of
employees. We have made our best effort to ensure that the legitimate rights
and interests of our employees are protected in accordance with laws.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continueq)

Employment (continued)

Anti-discrimination is highly valued during the employment process, we select
the right candidates only based on their qualifications, experience and ability
without taking into consideration of their gender, race, age, nationality, marital
status, pregnancy, disability and religion etc. We strictly prohibit the use of child
labour and forced labour in accordance with the Provisions on the Prohibition of
Using Child Labour (22 1L FE TR IE) . As a means to avoid employing child
labour, all newly employed staff is required to provide identification documents
for age verification purpose. Once such practice is discovered, the group would
investigate the case thoroughly and dismiss relevant employees immediately.
An employment contract which clearly defines the job title and duties of the
respective employee are required to be signed to prevent the employee from
performing work out of their prescribed responsibilities. For employees who
wish to resign, we follow relevant procedures to conduct exit interviews in
an effort to collect opinions from them for any possible improvement of our
policies and operations.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employment (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, we employed a total of 543 employees and the total
workforce by gender, age group, employment type, and geographical region are
as follows:

By Age Group
HERERNE 2
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2021
&
2020
ZEITHE
B <3 30-50 >50
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continueq)

Employment (continued)

The employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region are
as follows:

BE_ZT-—F BHE_Z_ZTHF
+=ZB=+—H +ZB=+—H
ILEFE IEFE
For the For the
year ended year ended
BT REE(%) Employee Turnover Rate (%) 31st Dec 2021 31st Dec 2020
¥ B & 53 By gender
B4 Male 24 18
e Female 16 12
BER AR B S By age group
<30 <30 35 22
30-50 30-50 18 14
>50 >50 9 20
¥ ih & & 53 By geographical region
A PRC 20 16
a4 Taiwan 23 34
W Vietnam 48 0
E£H us 28 TEA N/A
5% Hong Kong 0 0
El R %R Training and Development

BIUAAXHAMSNAERFAERESUETINHE
HEZ - AEERETINRELEREASAMEZTAD
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REREEE 2EBBHZERFIFEAKANETHE
BT EAERBINRIERBZD I - AP AERMH
EHEMRTRENEEIRERRDENNTBRIEG
- ERSEESEFRERSN  HRMANERA
BRMHFH - RATAMTHBEEASNERE
Al I EHEERTT RMEARMPINHEEEG-
SN JATOERARREEBANERERE M
BREF RKBEFREARKNEI UWRESEIH
FEREMBERGENT B MRS TIFERER - #HY
WEIL HARH-—FRINOABEI AEBERAE
HE - RREFERFEEFINBEEIERE  LUE
REATAERNBBEF-FHELIIN FEEHE
HHAPSREEASREAMANELAEERER
BENESTENEIRE - AEBSERATRKFRE
FIRFREETIRHEEER-

Building suitable career paths with a bright future is crucial to every employee.
The group sees employees’ career development as a component of our
business success. Hence, we deliver education and training to our employees
in an effort to build up their working skills and knowledge.

During the reporting year, the group has organized hundreds of training courses
and workshops for employees of different levels from various departments.
We have offered introduction and training on our products and different types
of smart manufacturing solutions to our technical staff so that they are well
equipped with sufficient knowledge on our products before providing services
for our customers. Pre-sale training, which was specific to our salespersons,
was also organized to improve their sales technique and hence our sales
performance. Besides, training related to human resources management,
financial procedures, procurement procedures and I.T. were also provided to
relevant staff so that work efficiency was increased with employees’ advanced
skills and familiarity with the systems. Targeting new employees, we have
offered a series of induction training with regard to the group’s policies, system
operation and daily work flow of different departments in order to familiarise
themselves with the group’s daily operation. Other than new employees, the
group has provided its middle and senior management personnel with training
sessions on topics including human capital management and leadership
skills. The group aims to provide all-round development to all employees from
different levels and departments.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continueq)

Training and Development (continued)

In addition, to keep abreast of the ever-changing business environment, an
educational subsidy policy has been put in place to encourage employees to
pursue up-to-date job-related knowledge, such as SAP certification, externally.
We also sponsor our employees who take examinations pertained to their
designated roles and responsibility.

During the reporting year, we provided training to 498 employees which
accounted for 92% of the group’s employees. The time inputted for each
employee, on average, was 26.2 hours.

HE-S-—%  #BE"T-TF
+=ZB=+-B  +-A=+-8

WHEE ILFE

For the For the

Percentage of year ended year ended

FZNEITES (%) employees trained (%) 31st Dec 2021 31st Dec 2020

HERE 52 By gender

B Male 91 91

g Female 93 100
BES&RE D By employee level

SR High 95 920

4k Middle 95 96

(e Low 85 90
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continueq)

Training and Development (continued)

BE_ZS-_—&% BHEZZTEF

+=A=+—=H +_H:+—E
ILEFE ILEE

For the For the

year ended year ended

31st Dec 2021 31st Dec 2020

R85 By gender
B4 Male 25.7 13.1
egi Female 27.2 14.3
BESRANE D By employee level
= 4R High 18.8 7.0
4R Middle 27.4 14.7
R4 Low 29.5 12.7

AR EEERREE TRAEINEE MR

BHETRHBI ARG - RARMGEVTHEEERR

NERTEEIEY FRAREFEARAHFNER-

KEEBETIZBRTMER TEERIBER - TEE

ERRRESE RAUBBEAXSEVTHAXEZ

EIZ B -EBEUERPREEENENETRE
BETHTEEEE-

BERZZR

RP—BEEREERREARZE - NARSTFE > KM
BEETAEREEREMBERER W (PEA
RAMBEBERDAZ) HEN(BEZE2RERE
E) S EEN(EEZERERE (1970F) ) R EABHN
(HEZ2REREEM)-

As a well-rounded development pathway, we also offer promotion opportunities
to employees adding to the provision of training. We adopt the performance
evaluation and management policy in an attempt to assess the employees’
performance regularly to provide a foundation for their promotion and
salary adjustment. By taking into consideration of the employees’ target
accomplishment, job completion, work quality and performance etc., we
evaluate our employees’ performance with performance appraisal which
includes face-to-face interview. Employees who have achieved outstanding
results in performance appraisal will be given priority in the process of
promotion.

Health and Safety

We always put priority on employees’ health and safety. During the reporting
year, we strictly conformed to the relevant laws in the group’s places of
business such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases (% AR ELFBEB K A%), the
Law on Occupational Safety and Health of Vietham, the Occupational Safety
and Health Act of 1970 of the United States of America and the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (B2 % 2 & & B 1% 51l) of Hong Kong.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continueq)

Health and Safety (continued)

Our management is responsible for implementing safety measures so as to
assure our employees with a safe and healthy workplace. Our management
also ensures that necessary information, instruction and supervision are
provided so that all employees are safe from injury and health risks. We
organise safety orientation for new employees to keep them informed and
trained with safety regulations and emergency procedures. The emergency
procedures such as fire or explosion emergency plan have been well
established, and we regularly arrange rescue, fire and evacuation drills in order
to prevent casualties in case of accidents. In the past three years, there were
no work-related injuries and fatalities, thanks to the effort put by the group in
creating an injury-free business environment.

BE_Z-—F& H#HEC 2_7¢ BE_Z—NF

+ZB=+—H +TZA=+— +ZA=+—H

EE tEE EFEE

For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended

BIR Indicators 31st Dec 2021  31st Dec 2020  31st Dec 2019
ETEBMZIET AR Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0
BTEERZETE%) Rate of work-related fatalities (%) 0 0 0
RAIEMmigkzI(ER Lost days due to work injury 0 0 0

M 2IKCOVID- 198 ERE  2EEEBHE—R7
ﬁﬁ)ﬂ%ﬁ?ﬁ&?’“ﬂﬁl%ﬁ RNEEEMHCOVID-19B51EF
MURRERERERH UAESREEREABEYE
%ﬁ’tﬁﬂ!&%@e%im%iﬁ’\]lfﬁﬁ%t e e B AT IU
REBEEFHNARTREBERIIF BRAFRE-
FREEBTIAMEBOS  UERREANSH ZAR 25
BeAEBTBRFABEETIREHMENGTRERS I
EHEREENRERRI I ERECHBEES
ReakZHEMBTNEBEHELIF TRESRER
OB BETA A e

As the COVID-19 pandemic persists worldwide, the group has implemented
a series of preventive measures and control policy. A handbook of the control
and prevention of COVID-19 was released to raise employees’ awareness
and provide employees with basic personal hygiene protection measures.
Special working arrangements were in place so that employees were allowed
to work from home depending on the latest pandemic situation to avoid mass
gatherings. All staff are required to wear masks, as well as measure body
temperature before entering the premise. Whereabout information of all staff
during the Spring Festival was recorded, and employees’ health condition was
reported regularly. Besides, the management has strived its best to cooperate
and support local government’s pandemic prevention and control work, and
prepared adequate pandemic prevention supplies for employees.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continueq)

Employee Welfare

In order to stimulate the working initiative of the employees, we provide a wide
range of welfare including those required by laws and offered by the group. To
assure our employees of sufficient rest time, we follow relevant regulations to
define working duration for employees and we allow employees to have flexible
working hours. Our employees are also entitled to a number of leaves such as
public holidays, annual leave, maternity leave, marriage leave and funeral leave.
We also contribute to all applicable statutory insurance and mandatory funds
for employees in different locations. Besides, we offer allowances to employees
at different positions, for instance, salespersons who frequently communicate
with clients are granted communication allowances. Every year, each employee
is also provided with a free body checkup.

In addition, we place emphasis on the work-life balance of our employees by
hosting various team-building activities, festival parties and birthday parties
which allow our employees to relax and interact. We also prepare lucky
draws and gifts during birthday parties and special festivals as a reward for
our employees. Furthermore, we regularly organized outdoor team building
activities to help employees construct bond between each other.

OPERATING OUR BUSINESS

Supply Chain Management

To thoroughly fulfill the environmental and social responsibility, management
of our business operation including the supply chain cannot be neglected. As
a way to ensure that qualified products and services are provided, we target
and cooperate with suppliers with high credibility such as long-established
suppliers and those from eminent enterprises. We have set up comprehensive
procurement policies and systems which act as a guide to opt for and manage
our suppliers. During the selection process, suppliers are evaluated mainly
based on their product quality, delivery, production capacity, compliance and
past performance from environmental, health and safety aspects. Suppliers
who fail to meet the requirements will ultimately be disqualified.

Environmental and social risks along the supply chain are always considered
by the group. We give priority to suppliers that comply with national, regional
and industrial environmental standards, follow internationally recognized
standards and own certifications concerning energy management systems,
environmental management systems and social risk management. We also
value the employment and incorruptibility of suppliers. Therefore, we ensure
that suppliers are committed to uphold the human rights of employees by
implementing internal regulations in accordance with internationally accepted
norms. Whether they have adopted sufficient occupational health and safety
policies and obtained relevant certifications is also an important consideration.
The cooperation with suppliers who are found to be incompliant with relevant
laws and regulations regarding anti-bribery, anti-corruption and any other
unethical business practices will be terminated at once.
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Supply Chain Management (continued)

Furthermore, we endeavor to select environmentally friendly products and
service during procurement. For example, we prefer eco-friendly products
which are energy-efficient or made of recyclable materials such as refillable
pens and recycled paper. We also encourage the staff to pay attention to
the expiry date of products and use products purchased earlier to avoid
unnecessary wastage. Besides, we tend to select local suppliers or suppliers
geographically closer to the company to reduce carbon footprint.

Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region
Rt ER SR EREE

19%2°0%
2) 1)

(
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Product and Service Quality

We provide industrial, smart office and new retail solutions, in which our
employees are involved in the sales and installation of the hardware and
software. The group has established a quality management system, which has
obtained ISO 9001:2015 certification, to ensure that we can attain a high level
of product and service quality.

When selecting and purchasing products, the group strictly follows the Product
Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China (1% A REMBEERE &%) .
We always set up contract terms regarding product quality with suppliers to
ensure that the corresponding products have passed necessary testing and
attained certain industrial standards. The products we provide are guaranteed
to have met all applicable health and safety requirements under China
Compulsory Certification (4 Bl 58 | 4% & G258 3%) , as stipulated according to the
Provision on the Administration of Compulsory Product (3& M4 = SR8 B I 1R
7E) .
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continueq)

Product and Service Quality (continued)

As a professional service provider, we never spare ourselves in the pursuit
of excellence in service quality and the complete provision of services in
accordance with customers’ needs and expectations. After-sales services
such as maintenance, training on product application and product return are
always provided, adding to the major I.T. services we provide. We constantly
keep track of the experience and opinions of our customers by implementing
a thorough feedback-tracking system. In case of complaints on goods and
service quality, staff from different teams who have their own designated roles
and responsibilities will work together in carrying out prompt follow-up actions
so that impacts or inconvenience can be minimised.

During the reporting year, the group did not received any major complaints
about its products and services and did not record any products sold or
shipped that were subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

Privacy Protection

We play a pivotal role in privacy protection by handling information and data of
customers and employees with the highest degree of carefulness. We strictly
complied with relevant personal privacy regulations adopted in places of
business such as the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (8 A B #l (FAFZ) 1£651)
of Hong Kong during the reporting year.

We provide our privacy policy along with our services to let customers
understand how we collect, utilise, save and share their information, as well
as how the information is controlled, updated and protected. Specifically, we
have established a comprehensive database encryption system with regular
checking, both manually and automatically, to protect customer data. To
access customers’ personal data, employees are required to get approval from
several parties including the legal department and their department heads. Our
employees are also liable to not divulging confidential information of the group
to any third parties.

Furthermore, we show exceptional care to our employees’ personal
information, so we spare no effort on the prevention of data leakage.
Information of all employees, including the resigned ones and the candidates, is
used for recruitment purpose only and is absolutely confidential. Such data will
not be kept for a period longer than that required by relevant regulations.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3§ 45



RIB-HERELARS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REEE @
W E

RARSEFE BRHLEAER -ZFR - HERREM
HMEFBHZNAERZINRIE AARKET
(PEARHEMBEEFNEZ) R(PEARHEMBEBER
%) ERBERBOEM

RONBEEAS BRATRAER > FH 2ERM R
HEH-RAREFE AEECHINERFISIEEEH
BRENEF AINEREREREFNE2EEEE
HEAF - HBAUNRFRERELPEN KRR RE &
12 61 E I B 5 A1 53 FE R B SR o b oh > AR A
HESREEEIZONEMARKER 2 FEER
B 3 P 2 B ek v 2 AR SR S DR A SR MR R B
RIFEIaEARE-

RARESFEE ESMS BRET(PEARHKM
B ESE) FEBER RATROB LAHERT
RMARLE TREAERRILMABMBMERE-

k&S

BESTANEABHSESREEE RERERNE
BREE - MPPR T A ERNBEBREAERTLRNTHN
TR-AIL WABRAORFSIPBITEEIRES
ERFHEF 05 b BRI ROE R E 5174 e mir D BR RS
BEEEFNRH-

BATERBET AeB HNEREBBEHNEM
AEESTARBEZEXTNERER -RMEBEE
BREMABEBRRBERNE IEENNRE ERE
RoUBRBEE - HERAFTRBNEZE BIILE
FBEE R PEFRARBRTE -HMEEZEE
EEEEKRETIMETENEMBPIKIEERMA
AREasEF -RARZEREIRESEN LH
RBEETE BECEED  MERFIEHERK
BE-EHERRBSBRNTARKAESEEER
o WA AESI AR D ©

OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continueq)

Intellectual Property Rights

To prevent infringement of intellectual property rights of the group, our
customers, suppliers and any other business partners, we strictly conformed
to the relevant laws and regulations such as the Patent law of the People’s
Republic of China (F#E AR HEFEIZEFX)and the Trademark Law of the
People’s Republic of China (FR#E A B H 1B i 12%) during the reporting year.

Our specialised talents are proficient in research and invention, particularly in
the aspect of software development. During the reporting year, the group has
successfully obtained patents for 45 self-developed systems, such as remote
control app and total quality management system. To effectively apply for
and protect the invention patent and software copyright, we have established
and implemented a policy on intellectual property right protection. Besides,
protective clauses which have been reviewed and approved by our professional
lawyers are included in the contracts signed with customers, suppliers
and employees in order to give legitimacy to our intellectual property right
protection.

In case of advertisement, we are also devoted to preventing the infringement
of intellectual property rights, either by others or by the group, through the
conformity with relevant laws such as the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China (A #E A B H M EE &%) during the reporting year.

Anti-corruption

Corruptive behavior may be a source of risk that weakens a business’s
stability and hampers its development. We on no account allow any actions
and behavior to blemish the image of the group. Thus, we are committed to
ensuring that every department meets its legal obligations, at the same time
joins hands to prevent, detect and eliminate corrupt practices, hence reducing
the number of bribery and corruption incidents.

We do not tolerate any attempt to commit corrupt practices by employees,
contractors, agents and business partners and take any such attempts
seriously. We communicate internal rules, laws and regulations to employees
through meetings and other usual communication channels in an effort to
emphasise the importance of integrity, honesty and fairness and to prevent
potential bribery, extortion, fraud as well as money laundering. All management
and staff are highly encouraged to report cases of suspected corruption,
either to their supervisors or other managers. Suspected corruption cases will
be properly investigated and associated actions, such as disciplinary action,
reporting to relevant authorities and prosecution, will be taken. Any breach of
the anti-corruption policy is deemed to have committed a major misconduct
and is meted out to a disciplinary action.
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continueq)

Anti-corruption (continued)

We believe that it is essential to regularly provide training to the employees on
topics regarding corruptive behavior so as to maintain employees’ awareness
towards corruptive behavior. The group has provided its Board of Directors and
its employees with reading material regarding the prevention and avoidance
of corruptive behavior as training. The group will continue to look for different
opportunities to further strengthen employees’ resilience against corruptive
behavior.

During the reporting year, we are not aware of any breach of laws and
regulations in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
such as the Regulations of the People’s Republic of China for Suppression
of Corruption (P AR HEMEEAE S A and the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (F5 LEBBR& 15 4)) of Hong Kong, that had a significant impact on the
group.

PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT

Pollution Management

As environmental issues are drawing increasing attention among the business
community, we are dedicated to mitigating negative environmental impacts,
such as climate change, by controlling and minimising our emission. We bear
the environmentally friendly concept in mind in our daily operation and business
development.

Owing to the service-based business, we generate no water pollutants
commonly discharged from manufacturing processes. Likewise, we do not emit
air pollutants except for the private car used for maintaining our daily operation.
As a way to reduce emission, we require all the users of the vehicle to switch
off the idling engine to avoid unnecessary emission.

BE_ZT-_—% BEZZ-ZF
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For the For the

year ended year ended

31st Dec 2021 31st Dec 2020

KALYINOY (F7=)
REEY)(SON (F72)
FERL ) (PM) (F52)
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Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (kg) 2.35 1.84
Sulphur oxides (SOx) (kg) 0.07 0.06
Particulate matter (PM) (kg) 0.17 0.14
Note:
1. The calculation of pollutant emissions is based on Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance

on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continved)

Pollution Management (continued)

Another principal source of emissions is the waste generated from daily
business operations in our office. During the reporting year, we were in
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the group such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste (13 A R H A1 E E L EY)
JSRIRIE G4 %) . Both hazardous and non-hazardous wastes were generated
during the reporting year, of which the former included waste batteries and
the latter consisted of mainly daily office garbage produced by employees.
The group deems that waste disposal is not of significance or risk to the
group’s business, and that the amount of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
is insignificant due to its business nature, the group has not set targets for
waste disposal. Nonetheless, we still strive to avoid detrimental impacts on the
environment, non-hazardous wastes generated by the office were collected by
the cleaning company employed by the commercial building where the office
is located at, while the hazardous wastes were collected separately at specific
points in the building before collecting by the designated party.

BE—ZE-—& HE—Z-%
+=A=+-8 +-R=t+-B
IEEFE IFEE
For the For the
Waste Disposal year ended year ended

BEVMEEIER Indicators 31st Dec 2021 31st Dec 2020
BEEEDESE (R) Total hazardous waste (g) 2,460 920
BLEEEENEEEEE (%) Hazardous waste discarded
per employee (g) 22.78 8.29

BEEEYESE (TR)! Total non-hazardous waste (kg)' 12,960 11,880
BLEEEENEEZEE=S Non-hazardous waste discarded

(F7=) per employee (kg) 120.0 107.0
Mzt . Note:
1, HEEEEYBEENIERBEENFY HmimTEEM 1. Emissions data relating to non-hazardous waste is based on the daily estimated

FEREREHNEAMAZTSHURERBERESR
ARG E -

RMEET 4R RARENZ BB LEEFERM
EENEEYE - flm - HABEBLE TR MEERN
R UREFHDEECERLBR XA K&
RAEHAX M RoEWMmE  HMREBE DS
NEETRAMNERBROBEREN MK BESE
R EBF AR B - R RB AR W AIERE
mo PN FHER E R EBEM  UBEBRRAERH—
RUER-RNEBREFEE RIMERELREEEFE
I E AL o

volume of office garbage and the volume to weight conversion factors provided by
Shenzhen Urban Management and Comprehensive Law Enforcement Bureau.

We have carried out a number of measures by following the principle of “4R”
to minimise the amount of waste we generated. For example, we reduced the
use of paper by implementing double-side printing, and we spared no effort
to reuse office supplies such as stationary, papers, envelopes and files. For
recycling, we have set up sorting bins so that staff can sort and recycle plastics
and paper after using, and old computers would be recycled by electronics
companies. We also purchased recyclable and refillable products such as
refillable pens and rechargeable batteries to replace those disposable ones in
our office. During the reporting year, our Shenzhen office did not produce any
packaging materials.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Greenhouse Gas Emission

BERMUANEERDERNER ) BATHIFEM  Despite the fact that we are not involved in energy-intensive businesses,
BUEFENRYS BEMABIEILABIEE Hf)  normal office operation which is indispensable to maintain our remarkable and
E/%E'-ﬁﬁ (FRERE)) BERAACRE - HIL > 9% professional services is still a source of greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission.

BTHREMER TEAEEEPRF -NARSEE  Hence, we exert ourselves to abide by the relevant laws and make our daily
J?F ?ﬂ%fﬁi_*ﬁﬂ&%ﬁiﬁgﬁéﬁﬂ'ﬁﬁ RE 12 %#R > operation more environmentally-friendly. During the reporting year, we were in

Pl EE AR A BEIRIG REE)

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the group, such as the Environment Protection Law of the People’s Republic of

China (FZE A R HMERIZREE) .

RERAEEREEATREHMIN  HFIEMEBIE  In addition to the use of vehicles, which is a type of direct emission of GHG,
FRERBIEMNEBIRAE/IHFE - KKS5KE  indirect emission from processes such as electricity consumption, water
B HIHEERAREERETHESBRETELENRE  and sewage treatment, disposal of paper to landfills and business trips

HER o of employees are the main sources of greenhouse gas emission from our
operation.
BE-ZT-—% HEZZ-ZHF
+=-HA=+—H +_H:+—E
IFE IEFE
For the For the
GHG Emissions year ended year ended
BERBHERIEE Indicators? 31st Dec 2021 31st Dec 2020
BEREIREAE (CEEIREEM) Total GHG emissions (tonnes CO:°) 82 83
SHEEEREREHREE (CRICRE SN Total GHG emissions per employee
(tonnes CO2?) 0.76 0.75
BHIBEREHN GE) 2 (CR/EREEM Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)?
(tonnes CO2?) 11 9
EiEAEREHR E@E2) 3 (ZabiE = M) Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)
(tonnes CO2?) 46 51
B BE RN (BEI) *+ (CaE ik E =M Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3)*
(tonnes CO2?) 25 23
BfEE : Notes:
1. AEENEEREEBTQE _abi Rz ra b 1. The group’s GHG inventory includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide.

Ao REREERER REREIRBEUZSHK
2 8(C0O)57 I8 = FBE BE R 7 B 32 PR 1) 25 B9 [ %
CHRIBRANIERREESINREREAE

BEESRERIEEENE RN - Bt ERIER
BEFRAFRPRERERNLEZESGRM-

BEIINEBNFEENBZERIER - BIRst BHH
MO AFHTEERERMNAEZE R M-

OEEAEEEIIEENHEMB R - FAIRENE
FELEHEEEREE JOHEERBEBMERT
R 5t B RE MR B BE IR Al F BJ 72 Bk 32 PR T B2 B9 By i — 3R
ERREMIERREIES TER MAR S BEACHFE
BRBEREFRFIITHKE (EM) BRARRE M 2
AHMZEIRTT A R HF I BUE 2 (B IR R AR AR B
MEtEE) -

For the ease of reading and understanding, the GHG emissions data is presented in
carbon dioxide equivalent (CO:°).The calculation of GHG emissions is based on the
reporting requirements of Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange.

2. Includes direct emissions from the fuel combustion in vehicles. The emission factor
used for calculating carbon emission is provided by the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC.

3. Includes energy indirect emissions resulting from the generation of purchased
electricity. The emission factor used for calculating carbon emission is provided by the
National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC.

4. Includes other indirect emissions that occur outside the group. The disclosed figures
are resulted from paper waste disposal at landfills, water consumption and business
air travel. The emission factor used for calculating paper waste can be found in
Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock
Exchange, while that for water consumption is provided by Shenzhen Water (Group)
Co., LTD. Emissions data relating to business air travel is based on the International
Civil Aviation Organization Carbon Emissions Calculator.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continved)

Greenhouse Gas Emission (continued)

During the reporting year, the group has not set any goals regarding
greenhouse gas emissions, since we believe that GHG emissions do not pose
a risk to the group’s business operations and performance, and that the
emissions amount is viewed to be insignificant. However, we are aware of the
importance to effectively manage our emissions, therefore, we have adopted a
number of measures from paper recycling to energy conservation in an attempt
to reduce our GHG emissions. For example, we pragmatically cut down on
the use of paper by using office automation system to replace paper-based
administration system and using recycled paper and double-sided printing.
Reminders are posted at printing corners to remind employees to reuse and
maximise the use of papers whenever possible. Employees who are engaged
actively in overseas meetings are encouraged to substitute phone or video
conferences for business trips, although business travels have become less
frequent in the reporting year due to COVID-19. Generally, we endeavor to
build a green and healthy environment together with all our employees, thus we
encourage the use of public transport instead of private cars in their commute
to work. For details of energy conservation, please refer to “Energy and Water
Conservation”.

Energy and Water Conservation

To make contributions to environmental protection, the group endeavors to
conserve energy and water usage so as to reduce emission. We are always
aware of the possible impacts resulted from the overuse of energy and water,
thus we strictly manage energy and water consumption in our operation,
particularly in the office. We have set targets regarding energy and water
conservation, aiming to reduce energy and water consumption on a per
employee basis.

REIR R K HFE IR IR

BE-T-—&  RWE_T-TH

+=-A=+-H +-A=+-8

IEEFE IFEE

For the For the

Energy and water year ended year ended

consumption Indicators

31st Dec 2021

31st Dec 2020

FERHFERE CLERE)
EREEEREFE OkRE)
3 12 A5 M #82 K RLE)
BRESERHEEEE OKRF)

KEFHFERE L73K)
SREEKEBERHERE GI75K)

Total energy consumption (MWh) 131 135
Direct energy consumption’ (MWh) 43 38
Indirect energy consumption? (MWh) 88 96
Total energy consumption

per employee (MWh) 1.21 1.21
Total water consumption (m?3) 79 123
Total water consumption per

employee (m?) 0.73 1.1
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Energy and Water Conservation (continued)

Notes:

1. Includes the use of fuel of vehicles. The conversion factor used for calculating energy
consumption is provided by the National Development and Reform Commission of the
PRC.

2. Includes the amount of purchased electricity.

In daily operation, we always bear in mind the avoidance of energy waste in
order to achieve our targets. We set all computers to sleeping mode when
idling and require our staff to switch off appliances such as lights, computers
and printers completely when not in use and before leaving the office every day.
We also clean all light fixtures and air-conditioners in order to ensure that they
are running at the highest efficiency to avoid wasting energy. Besides, through
office design, we try to maximise the use of natural light and divide the office in
separate lighting zones so as to allow a more flexible use of light. Non-frontline
employees are also allowed to wear light so that energy for air conditioning can
be saved.

In terms of water saving, we have also put in lots of efforts and have
implemented plenty of water-saving measures including putting up water-saving
reminder labels in toilets to raise our employees’ awareness of water-saving
and arranging for repair and maintenance for dripping faucets immediately. In
addition, grey water is reused for cleaning and irrigation wherever possible.
During the reporting year, we had no issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose.

Response to Climate Change

Climate change is currently one of the most urgent global issues, prompting
corporates from different sectors to respond accordingly. We are no exception,
being highly aware of the potential risks and impacts brought to the group’s
business operations by climate change. For instance, the group is aware that
increasingly frequent and severe extreme weather events may put the group at
risk of numerous negative impacts, especially potentially increasing operational
costs since facilities and equipment may be damaged and require repair.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continved)

Response to Climate Change (continued)

In face of such climate-related risk, we regularly conduct climate-related
risk assessments to identify, monitor and manage potential climate-related
risks, so as to analyze the vulnerability of our business operations against
different aspects of climate change. Furthermore, we have put in place various
measures to prevent and mitigate the potential impacts that may arise.
Particularly, in order to mitigate the impacts from increasingly extreme and
frequent weather events, we have implemented an emergency management
plan, which details the specific measures against extreme weather conditions,
such as special work arrangements under thunderstorms.

Looking forward, we shall continue to monitor and assess the ever-changing
risks that climate change may bring to the group and shall swiftly take
preventive and mitigative steps once climate-related risks of any form arise.

CONTRIBUTING TO COMMUNITY

We encourage employees to care for and spend time on the local communities
through participating in all kinds of social activities such as attending local
community activities and charitable donations. Employees are also encouraged
to participate in environmental protection activities and promote environmental
awareness within the group. We have identified via our ESG materiality
assessment that community contribution is an immaterial issue to the group
and its business, therefore we have not contributed any resources to the
community during the reporting year. However, we will continue to look for
other opportunities to devote back to the community in the future.
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b

B fRRE

HEEREEA
Page no./

Explanation/

ESGI51R B =111 Reasons for
ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions
IRiE
Environmental
ATHERY —RiRE SREE 47
A1 Emissions General disclosure Pollution Management
A1l.1 BERU TE 48 R A8 R HE B © EHREIR 47
Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Pollution Management
Al1.2 BERBHREER WER) BE- RERBHK 49
A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where appropriate, Greenhouse Gas Emissions
intensity.
A1.3 FFEEEEEEYRER WER) BE - SRERE 48
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate,  Pollution Management
intensity.
Al.4 FFEEREEEYERER WER) BE - SREE 48
Al1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where Pollution Management
appropriate, intensity.
A1.5 HEt 2R D BE S P RN R Tl R E B 45 R AERBHK 50
A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results  Greenhouse Gas Emissions
achieved.
A1.6 HIEEESERBEEEEYN G L REREREING SHREE 48
Ho
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes  Pollution Management
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.
A2EREMR — AR BR B AR 7K 50
A2 Use of General disclosure Energy and Water Conservation
Resources
A2.1 RENASMNERR,SEEERHEREREE- £ A B K 50
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total Energy and Water Conservation
and intensity.
A2.2 MFEKEREE- B AE B 7K 50
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Energy and Water Conservation
A2.3 AR AN B R RIETNER B AE B 7K 51
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results ~ Energy and Water Conservation
achieved.
A2.4 #HISKEUE A AOR L] B ERIRIE Ak m B ERER #EEEiK 51
SR -
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water Energy and Water Conservation
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and
results achieved.
A2.5 S mPTABEMENEER WNER) BEEBMGEE . HEEHKX 48
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and, if Energy and Water Conservation

applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
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REPORTING GUIDE (continueq)

B BE
HEEREA

Page no./
Explanation/

ESGI&1E B =321 Reasons for

ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions

ABRERRXAER —RiEE REIRIR EEEMTME
FREE TE #% 3
BKRe

A3 Environmental General disclosure Protecting our Environment Not material

and Natural
Resources

A3.1

A3.1

EEAdRZEEL

Aspect A4 Climate
Change

A4

A4.1

e

Social

B11E &

B1 Employment
B1.1

B1.1

B1.2
B1.2

B2 Z 2
B2 Health and
Safety

B2.1

B2.1

B2.2

B2.2

B2.3

B2.3

HMEZLHHIRBERRAERNEAZELREOHKNEE RERR

BRARZENTE-

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the

Protecting our Environment

environment and natural resources and the actions taken

to manage them.

— R
General Disclosure

REIRIR

Protecting our Environment

HEERAEGHETAEEZENEAREERE  RERR

B REHTE-

Description of the significant climate-related issues which  Protecting our Environment
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.

— R BR BT
General disclosure Employment
B BEEE - FRAN M EE DN EEMEH BT
Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group Employment
and geographical region.
MR FRER R e B DREEMALLE. BT
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employment
geographical region.
— i BERZE
General disclosure Health and Safety
AITHHAZ KRR BRERZE
Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
HAIGERTIFEE- BERZR

Lost days due to work injury.

Health and Safety

HIMFT RV R REZ 28 URERATRER BERZSE

T3k e

Description of occupational health and safety measures

Health and Safety

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
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B RE
HEEREEA

Page no./
Explanation/

ESGI51R B =111 Reasons for
ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions
B3 BRI — iR e Bl % R 39
B3 Development General disclosure Training and Development
and Training
B3.1 BRI REEENBDNZIIREBT DL - Bl % R 40
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Training and Development
employee category.
B3.2 BRI RESHERNE D SBREETHRIN T BHIIKEE 41
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by Training and Development
gender and employee category.
B4 T 8 —fRmE BT 36
B4 Labour General disclosure Employment
Standards
B4.1 iR 5T IR FE B A HE I LUBE o 88 T e 3825 T o 8T 37
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to Employment
avoid child and forced labour.
B4.2 M B IRB R IR H PR B BB S PTERENRY &7 5 o BT 37
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices Employment
when discovered.
B5{ fEE & I8 — AR B HEEEE 43
B5 Supply Chain General disclosure Supply Chain Management
Management
B5.1 Zite B DN HEREE - HERER 44
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
B5.2 HM A RMEAHREENES mENTHEREANMHER HEEEE 43
HH > UKAERRITR T e
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Supply Chain Management
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.
B5.3 WA EMARHERESERENRER TS RABNIEN > HEEEE 43
MR HRERITREER G %
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and Supply Chain Management
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
B5.4 T REREEREELARREQRBRBENIEN L HEEEE 44
AT RER G A
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally ~ Supply Chain Management

preferable products and services when selecting
suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.
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B BE
HEEREA

Page no./
Explanation/

ESGI&1E BEE =321 Reasons for
ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions
B6EmEE — MR E &R 44
B6 Product General disclosure Products and Services
Responsibility
B6.1 BEHEEXEREHIRALZERFEAMBLRNE ELKRE 45
Stbe
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to Products and Services
recalls for safety and health reasons.
B6.2 BEMNRERRRBNEFEBE U KBRS - B m R R 45
B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints Products and Services
received and how they are dealt with.
B6.3 Mo B AR S R RIE RN E A RARVE A FEH 45
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Intellectual Property Rights
protecting intellectual property rights.
B6.4 HMESRTEBREKE BB BEm &R 45
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Products and Services
procedures.
B6.5 BAUS B EERMRERFARER  UREARITERERS B RE 45
o
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy Privacy Protection
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.
B7TR&S — AR EE R&E5 46
B7 Anti-corruption General disclosure. Anti-corruption
B7.1 RREPARBETASHEBEBRETEEENESHAE RES 47
GRESESPEEIEN S
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Anti-corruption
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
B7.2 B e T R B2 T U NIT R F A R&ES 46
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Anti-corruption
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
B7.3 HiimESEkETRENRESE R&ES 47
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors Anti-corruption

and staff.
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ESGIE1E B =111 Reasons for

ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions

B8t ERE — iR e Bt & 52

B8 Community General disclosure Contributing to Community

Investment

B8.1 HIEREE- ~EA EEZMTE
R RE 7% 3
BRe

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. N/A Not material
as identified in
the materiality
assessment.

B8.2 HEIBEMBEEIR ~ER TEZMTE
FREEE A 3
BKo

B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. N/A Not material

as identified in
the materiality
assessment.
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The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements
for the reporting year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the industrial solution, smart office and new retail businesses.

An analysis of the group’s revenue and contribution to operating profit
by reportable segments for the reporting year is set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group and an
indication of likely future developments in the group’s business can be found
in the paragraph headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on
pages 5 to 11 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Our results for the reporting year are set out in the consolidated income
statement on page 90.

The directors do not recommend any payments of final dividend.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE,
FUTURE PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT

A fair review of our businesses comprising analysis of the group’s performance
during the reporting year under review using financial key performance
indicators, future prospects and business development of the group,
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the group, are
set out in the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report. There had been no material events after 31 December 2021 till the
issuance of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We have long considered environmental protection and energy conservation as
one of our key priorities in order to enhance the sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility. For details, please refer to the section
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The board was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the company during the reporting
year.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The company highly values the relationships with employees, customers and
suppliers as they are the foundation of the group’s success.

Employees

The company strictly complies with all the applicable rules and regulations
in relation to employment, to name a few, the Employment Ordinance,
the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance and the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, etc. The group has purchased all necessary insurance and
made monthly pension contributions for its staff and has measures in place
endeavoured to protect all staff’'s personal information. There are channels for
staff to express their opinions with regard to their work. Moreover, the group
also strives to provide a safe, healthy and harmonious workplace with fair and
equal opportunities for staff of both gender and different races.

Customers

The group provides direct services and goods to customers and conduct
surveys to interact with them to gain market insights and feedback. For
the reporting year, sales to the five largest customers of the group in total
accounted for approximately 44% of the group’s total revenue, with the
largest customer accounting for approximately 16%. Credit terms offered to
customers ranged from 30 to 90 days. Management makes periodic collective
assessment as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of trade
receivables based on historical payment records, the length of the overdue
period, the financial strength of the trade and other debtors and whether there
are any disputes with the relevant debtors. The group’s historical experience
in collection of trade and other receivables falls within the recorded allowances
and the directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for uncollectible
receivables has been made in these financial statements. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. No significant recoverability problem
is identified subsequent to the reporting year.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS (continued)

Suppliers

The suppliers of the group are either well established companies or from well-
known enterprises to ensure that they are able to deliver goods and services as
requested. The five largest suppliers of the group in aggregate accounted for
approximately 50% by value of the group’s total purchases during the reporting
year, with the largest supplier accounting for approximately 23%. Furthermore,
anti-bribery policies are in place for all staff to comply.

During the reporting year, save for Hon Hai Group, none of the directors or any
of their close associates or any shareholders which, to the best knowledge of
the directors, own more than 5% of the company’s issued share capital had
any interest in any of the group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are
set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the group are set
out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital of the company are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

The amounts and particulars of material transfers to and from reserves of the
company during the reporting year are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the company’s reserves are not available for
distribution. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that the company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i)
it is, or after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or
(ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of
its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium account.

DONATIONS

The group did not make any donations (31 December 2020: Nil) during the
reporting year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and there
was no restriction against such right under the laws in Bermuda, which
would oblige the company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the group for
each of the last five financial years/periods until 31 December 2021 is set out
on page 200.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the reporting year and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin (Chairman)

Mr. CAl Liting (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. KAO Chao Yang

Mr. CHENG Yee Pun

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. PARK Ho Jin'
Mr. JEON Eui Jong?

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen

Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan

! appointed on 31 March 2021
2 resigned on 31 March 2021

Mr. TANG Tin Lok Stephen, Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie and Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan
will retire by rotation in accordance with Article 99 of the Bye-laws and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of office of the directors, including the independent non-executive
directors, are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election at
the company’s annual general meeting in accordance with the company’s Bye-
laws.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

During the reporting year, there was no change in information of the directors of
pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive directors

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin, aged 61, was appointed as executive director and Chairman
on 3 November 2015 and 28 March 2018 respectively. Mr. Chien is the general
manager of D Group, a business group within Hon Hai with over US$25 billion
annual revenues, and was a director with Hon Hai. Mr. Chien joined Hon Hai
in 1991. He studied at Tamkang University. Mr. Chien has been appointed as
chairman and director of Long Time Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Emerging Stock Board of The Taipei Exchange (stock code: 6555) since 22
July 2021.

Mr. CAl Liting, aged 47, was appointed as executive director and chief
executive officer on 19 December 2019. Mr. Cai has over 22 years of
experience in the electronic, manufacturing and information technology
industry. Since 2003, Mr. Cai has been employed by Foxconn Technology
Group as the vice president of product engineering & quality and later as the
head of the innovative product business division of D Group, a business group
within Hon Hai. Before joining Foxconn Technology Group, he had been with
Schlumberger Limited from 1997 to 2001. Mr. Cai obtained a Master of Science
in Computer Service from the George Mason University in the United States
of America and a Bachelor of Science in Electronic Engineering from Tsinghua
University in the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. KAO Chao Yang, aged 53, was appointed as executive director on 28
March 2018. Mr. Kao has over 20 years of experience in the electronic,
manufacturing and information technology industry. He has been appointed
as the vice-president of the Foxconn Technology Group since 2015. Mr.
Kao currently oversees the Foxconn Global Operations which is both a key
business and strategic division responsible for driving initiatives across several
significant areas of manufacturing, supply chain management (fulfillment
and reverse logistic services). Prior to that, Mr. Kao held various duties
within Foxconn include start-up manufacturing sites, directing supply chain
operations, business account management with global customer presence
and administering information technology initiatives across China, US, Czech
Republic and Mexico. Mr. Kao obtained a Master of Science in Industrial &
Operations Engineering from the University of Michigan in the United States
of America and a Bachelor of Science in Industrial Design from Cheng-Kung
University in Taiwan.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Executive directors (continued)

Mr. CHENG Yee Pun, aged 46, was appointed as executive director on 28
March 2018 and is assuming the role of group chief financial officer. Prior
joining the company in 2016, he was the vice president of New World Strategic
Investment Limited, primarily responsible for private equity and venture
capital investments, M&A transactions and business development initiatives.
Mr. Cheng began his career with an international accounting firm and had
worked for a number of global financial institutions and Hong Kong listed
companies. He obtained his Master of Business Administration and Bachelor of
Commerce (Hons.) from the University of New South Wales and the University
of Melbourne in Australia respectively. Mr. Cheng is a member of CPA Australia
and CFA Institute.

Non-executive director

Mr. PARK Ho Jin, aged 45, was appointed as non-executive director on 31
March 2021. He has been with SK Holdings (C&C) since 2001 and is currently
the head of Strategic Planning Group. He holds a bachelor’s degree of
Electrical Engineering at Korea University, Seoul, Republic of Korea.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen, aged 45, was appointed as independent non-
executive director on 1 December 2015. Mr. Tang has been in financial service
industry for more than 15 years. Before that, Mr. Tang was a director with the
Deloitte & Touche Financial Advisory Services Group where he focused on
private equity and merger and acquisition transactions in the PRC and the
Asia Pacific region. Mr. Tang began his career at the Financial Services Group
at Ernst & Young in Sydney, and subsequently relocated to Hong Kong and
Beijing. Mr. Tang received a Master Degree of Commerce in Advanced Finance
and Bachelor Degree of Commerce from the University of New South Wales in
Australia. He is a Chartered Accountant of the Chartered Accountants Australia
and New Zealand, and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Tang had been an independent non-executive director of
Grown Up Group Investment Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1842) from 27
June 2019 to 1 April 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Independent non-executive directors (continued)

Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, aged 61, was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 1 December 2015. Mr. Kan is a managing partner and founder of
ON Capital, a private equity firm that specialises in investing in China since
2004. Prior to founding ON Capital, Mr. Kan established i100 Corporation in
1999, a start-up incubator that went on to list on the main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. He had also served as chief operating officer of CDC
Corporation (renamed to China.com later), founder of PointCast Asia, and had
established Sina.com in Hong Kong. Mr. Kan spent the earlier years of his
career successively at Apple Computer, Compaq Computer, and established
Microsoft in Hong Kong and China. Mr. Kan graduated in business from Hong
Kong Baptist College and from the Stanford Graduate School of Business’
Executive Program for Smaller Companies.

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan, aged 48, was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 31 March 2020. Prof. Zhang is currently a professor of Department
of Decision Sciences and Managerial Economics at The Chinese University
of Hong Kong (the “CUHK”) since 2017. Before he joined the CUHK, he
was an associate professor of Department of Information Systems, Business
Statistics & Operations Management at The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology Business School from 2006. Before joining the academia,
he worked as an analyst for an investment bank, and as an international
marketing manager for a high-tech company. He holds a patent in the United
States, and co-founded several companies in the areas of social networking,
FinTech, and LegalTech. Prof. Zhang holds a Doctor of Philosophy degree in
Management from MIT Sloan School of Management in the United States, a
Master of Science degree in Management, a Bachelor of Engineering degree
in Computer Science and a Bachelor of Arts degree in English from Tsinghua
University in the People’s Republic of China. He has been an independent
director for NASDAQ-listed e-commerce company Secoo Holding Limited
(NASDAQ: SECO) since September 2017. He also offered advice to Hong Kong
Cyberport Management Company Ltd., Jingdong Finance, Hupan University,
Huawei Investment & Holding Co., Ltd., China Mobile Limited, China Merchants
Securities Co. Ltd., Douban.com, and Radica Systems Limited.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the reporting year, the company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreement.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All executive and non-executive directors have not entered into any service
contracts and do not have a fixed term of service with the company. However,
all directors are subject to re-election by rotation at least once every three
years in accordance with the Bye-laws. Each of the independent non-executive
directors has entered into an appointment letter with the company for one year
and is renewable automatically for successive term of one year. None of the
directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the company which cannot be terminated
by the company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance in relation to the
group’s business to which the company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during the reporting year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As far as the directors are aware, none of the directors or their respective
associates has any interest in a business which competes or may compete with
the business of the group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the directors is currently
in force and was in force throughout the reporting year. The company has
maintained directors and officers’ liability insurance which provides appropriate
cover for, among others, the directors.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as the disclosure in the Continuing Connected Transactions and
Acquisition of Target Assets from Hon Hai Group by Personify Inc., as far
as the directors are aware, at no time during the reporting year had the
company or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholders or any
of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance or any contract of
significance for the provision of services by the controlling shareholders or any
of its subsidiaries to the company or any of its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the then directors
and chief executives of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which
were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register kept by the company, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in
the Listing Rules, to be notified to the company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:

Long position in the company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

BAER

Personal

BRARTE

Associate

Wit
Total
interests

BAL

interests interests Percentage

BEWRE
Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin

BEIRSE

Mr. CHENG Yee Pun

Mt :

1. AR B A B W S 4 B2 FKan, SachikoZ 155 °
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- 18,430,738 18,430,738
(Ht5£1)

(note 1)

2.63%

800,000 - 800,000
(Ht522)

(note 2)

0.11%

Notes:
1. The interest was held by Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin’s spouse, Ms. Kan, Sachiko.
2. Mr. Cheng is interested in 800,000 share options of the company.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the directors are aware, as at 31 December
2021, none of the then directors nor the chief executive of the company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (i) were required to be notified to
the company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (i) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) were required to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) approved by a resolution passed by the shareholders of the
company on 30 August 2013, under which it may grant options to eligible
participants (as defined in the share option scheme rules) to subscribe for
shares in the company. Eligible participants refer to any full time or part time
employees of the group or any entity in which the group holds an equity
interest (“Invested Entity”) (including any directors, whether executive or non-
executive and whether independent or not, of the company or any subsidiary
or any Invested Entity); any holder of any securities issued by the group; and
any business or joint venture partners, contractors, agents or representatives,
consultants, advisers, suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees
(including any sub-licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including any
sub-tenants) of the group or any Invested Entity or any person who, in the sole
discretion of the board, has contributed or may contribute to the group or any
Invested Entity.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no share options were granted or
lapsed but a total of 350,000 share options were cancelled.

Subsequently on 8 April 2022, the company granted a total of 7,610,000 share
options under the Share Option Scheme to certain eligible participants. The
exercise price is HK$0.31 each and the vesting period is 2 years from the date
of grant with 10 years of validity. Among the grantees, Mr. CAl Liting and Mr.
CHENG Yee Pun are directors of the company, who were granted with 800,000
and 500,000 share options respectively.

Save as disclosed, no share options were granted, lapsed and cancelled during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

A summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme is set out as
below:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the company to
grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution or potential contribution to the group or any Invested
Entity. The company considers that the Invested Entity, an entity in
which the group holds an equity interest, may contribute to the group’s
profits. The company also considers that the granting of the options to
the employee, director, officer or consultant of the Invested Entity would
provide an incentive for their contribution to the Invested Entity which
indirectly benefits the group.

2. Administration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the
board whose decision on all matters arising in relation to the Share
Option Scheme or its interpretation or effect shall (save as otherwise
provided herein and in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding
on all persons who may be affected thereby.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq)

Grant and acceptance of options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the board may, in its
absolute discretion, invite any eligible participant to take up options to
subscribe for shares at a price calculated in accordance with paragraph
(4) below.

An offer of the grant of an option shall be made to eligible participants in
writing (and unless so made shall be invalid) in such form as the board
may from time to time determine and shall remain open for acceptance
by the eligible participant concerned for a period of twenty-one (21)
days from the date upon which it is made provided that no such offer
shall be open for acceptance after the earlier of the 10th anniversary
of the Adoption Date or the termination of the Share Option Scheme or
the eligible participant to whom such offer is made has ceased to be an
eligible participant.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of an option. An option shall be deemed to
have been accepted when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of
the option duly signed by the eligible participant together with the said
consideration of HK$1.00 is received by the company.

Any offer of the grant of an option may be accepted in respect of less
than the number of shares in respect of which it is offered provided that
it is accepted in such number of shares as represents a board lot for
the time being for the purpose of trading on the Stock Exchange or an
integral multiple thereof.
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4,

Exercise of options and price of shares

An option may be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee giving
notice in writing to the company stating that the option is thereby
exercised and the number of shares in respect of which it is exercised.
Each such notice must be accompanied by a remittance for the full
amount of the subscription price for the shares in respect of which the
notice is given. Within twenty-one (21) days after receipt of the notice
and the remittance and, where appropriate, receipt of the certificate of
the company’s auditors or independent financial advisers, the company
shall allot and issue the relevant shares to the grantee (or his legal
personal representative(s)) credited as fully paid.

Holders of the options are not entitled to voting, dividend, transfer and
other rights of the holders of the shares, including those arising on a
liquidation of the company, save as otherwise provided herein or under
the relevant laws or the memorandum of association of the company and
the Bye-laws in effect from time to time. Shares to be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of an option will be subject to all the provisions of the
Byelaws for the time being in force and will rank pari passu in all respects
with the existing fully paid shares in issue on the date on which the
option is duly exercised or, if that date falls on a day when the register of
members of the company is closed, the first day of the re-opening of the
register of members (the “Exercise Date”) and accordingly will entitle the
holders thereof to participate in all dividends or other distributions paid
or made on or after the Exercise Date other than any dividend or other
distribution previously declared or recommended or resolved to be paid
or made if the record date therefor shall be before the Exercise Date. A
share allotted upon the exercise of an option shall not carry voting rights
until the name of the grantee has been duly entered onto the register of
members of the company as the holder thereof.

The exercise price for options under the Share Option Scheme may
be determined by the board at its absolute discretion but in any event
will not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares
on the Stock Exchange as shown in the daily quotations sheet of the
Stock Exchange on the offer date, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the shares as shown in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five (5) business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
share on the offer date.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq)

5.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

U]

(i)

(i)

Subject to the Listing Rules, the overall limit on the number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the company must
not exceed 30 per cent. of the relevant class of shares in issue
from time to time. No options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the company
if this will result in this limit being exceeded.

Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)(i) above, the maximum number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted at any time under the Share Option Scheme shall not,
when aggregated with any shares subject to any other share option
schemes of the company involving the issue or grant of option
over shares by the company to, or for the benefit of the eligible
participants, exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of
the approval of the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”), unless shareholders’ approval has been obtained pursuant
to sub-paragraphs (iii) and (iv) below. Options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the scheme mandate limit.

Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)(i) above, the company
may refresh the scheme mandate limit at any time subject to
approval of the shareholders in general meeting, provided that the
scheme mandate limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of passing the relevant resolution
(i.e. 39,423,944 shares). Options previously granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the company (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in
accordance with such schemes or exercised options) will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating this limit. The company must
send a circular to the shareholders containing such information as
required under the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq)

5.

Maximum number of shares available for issue (continued)

(iv)  Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)(i) above, the company may
also seek separate approval of the shareholders in general meeting
for granting options beyond the scheme mandate limit provided
that the options in excess of the scheme mandate limit are granted
only to eligible participants specifically identified by the company
before such approval is sought. The company must send a
circular to the shareholders containing a generic description of the
specified eligible participants, the number and terms of options to
be granted, the purpose of granting options to the specified eligible
participants with an explanation as to how the terms of the options
serve such purpose and such other information as required under
the Listing Rules.

(v) As at the date of this annual report, the total number of options
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 25,043,944
representing 3.57% of the total issued shares at the date of this
annual report.

Grant of options to connected persons or any of their
associates

Any grant of option to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the company, or any of
their respective associates, under the Share Option Scheme must be
approved by the independent non-executive directors (excluding an
independent non-executive director who is the proposed grantee of the
option). Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the company or an independent non-
executive director or any of their respective associates, would result in
the shares issued or to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted or to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1 per cent of the relevant class of
shares in issue; and

(b)  having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock
Exchange at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million,
such further grant of options must be approved by shareholders of
the company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq)

Grant of options to connected persons or any of their
associates (continued)

A circular must be prepared by the company explaining the proposed
grant, disclosing (i) the number and terms of the options to be granted,
(i) containing a recommendation from the independent non-executive
directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who is
a grantee) on whether or not to vote in favour of the proposed grant,
(iii) containing information relating to any directors who are trustees of the
scheme or have a direct or indirect interest in the trustees, and (iv) the
information required under Rule 2.17 of the Listing Rules.

Any change in the terms of options granted to a connected person or its
associates must be approved by shareholders in a general meeting.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each eligible participant or grantee (including
exercised and outstanding options) in any twelve (12)-month period up
to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Where
it is proposed that any offer is to be made to an eligible participant (or
where approximate, an existing grantee) which would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in the twelve (12) month period up to and including the relevant
date of grant to exceed such limit, such offer and any acceptance thereof
must be conditional upon shareholders’ approval in general meeting with
such an eligible participant (or where appropriate, an existing grantee)
and his, her or its associates abstaining from voting. The company
must send a circular to the shareholders disclosing the identity of the
eligible participant or grantee, the number and terms of options to be
granted (and options previously granted) to such an eligible participant,
the information required under the Listing Rules. The number and terms
(including the subscription price) of options to be granted to such an
eligible participant must be fixed before the date on which shareholders’
approval is sought and the date of the board meeting for proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the subscription price.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

8.

10.

Time of Exercise of options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, an option may
be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the period to be
determined and notified by the directors to the grantee thereof at the
time of making an offer provided that such period shall not exceed
the period of 10 years from the date of grant of the particular option
but subject to the provisions for early termination but subject to early
termination of the Share Option Scheme.

There is no specific minimum period under the Share Option Scheme for
which an option must be held or the performance target which must be
achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the Share
Option Scheme.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme
become unconditional, after which no further options will be issued, and
thereafter for so long as there are outstanding any unexercised options
granted pursuant thereto and in order to give effect to the exercise of
any such options or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

The life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force until 29 August 2023,
subject to approval by shareholders to adopt the Share Option Scheme
at the AGM.

For detailed movements of the share options under the Share Option

Scheme during the reporting year, please refer to Note 27 of the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the company were entered into or
existed during the reporting year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” as disclosed
above, at no time during the reporting year was the company and any of its
subsidiaries of the company and its associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors or chief executive or any of their spouse or
children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the company or any other body corporate. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, none of the directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the shares
or debentures of the company or its subsidiaries or had exercised any such
right during the reporting year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES

At no time during the reporting year was the company or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the company or any
other body corporate.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. 2015 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai

On 23 December 2015, the company entered into four Framework
Agreements (each a “2015 Framework Agreement” and collectively, the
“2015 Framework Agreements”’) with Hon Hai. Notwithstanding that
Hon Hai was not a connected person of the company under the Listing
Rules at that time, the company voluntarily complied with the reporting,
announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements for
the transactions contemplated under the 2015 Framework Agreements
as if Hon Hai is a connected person of the company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The 2015 Framework Agreements consist of
(1) the I.T. System Operation and Maintenance Framework Agreement,
(2) the Build-Own-Operate and |.T. Project Framework Agreement,
(3) the Procurement Framework Agreement and (4) the Sales Framework
Agreement. Pursuant to the Framework Agreements, the group agreed
to (i) provide I.T. support and maintenances services to Hon Hai Group;
(i) provide build-own-operate and |.T. project services to Hon Hai
Group; (iii) purchase enterprise-level products including but not limited
to communication software, servers and related hardware equipment
from Hon Hai Group to be used primarily for the provision of various I.T.
services; and (iv) sell ancillary I.T. products to Hon Hai Group.

74 EEER KRB R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited



EFEHREE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FHERERS @ CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
BEEN_E—tFEEHE 2. 2017 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai

HREN T -—AFERBENHERRN _-Z
—\FE=ZB=+—HE® MRPEFEEL

HE=ZB=+—HEXR/RT+TB=+—H%>
KRBERZE—tHENB T+ ZHIM
ERWHE ((ZE—tFEEGE) " FESH
“E-AFERBEETRETNFERER
S FRABE_ST—\E - “E-NERZZE
TEFF+ R+ —HIE=ZAYHREE-

HBEN_T_EFERGE

HR&EM -t FERBENRARR -F
TEE+ZR=t—HEm ARIERZ
ERF+_ACHITURERBGE (T2
“EFERGRE) EESNH_T-tFER

T”*%IE"FTE? THREMERZ FHABE
TEI-F IR ERIBIZF4TAR

=+—BHLE=ZEMREE-

TETEFERBEN 2 -_—F+ A
=t+—BEZZ”_=F+"A=+—H¥HE
ENFELRNT :

As the term of each of the 2015 Framework Agreements expired on
31 March 2018 and following the change of financial year end date
from 31 March to 31 December, the company had on 22 September
2017 entered into the new framework agreements (“2017 Framework
Agreements”) to renew the continuing connected transactions as
contemplated under each of the 2015 Framework Agreements for a term
of three financial years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.

2020 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai

As the term of each of the 2017 Framework Agreements expired on 31
December 2020, the company had on 7 December 2020 entered into the
new framework agreements (“2020 Framework Agreements”) to renew
the continuing connected transactions as contemplated under each
of the 2017 Framework Agreements for a term of three financial years
ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 20283.

The annual caps of the 2020 Framework Agreements for the financial
years from 31 December 2021 to 31 December 2023 are as follows:

BX-#%E
BRI RE —E¥R
BEERAEE BRlRIEE
I.T. System Build-Own-
Operation and Operate and xEE HE
Maintenance I.T. Project Procurement Sales
ANEETT ANEBETFT ANEREFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
—E " —%F 2021 91,859 300,195 163,127 27,402
- —— 2022 110,231 360,234 195,752 32,882
—E-= 2023 132,278 432,281 234,903 39,459
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Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the
proposed annual cap amounts under the 2020 Framework Agreements,
as one or more of the applicable percentage ratios of the proposed
annual caps of the 2020 Framework Agreements for the three financial
years ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 for the transactions
contemplated under the 2020 Framework Agreements are expected to be
higher than 5% and more than HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis, the
transactions contemplated under the 2020 Framework Agreements are
subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As a result, a special general meeting was convened on 15
January 2021 where the Independent Shareholders approved all the
2020 Framework Agreements.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

3.

2020 Framework Agreements with Hon Hai (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amount for the group’s
continuing connected transactions with Hon Hai Group during the
reporting year are set out in the table below. All the actual transaction

ZENFELR- amount of the group’s continuing connected transaction did not exceed
the respective annual caps.
&
ERRZEHE
—_E-—F Actual
FELR Transaction
Annual Caps Amount
for 2021 for 2021
ANEEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
M EER With Hon Hai Group
BRI AR E S R EE I.T. System Operation and Maintenance 91,859 43,972
BX-#A-EEREMBFEIER Build-Own-Operate and I.T. Project 300,195 230,347
REE Procurement 163,127 13,989
HH & Sales 27,402 5,766

HUMAABDR _E_EF+ B+ NLBTI%
MBERFIRE _S_SFERHEETRE
TR BENBSEBRGIRADIRARE
BEEHWRAZ0%ZIEH (TEH)) - BEZ
T —F+ZA=Z+—HILEFE BEEEE
EEBRUWALBIRAZ47% AL JANRZE
T FREFECETRG-

BUFATEFCERARER REAREFE
FRETZE2BFEREXZARNNEAERR
BRMEBRED (IR —RBEERAE
EIRRET ; R(i)VRBEBREBHRET B
HERABATEE ARG EARBREZE
B o UbSh > R L RAIE 14A.660F > &R
AZBMEDEFERHEREERRMG B
PHERSNEABREFELECHERERS
2B KGR AR B EMBRPIRE %A
BRI o

As disclosed in the circular issued by the company on 29 December
2020, the transactions as contemplated under the 2020 Framework
Agreements are also subject to the condition that the revenue attributable
to Hon Hai Group will be less than 60% of the group’s annual total
revenue (the “Condition”). For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
actual revenue attributable from Hon Hai Group represented 47% of the
total revenue. Thus we comply with the Condition for the reporting year
of 2021.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed and confirmed
that all the continuing connected transactions taken place during the
reporting year were (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the same on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the company’s shareholders as
a whole. Moreover, the company’s auditor has provided an unqualified
letter to the board containing their findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions taken place during the reporting
year in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the company to the Stock
Exchange.
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ACQUISITION OF TARGET ASSETS FROM HON
HAI GROUP BY PERSONIFY INC

On 24 December 2020, the company, Personify Inc. as the Buyer and Foxconn
(Far East) Limited as the Seller entered into an Acquisition Agreement, pursuant
to which the Buyer has conditionally agreed to acquire and the Seller has
conditionally agreed to sell all of the Seller’s right, title, benefit and interest in
the Target Assets owned by the Seller and licensed to the Buyer. The company
has conditionally agreed to allot and issue 46,680,000 shares of the company
at HK$0.50 each (the “Consideration Shares”) at a total consideration of
HK$23.34 million (equivalent to approximately RMB19.84 million) to the Seller
for transferring the Target Assets to the Buyer. The consideration was arrived
at after arm’s length negotiations between the parties to the Acquisition
Agreement on normal commercial terms with reference to (i) the future
development and application prospects of the Target Assets and the synergies
expected to be created by applying the Target Assets in further developing
new applications and products and new sub-licensing business model;
(i) operating and financial performances of Personify business in the first ten
months period ended 30 November 2020 as a result of the execution of the
licensing arrangement between the Buyer and the Seller and its associates;
(iii) the preliminary valuation of the Target Assets conducted by an independent
valuer; and (iv) the original arm’s length acquisition cost to the Seller and its
associates.

The Consideration Shares represent (i) 7.13% of the existing issued share
capital of the company as at the date of signing the Acquisition Agreement;
and (ii) 6.65% of the issued share capital of the company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares at the completion date. The
Consideration Shares are to be issued by the company under the specific
mandate to be granted by the Independent Shareholders to the directors at the
SGM.
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ACQUISITION OF TARGET ASSETS FROM HON
HAI GROUP BY PERSONIFY INC (continueq)

Reasons for the Acquisition

Ever since the outbreak of the pandemic, substantial changes have been made
to people’s lifestyle as well as workstyle and demand for the video conferencing
related applications have increased dramatically since video conferencing
becomes a part of the new normal following the pandemic induced lockdown
and people are largely required to work from home, and the group also
foresees that in the long run, people and businesses will be more get used to
and adapting to the use of video conferencing and online smart office services
even after the pandemic. In view of the above, the company intends to allocate
more internal resources to the smart office business segment to grasp the
possible business opportunities that arise from the fundamental change to
the society caused by the pandemic. Given the above, the company intends
to continue developing Personify business. However, since the Target Assets
are only being licensed to Personify Inc. by the Seller and its associates,
the directors are concerned that the growth of Personify business might be
hindered in the long run without the ownership of Personify’s patents and
source code etc. The directors consider the acquisition to be crucial to the
group for its development in the smart office business segment as (i) it may
enable the group to formulate a more comprehensive business development
and marketing strategy by exploring every available business options including,
but not limited to, generate additional licensing fee for granting others to use its
technology by sub-licensing the patents and/or providing access to the source
code or related software development kit that Personify Inc. cannot do so now
under the current licensing agreement with the Seller and its associates; (ii) it
is expected to provide the group with more incentive to deploy resources to
develop new and existing applications and products for Personify business; (iii)
it will be cost-saving in the long run as the group will no longer have to pay the
licence fee for the Target Assets after the acquisition; and (iv) it will eliminate
the uncertainties of the continuity of the current licensing arrangement between
Personify Inc. and the Seller and its associates as there is no guarantee that
the Seller and its associate will renew the existing licensing agreement upon
its expiry of the one year term. Furthermore, the acquisition will be settled by
issuance of the Consideration Shares to the Seller and the directors consider
this to be beneficial to the group as it enables the group to retain more cash to
endure the worsening economic environment due to the pandemic. Overall, the
directors are of the view that the terms of the Acquisition Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder and the whitewash waiver are on normal
commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the company and
its shareholders as a whole.
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ACQUISITION OF TARGET ASSETS FROM HON
HAI GROUP BY PERSONIFY INC (continueq)

Listing Rules Implications

As one or more of the relevant percentage ratios applicable to the acquisition
exceeds 5% but all of them are less than 25%, the acquisition constitutes
a discloseable and connected transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules. As at the date of the Acquisition Agreement, Hon Hai holds 100.00%
equity interest in the Seller and Hon Hai indirectly holds approximately 42.33%
attributable equity interest in FSK Holdings Limited, which is a substantial
shareholder of the company and has interests in 167,236,560 shares directly
and 72,267,562 shares indirectly through FDG Fund, L.P. (formerly known
as “Asia-10 Acquisition Fund, L.P.”), representing approximately 25.53%
and 11.04% of the issued share capital of the company respectively. FSK
Holdings Limited is a limited partner of FDG Fund, L.P. contributing to
about 75% of its total commitment. Despite Hon Hai does not fall within the
ambit of an associate of FSK Holdings Limited under the Listing Rules, the
company voluntarily complies with the reporting, announcement, circular
and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements for the transactions
contemplated under the Acquisition Agreement as if Hon Hai is a connected
person of the company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Takeovers Code Implications

The issue of the Consideration Shares to the Seller will result in the increase
in shareholding of the Seller and its concert parties in the company from
approximately 39.38% to approximately 43.42% immediately after the
completion of the transaction. Accordingly, such an increase will give rise to an
obligation under Rule 26 of the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers
(the “Takeovers Code”) for the Seller to make a mandatory general offer under
Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code for all the shares and other securities issued
by the company not already held or agreed to be acquired by the Seller and
its concert parties unless the whitewash waiver is obtained. An application
will be made by the Seller to the SFC for the whitewash waiver pursuant to
Note 1 on dispensations from Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code. The whitewash
waiver will be subject to, among other things, the approval of the Independent
Shareholders at the SGM. The Seller and parties acting in concert with it and
the shareholders who are involved in or interested in the acquisition and/or
the whitewash waiver, including but not limited to FSK Holdings Limited, FDG
Fund, L.P. and Ms. Kan, Sachiko, will abstain from voting on the resolutions
to approve the acquisition and the whitewash waiver at the SGM. It is one
of the conditions of the Acquisition Agreement that the whitewash waiver be
granted by SFC and be approved by the Independent Shareholders at the
SGM. If the whitewash waiver is not granted by the SFC or not approved by the
Independent Shareholders, the acquisition will not proceed.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3§ 79



EFTHREE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PERSONIFY INCTA) 55 & E Y2 i85 B
BREE®

WA ZBAE (&)

BREZHB F2HEARFAEMONA T _TF
+=RA= -I—tElEz T —FZRAT+ZHZRSE
Fe 3R] o

KRG AREEREN _Z_—F=A+THAHE17 8
WHEEEEB KRR ENME BARRERLZIR
HoR B _—F=A_+_HEAKEEERN{E
Be1n 1T 0

R XCPT BE & S S0 & OF B B IR R MY S 34 P K
BoHMERREARZBM TR TATRENE
HREMEXZNTERRTEMERZ - EFHERD
FABBEBRETRUBIAT  BETRERE

FERRVER

R —F+ZRA=+—H RMEBEEMRA T
AL (BRBDEFRESITHABRIN R RH KB
Rin A RER S RS RPN EXVEE2K3D 88
BXBOARABDWEZRDNRE > NEEAEEE
BERINE%EL 2 o

ACQUISITION OF TARGET ASSETS FROM HON
HAI GROUP BY PERSONIFY INC (continued)

Takeovers Code Implications (continued)

For more details, please refer to the company’s announcement and circular
dated 27 December 2020 and 22 February 2021 respectively.

A SGM was subsequently held on 15 March 2021 and the acquisition was duly
approved by the Independent Shareholders. The whitewash waiver was granted
by SFC. The acquisition was completed and the Consideration Shares were
issued on 22 March 2021.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions as disclosed
in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements constituted disclosable
non-exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected
transaction under the Listing Rules. The directors confirm that the company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2021, to the best knowledge of the directors, the following
parties (other than directors or chief executives of the company), had an
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares which are required
to be disclosed to the company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 and
Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more

of the shares.

REMAO T DR

ST VR 4= FEIERZEE S Lt

FELFRiFRR 15 & B Approximate

Number or percentage or

attributable e attributable

RRER 4B number of Nature of percentage of

Name of Shareholder shares held interests shareholding

FSK Holdings Limited 239,050,141 o 34.07%
Beneficial

FDG Fund, L.P. 71,813,581 Bm 10.24%
Beneficial

Foxconn (Far East) Limited 46,680,000 o 6.65%
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)
Notes:

To the best knowledge of the directors after having made all reasonable enquiries, Hon Hai
indirectly holds more than 40% attributable equity interests in FSK Holdings Limited. FSK
Holdings Limited is a limited partner of FDG Fund L.P. contributing to about 75% of its
total commitment. The 239,050,141 shares interested by FSK Holdings Limited include the
71,813,581 shares held by FDG Fund, L.P.

General partner of FDG Fund, L.P. is FDG Fund GP Limited (formerly known as “Asia-10
Acquisition GP Limited”) which, in turn, is controlled by Mr. TSE Tik Yang, Denis, a former
non-executive director who resigned on 7 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, the company has not been notified of any other
interest representing 5% or more of the share and recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the company and within the
knowledge of the directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this annual report, the company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the reporting year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE,
INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, AUDIT COMMITTEE

Details of the company’s corporate governance practices, independence of
independent non-executive directors and the Audit Committee are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 12 to 31.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
group for the reporting year with the management, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the group and discussed risk management and
internal controls and financial reporting matters related to the preparation of the
annual results for the reporting year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, neither the company nor its subsidiaries
had sold and redeemed any of the company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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TAX RELIEF

The company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares. Intending holders
and investors of the company’s shares are recommended to consult their
professional advisers if they are in any doubt as to the taxation implications
(including tax relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or
dealing in shares. It is emphasised that neither the company nor its directors
or officers will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities
of, holders of shares in the company resulting from their subscription for,
purchase, holding, disposal of or dealing in such shares.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the board
CHIEN Yi-Pin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2022
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To the Shareholders of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages
90 to 199, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of

Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FARETEEERERMANEELE  RAHAER  Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
EHMBERRNBARAEENEIE-ELEEIFEZE  of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
HPEAERREHUBRRAAREEEREETRERIE  current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of

H-HZMTEHELEFHREHEBNER

the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

HEESTPRPNEESTEEEESEREERE  Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the impairment of trade and

WERTEREARD

BN EE
Key Audit Matter

lease receivables.

BB MAEERARENER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EERBERKRERE

Impairment of trade and lease receivables

FE2REHPBRERMEES.A(0) K200
Refer to Note 3.1(b) and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

N_E2-_—F+"A=+—H> BEERESEELEERI
IRTEAEEEA) A R #5255,000,00070 > REULFE SRR EREN AR
60,000,0007z °

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had gross trade and lease
receivables of approximately RMB255,000,000, for which a
provision for impairment of approximately RMB60,000,000 was
recognised.

EEERAESEVBREENZSRECH A ELMEEKMA
ERWRENSHATEREEEHE (FRAEEHE)) BE-

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”) allowance for all trade
and lease receivables.
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HMBEETUTEFURIBEZMEREEE
We have performed the following procedures to address this key
audit matter:

B THREEEHEEARBERIRERREEHEENRE
R R EHERR T WB B E B st A E M2 E R EE & AE
FARV RS Fe FI > 5T E R SRR E A g -

We obtained an understanding of the management’s internal
control and assessment process of the ECL of trade and
lease receivables and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and the judgement involved in determining the
assumptions to be applied.

BMTERZEEHEBBHEXERBERKIRBENEBRE
ERRE TR RIER > GIFRES 917 25 B R B IR A 65
B9 BT U [B] M ¥ 17 T HA ST A ©

We evaluated and tested the management’s key controls
relating to management assessment performed on the ECL of
trade and lease receivables, including aging analysis review
and regular assessment performed on collectability of the
receivable balances.

EMTEEREEEE L —FENTLER LGTHEIEE M
SREFNENY RTEERSERNAEEEFHER -

We evaluated the outcome of prior year’'s assessment of
ECL to assess the effectiveness of management’s estimation
process and assessed whether it has been consistently
applied in current year.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERBRAEFHAURREBZERADAETEETM U
At EREE -FHHREEBEXLERTEMENNBTEERE
KMfEst TEFRBABURMMEE S R BB EMEIGRIESE
NEEBNZREERZNIRE KL EA BT ER - )7L TR
EEBEBGIRERER BEEBEZREMNEA - EERBUR
HERNSEE S ERAR

Management estimated the loss allowance by grouping
together debtors with similar risk characteristics for collective
assessment. The ECL rates were estimated based on historical
credit loss rates for different groups and adjusted to reflect the
current and multiple forward-looking information on macro-
economic factors that are considered relevant to determine the
ability of customers to settle the receivables in the future. In
assessing the sufficiency of the ECL estimation, management
considered factors including the settlement pattern, credit profile
and on-going trading relationships with the customers.

MARCABEENRBESHEIFCIEREHRBUETEH 2 E
ERAERWERIAT = > @5 T (E IR -

For trade and lease receivables relating to accounts which
are long overdue with known liquidity issue or non-response
to collection activities, they are assessed individually for loss
allowance.

FMHE BEEEBEHREEBEZNEEM PIRBENRERERE
RREECEREEFENRUFTBAELHEN RS-

We assessed the appropriateness of the expected loss
provisioning methodology of the Group, the key assumptions
adopted and the reliability of the historical data used in
determining expected credit losses.

BRrEAREEENG TRBTENEL KB RFBEHR
FERZ ITUWEE - A B BB H o B/RENT G B1FHR
EERHR MMME SEEETNBRIERSUKERIK
AR T R 5t 8% o

We understood the past repayment history and the
collectability of all long overdue balances through discussion
with management. We corroborated management’s
assessment against available evidence, including searching
customers’ background, reviewing their historical transactions
enacted with the Group and the respective collection pattern
and plan, etc.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BPAIEZEEREERKREBNRE HEARRBREEHE
NistEESENGsTTREEREENTHERAR - B RE
BEHSRAARREERDRESHIB RN R0 KIS 1F
HEBERAE NE T BT EEHBRAR W TRARKSEH AR
A

We focused on auditing the impairment of trade and lease
receivables because the estimation of ECL is subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty and inherent risk of subjectivity.
It involved significant level of management judgement on the
selection of internal and external data from various sources that
were considered to be appropriate in their circumstances to
establish the historical credit loss experience and to adjust this

experience for expected future changes.
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BMRBEEERTBNEREMBRBAXG HEZERFE
EE%%%%Z%EH 1Bk E R EE B ARIERRE
We tested the payment profiles of sales and aging of
trade and lease receivables used in the calculation of loss
allowance, on a sample basis, to invoices, bank advices and
other relevant documents.

BRI X ZEBRZNE AR (Bl kERRENEELE
B) REBAMBEIE RS AHAER ST EREECAARETE
B EEM

We assessed the reasonableness of the use of forward-
looking information by management by cross checking the
inputs of assumptions (e.g. unemployment rates and gross
domestic product) to the relevant external data sources or
public available information.

EMIREEBUBREERFORTEAEEERBEERIER
HRENEEESRE-

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
impairment of trade and lease receivables in the context of the
HKFRS 9.

ERFETREFNER AMILAEEEENEXREBERIIRE

JE5 18 %5 85 P 1% A RO ) B K (R

RECESHNEERXR-

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that
management’s judgements and assumptions applied in relation to
the loss allowance of trade and lease receivables were supportable
by evidence obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lai Pui Ling, Sandra.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
BE_Z_—F+__B=+—HLEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

—E--%& —ToTH
2021 2020
k=3 AREFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 5 596,349 523,417
#H & R A Cost of sales 7 (482,232) (429,153)
EH Gross profit 114,117 94,264
Hig A Other income 6 1,968 4,755
Hithlk i B2 Other gains, net 6 4,796 1,598
WANTFEFAEBRZEMEET  Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets
NEEWET (B518) at fair value through profit or loss 17 18,461 (5,017)
AP SZ AR Share-based payment 26 (10,482) -
TREERERE Loss allowance for financial assets 20(b) (2,951) (3,492)
THE R ASHMAE Selling and distribution expenses 7 (25,689) (11,458)
— R RATE R General and administrative expenses 7 (47,091) (48,833)
IfEE RS Research and development expenses 7 (16,985) (10,953)
EEET Operating profit 36,144 20,864
FEUW A — P28 Finance income — net 9 1,463 1,516
DME—EEEREHEE Share of result of a joint venture 16 - (4)
B Pt 15 752 A it #) Profit before income tax 37,607 22,376
FTi8MEx Income tax expense 10 (3,346) (7,742)
FEEF Profit for the year 34,261 14,634
—EZ—F TEIERF
2021 2020
A BBl A& Al
RMB cents RMB cents
ERAFEBEEDFEA Earnings per share for profit attributable to
EhEMNzEREH ordinary equity holders of the Company
SRERRT Basic earnings per share 12 4.96 2.23
SR#EERF Diluted earnings per share 12 4.96 2.23
Lot GHF) B R R E R BE B B s — B REE o The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the

accompany notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COVMIPREHENSIVE INCOME
BE_Z_—F+A=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

—E-—% —E-TF
2021 2020
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEGH Profit for the year 34,261 14,634
Hihiz & 5518 - Other comprehensive loss:
O SEEM TIEEEmz HEH Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss
SN IEETR Currency translation differences (6,891) (3,413)
FEHMGESEE Other comprehensive loss for the year (6,891) (3,413)
FEEFERE Total comprehensive income for the year 27,370 11,221
it e el m REERMEMM G —FREE The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
RZZE_—F+°"A=+—H
As at 31 December 2021

—E-—%& —ToTE
2021 2020
ik ARBFT ANEBFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B5E ASSETS
ERBEE Non-current assets
EREE Intangible assets 13 19,641 1,262
IE BB Property, plant and equipment 14 10,450 14,474
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15 25,793 31,818
BAFEFAEBRZEREE Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 17 47,777 16,318
HELEEREKIKRTE Trade and lease receivables 20 12,698 20,557
FEIEFTSMEE Deferred income tax assets 23 2,010 -
BHRBREAERE Prepayments and rental deposits 21 271 199
f@?fﬁ_iﬁ:ﬁ_% _______ Total non-current assets 118,640 84,628
MEBEE Current assets
=78 Inventories 18 110,126 23,181
BHEE Contract assets 19 561 528
EERBERWIEE Trade and lease receivables 20 182,430 181,443
FENRIE RS R EMEWRIE  Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 21 41,109 34,212
HERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 22 189,064 212,436
f“i’ﬁ?l%? _____ Total current assets 523,290 451,800
WEE Total assets 641,930 536,428
s EQUITY
EATEE ABGR AR HE Capital and reserves attributable to owners of
the Company
B4 Share capital 26 68,447 64,479
B EE Share premium 26 213,865 187,511
Ei] Reserves 28 130,173 102,803
iR Total equity 412,485 354,793
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

RZZEZ—+ZHA=+—H
As at 31 December 2021

—E-—% —E-TF
2021 2020
Jiog=3 AEBBFT ANEBTFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
af& LIABILITIES
JEREEE Non-current liabilities
FIEFTISINEE Deferred income tax liabilities 23 4,263 -
HES®E Lease liabilities 15 9,544 17,108
WIERHERE Total non-current liabilities 13,807 17,108
piiik =N} Current liabilities
FEfTEEIRIE Trade payables 24 121,310 104,617
M5 & B R E MR I8 Accruals and other payables 25 41,910 28,619
aHNERE Contract liabilities 19 35,453 13,306
HESR& Lease liabilities 15 12,482 12,277
FE(THR IR Tax payables 4,483 5,708
wrRemad Total current liabilities 215,638 164,527
FES =R Total liabilities 229,445 181,635
HESKREE Total equity and liabilities 641,930 536,428
e HEEGBREERPEWM T —FHBE- The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
FOEI1EHZEHYBRERBEETFN T The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 199 were approved by
AT+ N\H#ERREEE- the Board of Directors on 28 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf.
HEW L=
E- HITEE
CHIEN Yi-Pin CHENG Yee Pun
Chairman Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE_Z_—F+__B=+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

AT R AEWSG
Attributable to owners of the Company

fig 7 BRiniEE k& s
Share Share Total
capital premium Reserves equity
ANRBEFT ANEEFT ANRBEFT ANBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Hizt26) (Hizt26) (Hiz228)

(Note 26) (Note 26) (Note 28)
E’:‘Zgl—fﬁ—ﬁ —HZ#%E Balance at 1 January 2021 64,479 187,511 102,803 354,793

AW ! Comprehensive income:

FEHM Profit for the year - - 34,261 34,261
Hittir & 8518 : Other comprehensive loss:

SNEMEERE Currency translation differences - - (6,891) (6,891)
FEERIZENE Total comprehensive income for the year - - 27,370 27,370
NEEABRBAZESHH Transaction with owners in their

BEANETZRS capacity as owners:

BITRAD Issuance of shares 3,968 26,354 - 30,322
UREARBEBEAZSNE Total transaction with owners in

BEANETZERS their capacity as owners 3,968 26,354 - 30,322
NZZE-—%+”-HA=+—H At 31 December 2021 68,447 213,865 130,173 412,485
NZE-_ZEF£—HB—HZ4# Balance at 1 January 2020 64,479 187,511 91,195 343,185
FAEWE Comprehensive income:

FERF Profit for the year - - 14,634 14,634
Hithiz & #5148 - Other comprehensive loss:

SN IMEERE Currency translation differences - - (3,413) (3,413)
EEREZAKES Total comprehensive income for the year - - 11,221 11,221
URERABBAZEHE Transaction with owners in their

BEANETZRS capacity as owners:

EEREKEE Employee share option schemes

—EERBEE - value of employee services - - 387 387
NEEABRBAZEHH Total transaction with owners in

BEANETZERS their capacity as owners - - 387 387

WZEZZ&HE+”"HA=+—H At 31 December 2020 64,479 187,511 102,808 354,793

PG HEDEEREERMEM N E—FRE
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conjunction with the accompany notes.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BE_Z_—F+A=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

B —E2TEHF
2021 2020
bt st AREFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
RETEZRERE Cash flows from operating activities
REEEBMEBZHRE Cash generated from operations 29(a) 15,056 56,394
YA H] 2 Interest received 2,313 2,729
BEFRERMR Income tax paid (2,309) (6,107)
KEEPmez#RE Net cash generated from operating activities 15,060 53,016
RETBHZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEYE - HBRRE Purchases of property, plant and equipment (2,059) (2,008)
HERLEE Purchase of intangible assets (1,776) (166)
HEYE EBRREFRSMNIE  Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment 29(b) - 12
MERATES ARG Purchase of financial assets at fair value
ETMEE through profit or loss (13,697) (5,196)
m—EaErELTS Contribution to a joint venture - (4)
KREETEFPAAZFRE Net cash used in investing activities (17,532) (7,362)
MEFHZHERE Cash flows from financing activities
EEREaBZELARK Repayment of capital and interest element of
Il B 285 lease liabilities 29(d) (14,399) (14,312)
RMEEZHIAZERE Net cash used in financing activities (14,399) (14,312)
RERREEEYMZ Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
GRL) /18358 cash equivalents (16,871) 31,342
REYZRERIBREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year 212,436 183,786
SMEEREHHNIRE R Effect of foreign exchange rate change
ReEBY B R on cash and cash equivalents, net (6,501) (2,692)
REXRZRERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year 22 189,064 212,436
T EHREREREER WM F—HBIE The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction

with the accompany notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”), is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda on 3 February 1994 as an exempted company under
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered office
is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The
shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 14 April 1994.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group is principally engaged in the sales of
|.T. products and software applications, and the provision of system and
network integration, information technology solutions development and
implementation, and related maintenance services to industrial, office and
retail customers.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless
otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated. The consolidated financial statements are for the Group
consisting of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(a) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

EEER KRB R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
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(b)

(c)

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair values.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The area involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or area where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

Amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments for the first
time for their annual reporting period commencing 1 January
2021:

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 Interest rate benchmark reform
and HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) COVID-19 related rent concessions

The management assessed that the amended standards
listed above did not have any impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

(d)

New and amended standards, improvements,
interpretations and Accounting Guideline (collectively
“Amendments”), issued that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group

The following Amendments have been issued but are not
effective for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2021
and have not been early adopted by the Group:

HKFRS 16
(Amendments)

COVID-19 related rent
concessions beyond 2021"

Annual improvements
project

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2018 - 20202

HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and
HKAS 37 (Amendments)

Narrow-scope amendments?

AG 5 (revised) Revised accounting guideline 5
merger accounting for common

control combinations?

HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as
(Amendments) current or non-current®

HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts®

HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 172
(Amendments)

HK Int 5 (2020) Presentation of financial

statements — classification by
the borrower of a term loan
that contains a repayment on
demand clause®
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Disclosure of accounting policies®
Practice Statement 2
(Amendments)
HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of accounting
estimates?®
Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single
transaction®
Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its
associate or joint venture*

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

4 A date to be determined

The Group will adopt these Amendments when they become
effective. The Group anticipates that the applications of the
above Amendments have no material impact on the results
and the financial position of the Group.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when
necessary to ensure consistency with policies adopted by the
Group.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or
losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3§ 929



BHMBRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

100

BEESAHREHE »

22 AHRBKREZEERE (@)

(b) HERE (&)

REFEEBE QBB ZRE
RS RAEENZEEROET
AIRETRF - REBRBETTU
B RIEARZBRTERREE
EIRBENR R EmIROKE
BN ESBREELERFHE
B > LURE (R G A0 £ @ PR ER M Y B3R

—Ho

BEDYRNEENREEREN
FE2 8FT I B R EIT R E R o

(c) EEZH

FEEERBEEMBREENS
M EZH RoE2FNg
BENER/EERE -DEEURNE
REEMNGOENKRER MILIE
BEZHNEREE - NS
R ERETEFIEIR

REEDGstE REDIERAE
SR HRETHELUNE
AEEFERKET WHEERET N
g Wt EfhiR o Wm
HELERIRES BfRS
Bo-EWABRSELENKER

BRAREREEDR-

EREBRGREDEIRNEZE
WBEERNBLEENZERNE
o (BEEAE M EKRRARK
BRRO B AEETEE—T D
B BREAERARESRANEHE

thE e ST (T ™IE -

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(b) Associates (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy

described in Note 2.8.

(c) Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
Investments in joint arrangements are classified as joint
venture. The classification depends on the contractual
rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the
legal structure of the joint arrangement. Investments in
joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of

accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from joint venture is recognised as a reduction

in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other

entity.

EEER KRB R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

2.4

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(c) Joint arrangement (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.8.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.

The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors that make
strategic decisions.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s functional
currency is Hong Kong dollars while the consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
income statement within “Other gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-
monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(if) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost amounts, net of their residual values if any, over their
estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements,
the lease term as follows:

Computer equipment 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gain or loss on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“Other gains, net” in the income statement.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Intangible assets

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software, and are amortised using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years.

Acquired software components, patents, domain names and
trademark are capitalised on the basis of the costs acquired.
They are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. They are
amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives of 8 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets that are not subject to depreciation or
amortisation are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Financial assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as following
measurement categories: (i) those measured subsequently at
fair value through profit or loss; and (ii) those to be measured
at amortised cost. The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. Management determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

For assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, gains
and losses will be recorded in profit or loss. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Financial assets (continued)

(c)

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on

the Group’s business model for managing the asset and

the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two

measurement categories into which the Group classifies its

debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection

of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in the consolidated income statements
when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL and is not part
of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss
and presented net in ‘Other gains, net’ in the period in
which it arises.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives, for
example, a convertible bond, are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments

at fair value. Changes in the fair value of financial assets at

FVPL are recognised in the consolidated income statement

as applicable.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Financial assets (continued)

(d) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with all instruments subjected
to the expected credit loss assessment. The impairment
methodology applied to debt instruments other than financial
assets through profit or loss depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 3.1(b)
details how the Group determines whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and other receivables (excluding other tax
receivables), contract assets and finance leases receivables,
the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Note 3.1(b) for further details.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined by using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

EEER KRB R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for products
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. See note
20 for further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and note 3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

Trade receivables are presented on the consolidated balance sheet
within trade and lease receivables.

Contracts assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer. A contract asset becomes a receivable when the
Group’s right to consideration is unconditional, which is the case
when only the passage of time is required before payment of
the consideration is due. The impairment of contract assets is
measured, presented and disclosed on the same basis set out in
Note 2.9(d).

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows,

cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits held
at call with banks.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables, other payables and accruals are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables, other payables and accruals are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period in the countries where the Company
and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

EEER KRB R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligations

The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans which are available to all relevant
employees. These plans are generally funded through
payments to schemes established by government or
trustee-administered funds. A defined contribution plan is a
pension plan under which the Group pays contributions on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefit relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.

Hong Kong

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to
participate in a defined contribution scheme as defined in
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”). The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group under independently administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its
employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employee’s relevant income, as defined in the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. Both the
Group’s and the employee’s contributions are subjected to a
cap of HK$1,500 per month, with contributions beyond these
amounts being voluntary. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested to the employees.

The PRC

As stipulated by rules and regulations in The PRC, the
Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its
relevant employees in The PRC. The Group and its relevant
employees make monthly contributions to the plans at the
respective statutory rates on the relevant income (comprising
salaries, allowances and bonus). The Group has no further
obligations for the actual payment of post-retirement benefits
beyond its contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire post-retirement benefits
payable to retired employees.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations (continueq)

Taiwan

The Company participates in a defined contribution pension
plan (the “New Plan”) under the Labor Pension Act (the
“Act”), covering all regular employees in Taiwan. Under
the New Plan, the Company contribute monthly an amount
based on 6% of the employees’ monthly salaries and wages
to the employees’ individual pension accounts at the Bureau
of Labor Insurance. The benefits accrued are paid monthly
or in lump sum upon termination of employment. The Group
has no further obligations for the actual payment of post-
retirement benefits beyond its contributions.

All contributions to pension plans are fully and immediately
vested and the Group had no unvested benefits available to
reduce its future contributions.

Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and
a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. Liabilities
of bonus plan are expected to be settled within twelve
months and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services

rendered by employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Share-based compensation

The Group operates a share-based compensation plan for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participates
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for example,
an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for
example, the requirement for employees to save).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
non-market performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. When
the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

The Group issued shares for the acquisition of intangible assets.
The difference between the fair value of shares issued and the fair
value of the intangible assets is recognised as an expense in the
consolidated income statement.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20

2.21

2.22

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense
within “finance cost” in the income statement.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit
or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate. Government grants are
presented in “other income” in the consolidated income statement.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods
supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.
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2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)
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Sales of goods

The Group engages in sales of I.T products including but
not limited to servers, projectors, monitors, Mondopads,
computer hardwares and softwares, and other |oT products.
Sales of goods are recognised when the control of the
products has transferred, being when the products are
delivered to the customer, the customer has full discretion
over the channel and price to sell the products, and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specified location,
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customer, and either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

Accounts receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered, this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is included
in other income.

Finance and operating lease income

The revenue recognition for the lease income under finance
and operating leases are stated in Note 2.23.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

(d)

I.T. Project

Revenues from I|.T. Project are generated from providing
services for development of tailor-made software, platform
and related hardware in smart manufacturing and other IoT
applications. The revenue is recognised based on the actual
service provided to the end of the reporting period as a
proportion of the total services to be provided because the
customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. This
is determined based on the actual labour hours spent relative
to the total expected labour hours.

The revenue of rendering of services comprises the
agreed contract amount. Some contracts include multiple
performance obligations, such as the sale of hardware,
consultation services and related installation services. Where
the contracts include multiple performance obligations, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where
these are not directly observable, they are estimated
based on expected cost plus margin. If contracts include
the installation of hardware, revenue for the hardware is
recognised at a point in time when the hardware is delivered,
the legal title has passed and the customer has accepted the
hardware.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward
completion are revised if circumstances change. Any
resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or
costs are reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the
circumstances that give rise to the revision become known
by management.

In case of fixed-price contracts, the customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If the services
rendered by the Group exceed the payment, a contract asset
is recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered,
a contract liability is recognised.

If the contract includes an hourly fee, revenue is recognised
in the amount to which the Group has a right to invoice.
Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis or according to
agreed payment terms and consideration is payable when
invoiced.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

(e) Maintenance and consulting services

Revenues from maintenance and consulting services are
recognised on a time proportion basis over the period of the
contract or when the relevant services have been rendered,
as appropriate.

(f) Financing components

For contracts where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to customers and payment by
the customers exceeds one year, the transaction prices were
adjusted for the time value of money. For the sales with credit
terms ranging from 30 to 90 days, no element of financing is
deemed present, which is consistent with market practice.

2.23 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group, except for all short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value
of the fixed lease payments.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23

2.24

Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; and

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office equipment.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor
is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and
recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis as
lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the
balance sheet based on their nature.

Lease income from finance lease recognised as finance income
based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on
the lessor’s net investment outstanding in respect of the finance
lease. At commencement of the lease term, the lessor should
record a finance lease in the balance sheet as a receivable, at an
amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The derecognition
and impairment requirements of HKFRS 9 apply to a lessor’s net
investment in a lease.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of
the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not
distributed at the end of the reporting period.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow and
fair value interest-rate risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group.
The use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk
exposures is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company. The Group would occasionally
enter into certain foreign currency forwards options to manage
its exchange risks. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes.

(a) Market risk

() Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Taiwan,
the PRC and the United States with most of the
transactions settled in HK$, RMB, United States dollars
(“USD”), New Taiwanese dollars (“NTD”) and Euro
(“EUR”). Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised assets or
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk from various currencies, primarily
with respect to USD, NTD and EUR.

Management has a policy to require group companies
to manage their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currencies. It mainly includes managing the
exposures arising from sales and purchases made
by the relevant group companies in currencies other
than their own functional currencies. The Group also
manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange
exposures and would consider the use of foreign
exchange contracts to manage its foreign exchange
risks, where appropriate.
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3.1 MBRABEZR & 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) WHHEEE (&) (a) Market risk (continued)
] SNEE A (A2 (i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
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As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and
trade and other payables were denominated in foreign
currencies, details of which have been disclosed in
the respective notes to these consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2021, for companies with RMB
as their functional currency, if USD had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the RMB, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year
would have been approximately RMB189,000 (2020:
RMB48,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange losses/gains on translation of bank balances
denominated in USD.

For a company with NTD as its functional currency,
if USD and RMB had weakened/strengthened by
5% against the NTD, with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have
been approximately RMB281,000 higher/lower and
RMB409,000 lower/higher (2020: RMB151,000 higher/
lower and RMB22,000 lower/higher), respectively,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of lease liabilities denominated in USD
and losses/gains on translation of bank balances
denominated in RMB.

For the group companies with HKD and NTD as
their functional currencies, if EUR had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HKD and NTD
respectively, with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year would have been
approximately RMB324,000 (2020: Nil) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains
on translation of bank balances, trade receivables,
prepayment and accruals denominated in EUR.
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MBRRERE @ 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 HMBRABREZR #E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) HHEE (E) (a) Market risk (continued)
) SEREEE () () Foreign exchange risk (continued)
EERA ERBBREXH In the opinion of the directors, the HK$ is reasonably
ErBrxRETHEHEET stable with respect to the USD under the Linked
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WABEREMUETHEZR with HK$ as their functional currency does not have
SRERZEREARINER any significant foreign exchange risk in respect of
B o AL MR ETTBURUE 2 transactions or balances as denominated in USD.
e Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.
(i)  HERERAFEFNFERE (i) Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk
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The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for the cash at banks, details of which
are disclosed in Note 22. The Group’s exposure to
changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its
lease liabilities, details of which are disclosed in Note
15. Lease liabilities carried at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk but management
considers that the fair value interest rate risk is
immaterial. The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

No sensitivity analysis is presented as the Group did
not have material interest bearing liabilities as at 31
December 2021.



B HM B &R RN T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

HEEEEIR @

HBERBRER (&)

3.1

(b)

EERE

RITIRE  EERAERUWIRIEL
RENEE - RERIGBHM LT
Rz HMEWHRIEEEEERRR -

()

EEEE

EERBRLOEREGHRE
1o

AEBRBORTREFN
UREB-FEKRGENK
HEMEBE BRRIFES
kEGEERE -EEEREH
FTELREAEZEHST
BHMELNEIE-

EERREEELEBERKE
RRHEFEBAONERRE R
2 —F+Z/A=+—8"
rEEREEEETRAR A
AHEAAREHEXRER
FEUWBRTEMU K &N E EMRE
40% (ZEZTHFE 148%) o &
E@ETESIFT BRI HEE
ERTERFEEZHNE
FEAEBREHIHEELN
EERB - AEE—KFE
ERE P IRMEIER

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash at banks, trade and lease
receivables and contract assets, deposits and other
receivables carried at amortised cost.

()

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis.

The majority of the Group’s cash at banks are
deposited in major financial institutions located in
Hong Kong, The PRC and Taiwan, which are in good
reputation and high credit quality. Management does
not expect any losses arising from non-performance by
these counterparties.

Credit risk includes risks resulting from risks of
concentration and counterparty default. As at 31
December 2021, the Group has concentration of credit
risk as its top 5 trade debtors represent 40% (2020:
48%) of the total trade and lease receivables and
contract assets. The Group also has policies in place
to ensure that sale of products are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history and the Group
performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers.
Normally the Group does not require collaterals from
trade debtors.
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MBEEEEREw 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (ontinued)
3.1 HBRAKRERR (&) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEREE (&) (b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) EE (i) Impairment

EEER KRB R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and
contract assets, except for those trade receivables
which are long overdue with known liquidity issue or
non-response to collective activities which are tested
individually.

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual

basis

Trade receivables relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection
of receivables are assessed individually for provision
for impairment allowance. As at 31 December
2021, full provision of these balances of individually
assessed trade receivable of RMB55,450,000 (2020:
RMB58,889,000) was provided.
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3 HMHEEMKEREw 3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 HHEAKREZR &) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEREE (& (b) Credit risk (continued)
(i JR1E (#) (i) Impairment (continued)
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Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective

basis

The Group categories its trade receivables and
contract assets, except those individually assessed,
based on the risk characteristics.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 12 months before
31 December 2021 and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables, including but not limited to the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economic
growth.

The Group has identified the Gross Domestic Products
(“GDP”) and unemployment rate of the countries in
which it sells its goods and services to be the most
relevant factor, and accordingly adjusts the historical
loss rates based on expected changes in these
factors.

The Group divided trade receivables and contract
assets into 2 categories by the geographic location of
its customers and credit risk characteristic, as follow:

- Category 1 is for customers conducting business
in Asia region

- Category 2 is for customers conducting business
in non-Asian region

With different types of customers, the Group calculated
the expected loss rate respectively.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December

2021 was determined as follows for both trade
receivables and contract assets.
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3 MBREEREw@ 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 HMBRABREZR #E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEREE (&) (b) Credit risk (continued)
(i EE (i) Impairment (continued)
EERWIEBERENEE Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
(#)
F—E PRENtEREEE Category 1: Customers conducting business in Asia
BHER region

&%z ZEAAR RE+ZEA +Zf8R

28 ok jal i jal 1 NEBH b

Up to 3t06 6to 12 Over 12

BEEKERE Trade receivables and contract 3 months months months months
RENEE assets Current past due past due past due past due Total

ABETn  ABETn ARETw ARETn ARETn ARETT
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RIEZ—-%& As at 31 December 2021

tZB=+-H
BHEEX Expected loss rates 0.7% 1.3% 4.1% 4.4% 100%
REAE Gross carrying amount 159,596 8,153 2,611 4,635 2,859 177,854
BiERE Loss allowance (1,075) (108) (108) (204) (2,859) (4,354)
REFE Net carrying amount 158,521 8,045 2,503 4,431 - 173,500
RZBZEE As at 31 December 2020

tZB=+-H
BHEERE Expected loss rates 0.3% 0.6% 3.8% 6.5% 76.3%
REAE Gross carrying amount 123,231 3,681 3,752 6,117 2,611 139,392
BREE Loss allowance (321) (21) (144) (398) (1,992) (2,876)
REFE Net carrying amount 122,910 3,660 3,608 5719 619 136,516
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3 HMBEAMEREw 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 HMBRABEZR & 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEREE (& (b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) EE () (i) Impairment (continued)
EERWRERGNEE Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
#
F2HE RIFETNHERRE Category 2: Customers conducting business in non-
EBNEER Asian region

B%ZR ZERER RE+_MAR +Zf8A

28 jal 1 jalf k.l NEBH hy

Up to 3t06 6to 12 Over 12

EEEKERE Trade receivables and contract 3 months months months months
RENEE assets Current past due past due past due past due Total

NEETn  ANBETT ARETn ARETn ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RZE--& As at 31 December 2021

tZR=t-H
BHERE Expected loss rates 0.2% 0.5% 2.6% 100% 100%
RELE Gross carrying amount 21,928 1 303 317 - 22,549
FiRaE Loss allowance (35) - ®) (317) - (360)
REZE Net carrying amount 21,893 1 295 - - 22,189
RZBZ5% As at 31 December 2020

+ZB=+-AH
BHERX Expected loss rates 0.5% 0.8% 2.0% 2.9% 2.9%
IREAE Gross carrying amount 52,626 12,602 1,173 - - 66,401
BEAE Loss allowance (265) (100) (24) - - (389)
REZE Net carrying amount 52,361 12,502 1,149 - - 66,012
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3 HBERRERE@w 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (ontinued)
3.1 HBRAKRERR (&) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEREE (&) (b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) EE (A (i) Impairment (continued)
EERKEBEBLRENEE Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
(#)
FE Total:

&%z ZEAAR RE+ZEA +Zf8R

28 ok jal i jal 1 NEBH b

Up to 3t06 6to 12 Over 12

BEEKERE Trade receivables and contract 3 months months months months
RENEE assets Current past due past due past due past due Total

ABETn  ABETn ARETw ARETn ARETn ARETT
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RIEZ—-%& As at 31 December 2021

+ZB=+-H
BHEEX Expected loss rates 0.6% 1.3% 4.0% 10.5% 100%
REAE Gross carrying amount 181,524 8,154 2,914 4,952 2,859 200,403
BiERE Loss allowance (1,110) (108) (116) (521) (2,859) (4,714)
REFE Net carrying amount 180,414 8,046 2,798 4,431 - 195,689
RZBZEE As at 31 December 2020

tZB=+-H
RHEEX Expected loss rates 0.3% 0.7% 3.4% 6.5% 76.3%
REAE Gross carrying amount 175,857 16,283 4,925 6,117 2,611 205,793
BERE Loss allowance (586) (121) (168) (398) (1,992) (3,265)
REFE Net carrying amount 175,271 16,162 4,757 5,719 619 202,528
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group,
and a failure to make contractual payments for a period
of greater than 180 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract
assets are presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same line
item.

Movement in the loss allowances for trade and lease
receivables is as follows:

T % —EEHF

2021 2020

ARHEFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

REH At the beginning of the year 62,154 62,314
EERKERIEEIEEE Loss allowance for trade receivables 2,951 3,492
F P9 A 7R BE U (B i Written off during the year as uncollectible (3,267) -
PE 72 = %8 Exchange difference (1,674) (3,652)
REXR At the end of the year 60,164 62,154
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

EEER KRB R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

Impairment (continued)

Finance leases receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
recognise lifetime expected credit loss for finance
leases receivables that results from transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 16. Given the track
record of regular cash flow received by the Group, the
directors are of the opinion that the risk of default and
expected loss rates by these counterparties is low and
does not expect any losses from non-performance
by the counterparties. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
The expected credit loss rate of the finance leases
receivable is minimal and no loss allowance was made
as at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Other financial assets at amortised costs

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
deposits and other receivables (excluding tax
recoverable).

The credit quality of other financial assets at amortised
cost has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties. Management
its credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and the impairment

considers that

provision is determined based on the 12-month
expected credit loss. The loss allowance for other
financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 December
2021 is RMB98,000 (2020: RMB98,000).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining sufficient
cash and cash equivalents and the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities
and takes into account all available information on future
business environment including among others, the economic
impact of the unprecedental COVID-19 on the economies
of the countries in which the Group and its customers and
suppliers operate.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been for
additions of property, plant and equipment, purchase of
inventories, settlement of lease liabilities, payment for trade
and other payables and payment for operating expenses.
The Group mainly finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of internal resources and bank
borrowings, as necessary.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure it maintains
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and adequate amount of
committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and long term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual

HetENENFEMRRERE 8 undiscounted cash flows, including interest payments
EERESAFETENR B computed using contractual rates, based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay.
man
—ER —£ERE WREERE REne RERE
Between Between Total
Within 1and2 2and 5 contractual Carrying
1 year years years  cash flows amount
ANEEFT ANEEFT ANEEFT AREFT ANEETRT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
ETHEEREEaEZ Contractual maturities of
EEEL G financial liabilities and
lease liabilities
RZEZ-F+"A=+—H At 31 December 2021
T EERE Trade payables 121,310 - - 121,310 121,310
et & R At E (T 28 Accruals and other payables 10,635 - - 10,635 10,635
HEARE Lease liabilities 13,216 8,721 957 22,894 22,026
145,161 8,721 957 154,839 153,971
RZZZZEFTHE=1+—H At 31 December 2020
A EERE Trade payables 104,617 - - 104,617 104,617
st ERREMETIE Accruals and other payables 8,105 - - 8,105 8,105
HEAE Lease liabilities 13,206 11,583 5,928 30,717 29,385
125,928 11,583 5,928 143,439 142,107
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3.2

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

NEEMLE 3.2 Fair value estimation

TREBUGFEATFTEZGHERMT@E A The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value

REEREN 2 —FRZZEZERF as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 by level of inputs to valuation

+ZB=+—HRATFEIEZE/MT techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised

BETOM -BRAAAZIBTEATFERER into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

RREAUT=EER

J FEEEREBEN EREME 2R . Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
B CGREHAE) (B4h—) assets or liabilities (level 1).

. FTABR—Z2RELUN 2 EBEERE . Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
Bz BEE BMER) IEE BTE are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
BER) THRRH AR BRI - as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o FEERTBREMSEEZEEN . Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
BEMAZE BIEERH AR observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level
(B#H=) - 3).

= = st
Level 1 Level 3 Total
ANEEFT ANEEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
N2+ _-_F=+—H At 31 December 2021
BATEFABHRZEREE Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

—EHRAES — Listed equity securities 3,501 - 3,501

—JE MR AFES — Unlisted equity securities - 35,413 35,413

—JFLHmES — Unlisted fund - 8,863 8,863

3,501 44,276 47,777

RIEZEF+"A=+—H At 31 December 2020

BATEFABRZEMEE Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
—FE LR AES - Unlisted equity securities - 16,318 16,318

ERNBR— BRIEBHR =B
W (CE_FE M) o

R-B-—F+-A=+—8 BATE
B ASR 2 B A T 98 9 2 4 R
HE AR REEBETE

There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year
(2020: Nil).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were valued as

at 31 December 2021 based on quoted market price in an active
market, recent transaction and net asset value.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.2

Fair value estimation (continued)

(a)

Financial instruments in level 3

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded

in an active market is determined by using valuation

techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little
as possible on entity specific estimates. If one or more of the
significant inputs is not based on observable market data,

the instrument is included in level 3.

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

TEZEH:
T —F —ETEH
2021 2020
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
w—A—H As 1 January 16,318 17,529
wE Addition 9,000 5,196
NFEREZ (B8) Fair value gains/(losses) 19,633 (5,017)
ERERE Exchange difference (675) (1,390)
w+-_B=+—H As 31 December 44,276 16,318
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3 HMBEKRERE@w 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 AFEME ) 3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) HEEBR=AHLHITA (&) (a) Financial instrument in level 3 (continued)
TRBRER =LA FEFEFTH The following table summarizes the quantitative information
NERFEERGABBZEEE about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair
[N value measurements:
RIEZ—F
+-A=+—H FEERHA
Ei:: HWATE HEAE EHERH AR YEHE
Fair value at Range of
31 December Valuation Unobservable unobservable
Description 2021 technique input input
ARET
RMB’000
JEEMRAEES 35,143 SRR A A
RNERS (W)
Unlisted equity securities Reference to comparable N/A N/A

recent arm’s length
transactions (Note (i)

FERES 8,863 BEFE (W) TER TEA

Unlisted fund Net asset value N/A N/A
(Note (if)

44,276

Vo Note:

(i) NEBEEERRSEHKR T (i) The Group has determined that prices in comparable recent
AL AT ZHBREIE FH arm’s length transactions approximate the fair value of the
RAESHEN AT ERE - unlisted equity investment at the end of the reporting period.

(ii) AEBEEERHRSHPERJFEL (ii) The Group has determined that the reported net asset value
TESKENCDREEESFEA approximates fair value of the unlisted fund investment at the
NFAEAE o end of the reporting period.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.2

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

(b) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortised costs

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial
assets, including cash and cash equivalents, trade and
lease receivables and contract assets, deposits and other
receivables, and the Group’s current financial liabilities
including trade payables, accruals and other payables and
lease liabilities, approximate their fair values due to their
short maturities. The carrying amounts of non-current trade
and lease receivables, rental deposits and lease liabilities
approximate their fair values which are estimated based on
the discounted cash flows.

(c) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group has no financial assets and financial liabilities,
which is subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangements and similar agreements.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities.

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance sheet)
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as
“equity”, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net
debt.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group was at net cash
position.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)

(b)

Expected credit loss of trade and lease receivables

The Group makes loss allowance for trade and lease receivables
based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates, including the economic impact
of the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic on the operations of the
Group and the countries in which it operates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used
are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.1(b)(ii).

Revenue recognition of rendering of services for I.T.
Projects

The Group recognises certain revenue on the rendering of services
by reference to the percentage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period, when the outcome of a
contract can be estimated reliably. The percentage of completion
is measured by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date compared to the estimated
total contract costs to be incurred under the transaction, or the
value of services performed to date as a percentage of the value
of total services to be performed under the transaction. Significant
assumptions such as the total budgeted staff costs, are required
to estimate the total contract costs and/or the percentage of
completion. The estimates are made based on past experience and
knowledge of management.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions where
its subsidiaries operate. Significant judgement is required in
determining provisions for income taxes. There are certain
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

The Group is also exposed to other taxes and duties. Significant
judgement is required in determining these provisions. Where the
final outcomes of these matters differ from the actual results, such
difference will impact the provisions made and the earnings stated
in the income statement.

Estimation of the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss that are not traded in an active market is determined using
valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a
variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. For
details of the key assumptions used and the impact of changes to
these assumptions (Note 3.2(a)).

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and
the historical experience of selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in customer
taste and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycle.
Management reassesses these estimates at each reporting date.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive
directors (collectively referred to as the “Chief Operation Decision
Maker” or “CODM”) that make strategic decisions. The CODM reviews
the internal reporting of the Company and its subsidiaries in order
to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segment based on the Group’s development
plan and the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The management
determined to divide its operation into three segments as follows:

1. Industrial Solution Business

- The provision of smart manufacturing solutions and services
to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of production
lines, plant facilities and the management of industrial parks.

2. Smart Office Business

- The provision of video conference related solutions plus
brand licensing and supply chain management of smart office
equipment.

3. New Retail Business
- The provision of digital retail signage solutions.

Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic business
unit that is managed by the respective business unit leaders. CODM
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of profit before income tax. Other information provided to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

Assets of reportable segments exclude corporate assets (mainly including
corporate cash and cash equivalents, property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, prepayments and other receivables, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and deferred income tax assets), all of
which are managed on a central basis. Liabilities of reportable segments
exclude corporate liabilities (mainly including lease liabilities, accruals,
other payables, tax payables and deferred income tax liabilities). These
are part of the reconciliation to total balance sheet assets and liabilities.
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WA RS HBEE @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continueq)
BES-—H+ZRA=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021
TERR
FRER SENRAER MTEER et
Industrial Smart
Solution Office New Retail
Business Business Business Total
AREFT AREFT AREFT ANREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA (f1zta) Revenue (Note a) 333,260 235,950 27,139 596,349
EROMWZEE Results of reportable segments 44,352 3,249 3,731 51,332
2HRDI EERFE G Z A reconciliation of results of
HARWT - reportable segments to
profit for the year is as follows:
ERDWZEE Results of reportable segments 51,332
FAEWA EX) Unallocated income/(expenses)

(Ht&Eb) (Note b) (17,071)
FE#HFA Profit for the year 34,261
HthoaEEN - Other segment information:

EARMZH Capital expenditures 3,570 20,037 - 23,607
ME B RREITE Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 3,534 204 - 3,738
FERAREENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9,317 - - 9,317
mEEEH Amortisation of intangible assets 883 1,893 - 2,776
SHEERERSG Loss allowance for financial assets 2,455 469 27 2,951
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
BE_Z_ZE+_A=+—HLEEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020
TEMBA
FRER BEBRRER MEEER “ast
Industrial Smart
Solution Office New Retail
Business Business Business Total
NEBEFT NEEFT NEBTFT ANEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA (ffzta) Revenue (Note a) 250,482 233,215 39,720 523,417
ERAPZEE Results of reportable segments 31,614 8,744 5,454 45,812
2RO EERFETF 2 A reconciliation of results of
HIRWT - reportable segments to
profit for the year is as follows:
ERDBZEE Results of reportable segments 45,812
KABWA S (FI) Unallocated income/(expenses)

(Htztb) (Note b) (31,178)
FE#HF Profit for the year 14,634
HthoEEN - Other segment information:

BEAMESH Capital expenditures 8,926 186 - 9,112
W MR R R EITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 3,653 45 - 3,698
EREEERNE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9,443 - - 9,443
mLEE#H Amortisation of intangible assets 828 79 - 907
SREERFERE Loss allowance for financial assets 3,037 440 15 3,492
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(continued)
Wizt Note:
(a) SDFEEBREHZWA (a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
AEBU T EEE RIS RSB RNREER The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time
BB EEERERBEEWA and at a point in time in the following major product lines:

BE_E-_—H+°"HA=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

TEBR
BRER BEMAES MTEER st
Industrial
Solution Smart Office New Retail
Business Business Business Total
ARBTT ARBT T ARBFT ARBFT
I A TSR Z B Timing of revenue recognition RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EARFEEE I.T. projects
— A B R B — At a point of time 119,062 56,041 26,976 202,079
—BEE R — Over time 145,156 11,788 163 157,107
HIERE MRS Maintenance and
consulting services
— M R — Over time 49,336 1,088 - 50,424
HEAR Sales of goods
— A B R B — At a point of time 16,299 167,033 = 183,332
FMERAEKRA Finance lease income 404 = = 404
REHERA (4722) Operating lease income (note) 3,003 - = 3,003
333,260 235,950 27,139 596,349
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Note: (continued)

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

HE_ZTF+_RA=1+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

TERA
FHRER BEMAES MTEEH @t
Industrial
Solution Smart Office New Retail
Business Business Business Total
ANEBFT ANBEFT ANEEFT ANEEFT
I ARESE 2 R R Timing of revenue recognition RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
El#HIER I.T. projects
— PR E B F R B - At a point of time 63,695 33,764 30,892 128,351
—BEE RS - Over time 114,897 12,365 8,828 136,090
B R EHRTE Maintenance and consulting
services
—FEERRE - Over time 47,955 2,441 - 50,396
HEER Sales of goods
— PR E B F R B - At a point of time 21,219 184,645 - 205,864
MEHEERA Finance lease income 404 - - 404
EBEWA (f772) Operating lease income (note) 2,312 - - 2,312
250,482 233,215 39,720 523,417
Vo= Note:

KERBERAETEHRAZTREERARSERE
TERtRAMBUERETERBEEREENK

Ao charging a fixed monthly rental charge.

Operating lease income represents the income mainly generated from leasing
of servers, and operating the automated systems, to its customers by
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Note: (continued)

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (continueqd)

Revenue by geographical location is determined by the destination where the
services and products were delivered. Revenue from customers on the basis
of customers’ locations is analysed as follows:

——F —ETEH

2021 2020

ARETFT ANEBETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

h The PRC 338,561 254,393
BUM Europe 54,233

EH The United States 50,215 195,830

=F Taiwan 58,081 70,595

=CuEEPIETES Other Asian countries 95,259 2,599

596,349 523,417

HEZE-_—F+ZHA=+—HIEFE BTA
HARM94,819,0007T (ZEZZFF | AR
175 264,0007T) RE—RE—&FF ({hAREER

HBRA16% (CE T F :133%) HE_T - —
£E+_H:+—E|Jt£ﬁr;’¥ﬂz!:$£ﬁéﬁ
ZIHEMBEAERBRANILIS (ZT T
£ 159%) °

BE_Z-_—EF+°"B=+—HLEEE KA
# NER%280,085,0007t (ZE-ZF 1 AR
210,480,0007T) R ERIEA LIREEE TER
DAERABIREEEBAE  (HAEBBLIRA4T%
(ZZZTF 1 40%) c ZEZTF > KEETT
HEGEREES WAL ARE2,060,0007T

For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue of approximately
RMB94,819,000 (2020: RMB175,264,000), representing 16% (2020: 33%)
of the Group’s total revenue, is derived from a single customer. For the year
ended 31 December 2021, sales to the five largest customers of the Group
in total accounted for approximately 44% (2020: 59%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue of approximately
RMB280,085,000 (2020: RMB210,480,000), representing 47% (2020:
40%) of the Group’s total revenue, is derived from related parties, Hon Hai
Precision Industry Company Limited and its group companies. The Group also
generated revenue of approximately RMB2,060,000 from its joint venture in
2020.
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WABRDEHBER @

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

M (& Note: (continued)

(b) RABMA (BZ) FEBOERCEE@AES (b)  Unallocated income/(expenses) mainly include government subsidies, fair
NERFHE - RATEFAEZZEMEEZ value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, finance
NEERT (BB MEBRA-EBERHNH income, employment benefit expenses, depreciation of property, plant and
T ME-MBEREEBENE - ERAREETE equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets, share-based payment, legal
BROSZARE A ERBEER FERESZR and professional fees, income tax expense and other operating expenses
Hh&@Emsz o incurred at corporate level.

REN A EEAFE R BEAIRWT ¢

A reconciliation of operating segments’ results to total profit for the year is provided

as follows:
T —F —ECEF
2021 2020
AREFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
DEBEE Segment results 51,332 45,812
KABBA S (BX) : Unallocated income/(expenses):
— AT #E D - Government subsidies 1,653 4,349
—BAFESFABRZZ EMEE — Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair
ZAFEWRE (E518) value through profit or loss 18,461 (5,017)
—RE WA - Finance income 2,313 2,729
— W E B RREITE - Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (2,330) (2,866)
—EREEERE - Depreciation of right-of-use assets (3,745) (3,280)
— B EEEH - Amortisation of intangible assets - (87)
—EFEREXER - Legal and professional fees (2,139) (5,459)
—EEEFMEZ - Employment benefit expenses (13,349) (9,889)
— R IRE - Share-based payment (10,482) -
— Z BB = - Auditors’ remuneration (1,810) (1,757)
—PriEMMAx - Income tax expense (3,346) (7,742)
— HAh ~ Others (2,297) 2,159)
FEHA Profit for the year 34,261 14,634
BE_E- SR E-EF+_B=+—HILHE During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, all capital expenditure were
EoFFEEAMSEIIREPFEH & RER- incurred in the PRC, Taiwan and the United States.
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WA RDEER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
RZEZ—f+ZHA=+—H
As at 31 December 2021
TERR
FRER SENRAER MTEER et
Industrial
Solution Smart Office New Retail
Business Business Business Total
AREFT AREFT AREFT ANREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NEEE Segment assets
DEPEE Segment assets 234,397 154,674 5,471 394,542
HMRDEEEE Other unallocated assets
(ft5ta) (Note a) 247,388
EHEERGRNEEE Total assets per
consolidated balance sheet 641,930
AEBaE Segment liabilities
DEBE Segment liabilities 84,800 77,599 21,171 183,570
Hitknica®E Other unallocated liabilities
(Ht&tb) (Note b) 45,875
EHEEEERNEESR Total liabilities per
consolidated balance sheet 229,445

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited



B R RN
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5 WARDHBER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

RZEZEHE+”"R=+—H
As at 31 December 2020

TEMBA
FEERE BERAER WEEER HEr
Industrial
Solution Smart Office New Retail
Business Business Business Total
ANEBFT AEBFT AEBEFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
DBEE Segment assets
IHPEE Segment assets 201,406 93,385 5,927 300,718
Hi K DEEE Other unallocated assets
(Htzta) (Note a) 235,710
EHEERRRNEEE Total assets per
consolidated balance sheet 536,428
SHaE Segment liabilities
NHBEE Segment liabilities 95,884 52,127 205 148,216
Htkpnkas Other unallocated liabilities
(H152b) (Note b) 33,419
AHEERRRNEEE Total liabilities per
consolidated balance sheet 181,635

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3§ 147



AR BRRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 WARDIHER @

Htat -

(a) N B R _EZEF+_/A=+—H>
HMANREETZORELAAEAZHEERER
SEBY - ME - BBERLE ERAREE A
TREREMERSRE - RAFES ABHZZ
SRMEEURIEILEFREREE-

RENMz EELQEEHRNT ¢

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, other unallocated assets mainly included
cash and cash equivalents, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
prepayments and other receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and deferred income tax assets for corporate usage.

Operating segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

—E-—F ZZTEF

2021 2020

AREFT ANEBBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

ERNMWZNEBEE Segment assets for reportable segments 394,542 300,718
FPEEE Unallocated assets

—HehkREEEY — Cash and cash equivalents 189,064 212,436

— W E B RRE — Property, plant and equipment 1,088 3,372

—EAREE - Right-of-use assets 5,903 2,644

— B A K E M E W IE - Prepayments and other receivables 1,546 940

—BAFEFABRZEREE — Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 47,777 16,318

—RIEFTISREE - Deferred income tax assets 2,010 -

EHEESBERNEEE Total assets per consolidated balance sheet 641,930 536,428

FER RDEEERNFENE BERIBEUR
FEREBES A AREES 000 (ZEE
£ AR %89,0007T) K A R#8,549,0007T (=
T T F . ARHE3,070,0007T) ©

AR —ERCEEBE+_A=+—8>
FEBZ KD IERBEEMMNPE MEAM
AR ES BB KRER-

During the year, the addition to property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets in unallocated assets were RMB68,000 (2020: RMB89,000) and
RMB8,549,000 (2020: RMB3,070,000), respectively.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, majority of the Group’s non-current assets
were located in the PRC with others located in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the
United States.

(b) RIE - —FER_E_EF+_B=+—H" (o)  As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, other unallocated liabilities mainly
Htk DA BEZTEBEADEREZENE included accruals, other payables, lease liabilities, tax payables and deferred
AHEMEMRE-HEaE BNREREL income tax liabilities for corporate usage.

FrigiiadEe-
RENPzBBERBEEHENT ! Operating segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:
—s-—% ==
2021 2020
ARETFT ANEBETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERNWBzAHBEE Segment liabilities for reportable segments 183,570 148,216
E Pl =N Unallocated liabilities
—ESt B AR EMERIE - Accruals and other payables 31,415 23,638
—BE&8E - Lease liabilities 5,714 4,073
— R — Tax payables 4,483 5,708
—RIEFTISIREaE - Deferred income tax liabilities 4,263 -
AHEEABERNEAE Total liabilities per consolidated balance sheet 229,445 181,635
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6 HtUWwWAKRHEMIE FEE 6 OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET
T % —EEHF
2021 2020
AEBBFT ANEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT #E B Government subsidies 1,653 4,349
Hi Others 315 406
E g A Other income 1,968 4,755
HEME WBERREZFHIE Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment 2 (3)
PE %2 U & /3 B8 Net exchange gains 2,803 947
Hi Others 1,995 654
HihW B 28 Other gains, net 4,796 1,598
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Bt 2% 7 EXPENSES BY NATURE
B =g 58
2021 2020
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EMREER ZBEEREREMRA R  Costs of hardware and software for I.T. projects and

HEGmA A cost of goods sold 377,984 359,819
EEGHHZ (BIEEEMNE) Employment benefit expenses (including directors’

(B1at8) emoluments) (Note 8) 121,098 86,012
SNELE A Sub-contracting fee 450 7,739
ME BB EINE (Wat14) Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment (Note 14) 6,068 6,564
EREEERE B15) Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) 13,062 12,723
RIS ERRMZ M (HiE15) Expenses relating to short term leases (Note 15) 578 341
RBERYS Travelling expenses 2,586 2,624
FRREEER Legal and professional fees 7,239 9,054
B E Consultancy fees 16,239 1,657
WMAERT Office expenses 4,123 2,855
ELEESE WE13) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 13) 2,776 994
1Z 2L Em Bl = Auditors’ remuneration

—BIZR — Audit services 1,810 1,757
GFERERE (EE18) Provision for impairment of inventories (Note 18) - 580
MAkBERS Logistic and warehouses expenses 6,992 -
EBEH% Advertising expenses 458 183
Hz Other expenses 10,534 7,495

571,997 500,397
BHAKRIR Representing:

5 & Al AR Cost of sales 482,232 429,153

THE RZHEMAX Selling and distribution expenses 25,689 11,458

— R RITEAX General and administrative expenses 47,091 48,833

REER Research and development expenses 16,985 10,953

571,997 500,397
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8 EERAMEX 8 EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
BiEEEMEe 2 BER®FBEIOT : Employment benefit expenses, including directors’ emoluments, consist
of:
T —F TECEE
2021 2020
AEBBFT ANEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e~ TE R Wages, salaries and allowances 93,116 71,280
BRYEERESEZERE Share options granted to directors and employees - 387
TE4T Bonus 10,341 5,605
BIRE A — ERE R E Pension costs — defined contribution plans 6,942 1,025
B REAMF R Welfare and other benefits 10,699 7,715
121,098 7,715
9 RMEWA-—FE 9 FINANCE INCOME - NET
e —% —ETEH
2021 2020
AEBEFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE WA Finance income
RITE R B U A Interest income from bank deposits 2,313 2,729
2,313 2,729
=N Finance cost
HEaENERX Wat15) Interest expenses for lease liabilities (Note 15) (850) (1,213)
FRIE WA Net finance income 1,463 1,516
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FRiSTR B X 10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
AANBIEEREERENEB-FSEFESRLIR The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda. Hong Kong profits
BESAELEI FESBZMEREREF tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the
#16.5% (CB-F4F . 16.5%) 2 R RIZH*E estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong. Group
B-BE_ZE_—F+ZA=F+—HIEFEE >F companies established and operating in the PRC, Taiwan and the United
CEBEREBRIKREEZEB AR AMNS States are subject to corporate income tax at the rate of 25%, 20%
B EFERREDFAH25% 20%/430% (= and 30% (2020: 15%, 20% and 30%) respectively, for year ended 31
TTEE 1 15%20%/%30%) UL TEIBRE December 2021, except for those specified below.
FRIN o
RESMENMEERMBEERR EbmBES Two of the subsidiaries in the PRC were approved by the relevant
BFAEIEMEBMARBHEILE DAHZE local tax bureaus under the preferential tax policy for the high and new
TEFEZSI_FRHIZEI—FECZZ technology enterprises, and were entitled to a preferential corporate
TR EEEREMEBRIREIS%- income tax rate of 15% from 2020 until 2022 and 2021 until 2023,
respectively.
—EZ—%F —E2IEF
2021 2020
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EHRIE Current taxation
—REFE — Current year 3,988 5,397
—RBEFE (BRBEEE) — (Over)/under-provision in prior year
BERR (2,904) 240
1,084 5,637
TR Withholding tax - 2,105
FRIEFRIBRA S Deferred income tax expenses 2,262 -
3,346 7,742
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10 FRSIRAX @

REBEFRSRANGMN 2B BRABEAR
AHERBGERZMETHREMELE ZERR

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continueq)

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate

R EZRENT applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:
B —ETEHF
2021 2020
ARHEFT ANEHEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRPTEMATEF Profit before income tax 37,607 22,376
BRERPREBEARE RN Z Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to
EMMEHEZRE profits in the respective jurisdiction 6,843 4,057
BEFRHZMA Income not subject to tax (767) (217)
ENGIEE - Expenses not deductible 4,188 2,497
W R SRIRIEPR IS IR 2 Other temporary differences for which no deferred
Eﬂﬂﬁﬁlﬁ’l_%#ﬁ income tax were recognised (174) 109
IBERERIDZ Recognition of temporary differences and tax losses
§EE¥ 4 ERERIRIEEIE previously not recognised (200) -
TR SRERSRNEEZ Tax losses for which no deferred income tax assets
MIEEE were recognised 470 1,803
FRBEERERE ZIRIBELEE Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (1,164) (943)
RBEERE (BEEE) /BB E  (Over)/under-provision for previous year (2,904) 240
—EFRETFABEREZENR Withholding tax on dividend of a PRC subsidiary - 2,105
—BEETFRBZAMNEEER Profit retention tax for a Taiwan subsidiary 253 189
MBEE Tax incentives (3,199) (2,098)
FRiEMBE Income tax expense 3,346 7,742

AZEZ—F+ZRHA=+—RB > AEBLER
MIEEE AR IE27,821,00070 (CEZFHF : A
R #42,150,0007T) BeBIEILEFAISINEE AR
#4,361,0007c (ZEZZF : AR7,831,000
70) cWLEREARNIBBIBA BB EZRRIRA
EEo M mAESARIEGIBN ERPGHE (T2
TZE . ARUE15,479,0007T) © & FIRIER B
HARM27,821,000T (ZEZTF : AR
26,671,00070) R 2 FEm (ZTZE
FE RIZZHEERM) °

RHERGESETABZAERERAZEN
MK DB B5%R21% R _E - —F+_H
=t+-—R TERETHERAETATNZR
(EH A ARK108,856,00070 (T - F4F .
AR #124,571,0007T) HEREN 2 FEINRB9IE
IEFFEIRIBEEE AR 7,346,000 (22
F . AR18,365,0007T) » RAAZERIERH
REEE-

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of RMB4,361,000 (2020: RMB7,831,000) in respect of tax
losses amounting to RMB27,821,000 (2020: RMB42,150,000). These
unutilized tax losses can be carried forward against future taxable
income. None of the unutilized tax losses can be carried forward
indefinitely (2020: RMB15,479,000). The remaining tax losses of
approximately RMB27,821,000 (2020: RMB26,671,000) will expire by
2026 (2020: expire by 2025).

The withholding tax rate for unremitted earnings of subsidiaries
operated in The PRC and Taiwan are 5% and 21%, respectively. As at
31 December 2021, deferred income tax liabilities of RMB7,346,000
(2020: RMB8,365,000) have not been recognised for withholding tax that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain PRC and Taiwan
subsidiaries of RMB103,856,000 (2020: RMB124,571,000) as such
accounts will be reinvested.
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1 ERMERER (KIEEAE(R 11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

— Paxand

sl {% B ) (55622F) F3831% (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
= =a &= _\_& = LN

(n7E] (REEZNmE ) K 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES

) (35622GE) B HB LR ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES

Bl 4% B8 FEK) (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES)

(a) EEKREREITEHRASFHH (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
HE_Z—F+A=+—HILEHFE> The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
RNBEZESZFHMETMT : year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

REAREARAREFARNEZZEMARLHE
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HESER
FAFH
HFRRAZER
EH 2 EMEH
EhEdipEd]
Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
RERES director’s
H{IB{% other services
EBERHKER FEft %M in connection
B/t Remuneration with the
HEfhEdz Employer’s paidor  management
f45t%E  contribution receivable  of the affairs
Estimated toa in respect of of the
MEEAa B2 money i pting  Company or
ik #%  Discretionary Housing value of benefit office as its subsidiary 5t
EEHE Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses allowance other benefits scheme director undertaking Total
AEEFT AEEFT AREFT AEEFT AEEFT ABEFT AEEFT ARETFT AEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HiTES Executive directors
BEWEE Mr CHIEN Yi-Pin - - = = = = = - -
EhiEnk Mr CAI Liting
(#1TR) (Chief Executive Officer) = - = = o - - - -
BRERE Mr KAO, Chao Yang - = o o - - - - _
BEREE Mr. CHENG, Yee Pun - 1,023 185 - - 15 - - 1,223
gt Sub-total - 1,023 185 = - 15 - - 1,223
FHTES Non-executive directors
PARK Ho Jin%c% Mr PARK Ho Jin
(H3ti) (Note j) - - - - - - - - -
JEON Eui Jong  Mr JEON Eui Jong (Note i)
K& Wiz - = = = = - - - -
BIJEHITES  Independent non-executive
directors
BREKE Mr TANG Tin Lok Stephen 100 - - - - - - - 100
BEARE Mr KAN Ji Ran Laurie 100 - - - - - - - 100
RERHE Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan
(Watii) (Note fi) 100 - - - - = = = 100
Nt Sub-total 300 - - - - - - - 300
5t Total 300 1,023 185 - - 15 - - 1,523
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(a)

EEk&

HE_S-SFET-A=+—ALFE

BITBASHM (&)

ERBREBFZHMETIMT ¢

11

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

REAREAARIEFARNESZENARAHE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HEEEH

VNG

HYRAZER
FHZEMBE

BT R

Emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect of

HEAES director’s
BABMAE  other services

EERIER FEFTHB  in connection
S Remuneration with the
HEigRz Employer's paidor  management
EatEE contribution receivable of the affairs
Estimated toa in respect of of the
METEAL fEER money retirement accepting Company or
ne #%  Discretionary Housing value of benefit office as its subsidiary st
ERs Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses allowance  other benefits scheme director undertaking Total
NEEF NEEFT NEEF NEEF NEBFm NEBF NEEFT NEBTFm ANEEFr
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WTES Executive directors
BEWEE Mr CHIEN Yi-Pin - - - - - - - - _
EhfEns Mr CAl Liting
#i7R) (Chief Executive Officer) - - - - - . - _ _
BRELE Mr KAO, Chao Yang - - - _ _ _ B ~
SEEE Mr. CHENG, Yee Pun - 1,038 186 - - 16 - - 1,240
N Sub-total - 1,038 186 - - 16 - - 1,240
FHTES Non-executive directors
HBERE Mr TSE Tik Yang, Denis
(Hiztiv) (Note iv) - - - - - - - - _
JEON Eui Jong  Mr JEON Eui Jong (Note i)
& (stin) - - - - - - _ _ _
BIEHTEE  Independent non-executive
directors
BRERE Mr TANG Tin Lok Stephen 107 - - - - - - - 107
BEARE Mr KAN Ji Ran Laurie 107 - - - - - - - 107
RERHE Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan (Note /i)
(Histin) 80 - - - - - - - 80
BIZas Mr CHEN Timothy (Note v)
(Hiztv) 27 - - - - - - - 27
gt Sub-total 321 - - - - - - - 321
Bzt Total 321 1,038 186 - - 16 - - 1,561
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(a)

EEZRBERITHRASHMN (&)
BE_ZT-_—FRZFTZTF+A
=T —HLEFE ARBEERZHNE
FaT (8 ¢

Waki: RZ2Z-—F=ZA=+—H%

ZIAFERTES

Meski: WZZ-_—F=ZB=+—H#
EIERNITES

MisEii: RZE_ZEE=-B=+—H%#
EEABIIERTES

Mstiv: RZZ_ZFE+ At HEE
JFEHITES

Mztv: RZZE_ZF=H=+—H0#
EBIIERTES

11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)
The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is set out below
(Continued):

Note i:  Appointed as a non-executive director on 31 March 2021

Note ii: Resigned as a non-expective director on 31 March 2021

Note iii: Appointed as an independent non-executive director on
31 March 2020

Note vi: Resigned as a non-executive director on 7 December
2020

Note v: Resigned as an independent non-executive director on
31 March 2020
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11 EEHEREDS KESHE(2 11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(b) ZHRSFMAL (b) Five highest paid individuals

AEBFRNALARSTMALTHAR—%5

EF(CETF . —8) BZHMNES

SNSRI\ P =

One of the five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year were directors (2020: One) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 11(a).

FREMGTEEG (CE22F 1 ME) A

The emoluments payable to the remaining four (2020: four)

TZEBMTE individuals during the year are as follows:
B —ETEH
2021 2020
ARHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e TERER Wages, salaries and allowances 2,575 3,359
TE4T Bonus 1,061 1,551

BARET A Pension costs

—ERBHEETE — defined contribution plans 138 101
@A R HAF) &= Welfare and other benefits 188 108
3,962 5,119

BRNALTZHBEUTHEER : The emoluments of the remaining individuals fell within the following

bands:
A
Number of individuals

e % —ETEH

2021 2020

AR #500,0007t = A K #1,000,0007T RMB500,000 to RMB1,000,000 3 -
AR %1,000,001;cE A K 11,500,00070 RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 1 3
AR %1,500,001;c & A K 1#2,000,0007¢ RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 - 1
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(c)

(d)

(e)

(f

EEZRAEN R BERA =

FRNBBREEREREARATIREFAT
T2 AR 75 M & W ER SRR U EBRAE ) 2R 1K 48
BB (T2 FF 1 E) -

MERHESRBEMAETE=ZAZAE

FR RABWERARBERBESER
BMAERNSE=ZANENAE (TEZ

TE | o

ERBREZ ZFEFZREFZEA
ERERZEHNERZER BUERRK
Hthx B2 &8

RERFFREAERE > KA HERF
ZFRAE (MNER) TEITIERESE %
EREFER 2 EANBRBREERNES
ERMEBEZERZERER AUERKE
MRG (CBEZBE M)

BEENXB - HHASHPZERTHE

RERBAFNEAGE AATDESHE
EARBZRIITAAEREBAR
BEARRG ZHREHTERRBEEESR
FREAMNGE (CEZBF M) o

11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits in respect of their services to the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year (2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, the Company has not paid any consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services to the
Company (2020: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
controlled entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into
by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of the Company, where
applicable, in favor of the directors, or body corporate controlled
by or entities connected with any of the directors at the end of the
year or at any time during the year (2020: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2020: Nil).
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12 SRER

(a)

(b)

B

RERBNDRBEFRARNRABDEAE
BABGEREFBUBETEER (FEHE
BFRM) INEFHIHTHE-

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue excluding treasury
shares, during the year.

- —%F —EITH
2021 2020
NABRERIFB ARLET] Profit attributable to equity holders of the
ANER¥F) Company (RMB’000) 34,261 14,634
BEITEERMNETSH Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
(FA2) issue (°000) 691,312 654,863
R EAREF] Basic earnings per share
(9127 A E N B WAL (rounded to RMB cents) 4.96 2.23
g (b) Diluted

SREERMNDZAEEBETEERMN
BTHY URRFAAE#HEETSERE
Bt 8 - RIBEE RS BIR F TR
ROBEENETETEER HETEX
BATE BEATLADRMNESAMER
MHENTHH WENRMNEE 2R
BARTEBREMNNODERNEEE
BEfEHAE - PR ENROBEELAR
RBRBETEMAIETHRMOUEAR
EEo

HE-S_—5R_S_FE+_F
=+ —BLEFRE B B A R
M SRERNRERERERZS
B/iam-

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. Shares issuable
under the share option schemes are the only dilutive potential
ordinary shares. A calculation is made in order to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average daily quoted market share price
of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to the outstanding share options.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, dilutive
earnings per share was of the same amount as the basic earnings
per share as the share options were anti-dilutive.
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13 |MICEE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
B E I R
Hhsn 484 B et
Acquired
patents and
other software Computer
components software Total
ANEBEFT ANEBBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
H-ZE-ZEH—HF—H At 1 January 2020
D% Cost - 11,773 11,773
KEt Accumulated amortisation - (9,683) (9,683)
REEE Net book amount - 2,090 2,090
BE_ZT-_ZH+-"H=+—H Year ended 31 December 2020
IHEFE
BRI ERERE Opening net book amount - 2,090 2,090
wE Additions - 166 166
Wi (HyE7) Amortisation (Note 7) - (994) (994)
BARERERME Closing net book amount - 1,262 1,262
AZE-FTHF+ZH=+—HK At 31 December 2020 and
—E-—%—H—H 1 January 2021
DN Cost - 11,939 11,939
RET i Accumulated amortisation - (10,677) (10,677)
REFE Net book amount - 1,262 1,262
BE_E_-_—F+_-B=+—H Year ended 31 December 2021
IHFEE
AR E R E Opening net book amount - 1,262 1,262
RE Additions 19,840 1,776 21,616
iy (maE7) Amortisation (Note 7) (1,894) (882) (2,776)
PEE &2 2= 58 Exchange difference (461) - (461)
HACRER MR E Closing net book amount 17,485 2,156 19,641
WZfE=Z—H+=-HA=+—H At 31 December 2021
B AR Cost 19,346 13,715 33,061
RET Accumulated amortisation (1,861) (11,559) (13,420)
REFE Net book amount 17,485 2,156 19,641
HaE - Notes:
(a) REE-_ZE-—F+ZB=1+—HLEEE K (a) Details of the acquisition of patents and the other software components during

AN R E B A B IR E R M 5E26 0 the year ended 31 December 2021 are disclosed in Note 26.
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13

14

BEEE @ 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Wit (#) Notes: (continued)
(b) FEREENHRHELSHAERMOBGROT - (o)  Amortisation incurred during the year is charged to the consolidated income
statement as follows:
—E-—F —EIEF
2021 2020
ARBETFT NEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HHE R A Cost of sales 1,894 -
HHE R AR Selling and distribution expenses 371 405
— M RITE R General and administrative expenses 511 589
BiHaaza Total amortisation 2,776 994
ME KB RRHE 14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
RILKE
BiisE HEMERE R fE et
Furniture,
Computer Leasehold fixtures and
equipment improvements equipment Total
ARBEFT AREFT ARBEFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
W-_E-—%—HF—H At 1 January 2021
(BN Cost 35,325 4,518 14,647 54,490
REHINE Accumulated depreciation (22,487) (3,759) (13,770) (40,016)
REFEE Net book amount 12,838 759 877 14,474
BHE_EZ—F+ZH=+—H Year ended 31 December 2021
LtEE
AR ERE Opening net book amount 12,838 759 877 14,474
EREE Exchange difference 9) (3) (1) (13)
RE Additions 1,987 - 72 2,059
HE Disposals 2 - - 2
e (Wzt7) Depreciation (Note 7) (5,275) (588) (205) (6,068)
HAREEFE Closing net book amount 9,539 168 743 10,450
RZE-_—-%+”-HA=+—H At 31 December 2021
(BN Cost 37,215 4,509 14,716 56,440
REHINE Accumulated depreciation (27,676) (4,341) (13,973) (45,990)
IREEE Net book amount 9,539 168 743 10,450
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14 YPE BB RHRE =

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continueq)

R E
BiRE HEMERE g w3
Furniture,
Computer Leasehold fixtures and
equipment improvements equipment Total
AEBEFT AREFT AREFT ANBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WZE-EF—HF—H At 1 January 2020
B A Cost 26,601 4,431 14,442 45,474
REITE Accumulated depreciation (16,745) (3,122) (13,596) (33,463)
IREFE Net book amount 9,856 1,309 846 12,011
BE_T”-ZTH+-HA=+—H Year ended 31 December 2020
LHEE
HYRESEE Opening net book amount 9,856 1,309 846 12,011
[ERETE Exchange difference 12 @) €] 7
hE Additions 8,737 90 208 9,035
HE Disposals (15) - - (15)
e (Ha7) Depreciation (Note 7) (5,752) (638) (174) (6,564)
HRIRERE Closing net book amount 12,838 759 877 14,474
RZZEZEF+-B=+—H At 31 December 2020
(DS Cost 35,325 4,518 14,647 54,490
REtinE Accumulated depreciation (22,487) (3,759) (18,770) (40,016)
IREFE Net book amount 12,838 759 877 14,474
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14 MFE-BEREE @ 14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (ontinued)
Mzt Notes:
(@) FREENFERSHFBRNGRAOT (a) Depreciation incurred during the year is charged to the consolidated income

statement as follows:

—E-—f it Sl -1
2021 2020
ARETFT ANEBETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
SHE R A Cost of sales 2,996 3,264
tHE RASTHRE Selling and distribution expenses 137 80
— M RITE General and administrative expenses 2,839 3,209
e Research and development expenses 96 11
ITEE4EEE Total depreciation 6,068 6,564
15 FHEEEREEERE 15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES
(i) NREHEEEGERPHEIDZEEE (i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
EHEEAGBERIITTIEMEEZS The consolidated balance sheet shows the following amounts
%8 relating to leases:
- —% —EERHE
2021 2020
ARETFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FHEEE Right-of-use assets
BENRE Computer equipment 18,275 27,790
PEYNES Offices 7,295 4,017
RE Vehicles 223 11
25,793 31,818
HEAR Lease liabilities
TRED Current 12,482 12,277
JETRE Non-current 9,544 17,108
22,026 29,385
FRAEEAEEE R ARTES 549,000 Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year were
T (BT . ARS,070,0007T) ° RMBS,549,000 (2020: RMB3,070,000).
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15 FAKEEREBEEE® 15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)
(i) FHAREBEESE (ii) Measurement of right-of-use assets

ERAEREEEANTHEINEERRM

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of

164

assets:
ElEE WAE _E et
Computer

equipment Offices Vehicles Total
AEBEFT AREFT AREFT ANBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NZZEZ—F—HF—H At1 January 2021 27,790 4,017 11 31,818
RE Additions - 8,316 233 8,549
&Ik Termination - (1,253) - (1,253)
e (HzE7) Depreciation (Note 7) (9,318) (3,723) (21) (13,062)
PE R AEE Exchange differences (197) (62) - (259)

AT — At 31 December 2021
+=—A=+—H 18,275 7,295 223 25,793
RZZEZZH—H—H At 1 January 2020 37,174 4,328 144 41,646
RE Additions - 3,070 - 3,070
Tes (Mat7) Depreciation (Note 7) (9,443) (3,147) (183) (12,723)
PE 52 A= %R Exchange differences 59 (234) - (175)

A _BTFE At 31 December 2020
+ZHB=+—H 27,790 4,017 11 31,818
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15 ERAEEEREEGRE®

(iii)

(iv)

REHMNBRPERZEE

BHFERIT T AEMEEZ 2R

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)

(iii)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the following amounts
relating to leases:

% —EEHF

2021 2020

ARETFIT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HEaEMNERX Interest expense for lease liabilities 850 1,213
MG EARMAX Expenses relating to short-term leases 578 341

MERZZZ—FZRSABEBEAA
R#14,977,000 0 (CE T4 : AR
14,653,0007T) ©

TEEZHEEHREARS A

FEREESERAE BERE KA
B HEGHNERRETEHMRIFEIE-

HEFERZENELESZ TESEET
() B9 6% % e 16 14 o 7B 68 133 5 7 B 0 4 £ 22
HoOEHEARANEEEERATERE
HIFRSN-HEEETTBIFEERTA

(iv)

The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was RMB14,977,000
(2020: RMB14,653,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various offices, computer equipment and
vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1
year to 4 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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16 NM—HEtEA AT R—HEaEE 16 INVESTMENTS IN AN ASSOCIATE AND A

FZRE JOINT VENTURE
R—REHEAEDR—HEeELEIREZEH The movements of investments in an associate and a joint venture are as
wr follows:
—EZ—F —_ETHF
2021 2020
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—HA—H At 1 January - -
AE Capital contributions - 4
DEEE Share of loss - 4)
w+-_B=+—H At 31 December - -

UMTFHEINAEEBRZEZ—FR_ZE _gi Set out below is the details of the associate and joint venture of the

+ZB=t+—HZHMERAKREELEFE Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. The associate and joint
TXFrF =R A%ﬁ%zﬁ;zﬂ%ﬁa%@ venture as listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary

RAERR  HAEEBEIZIES - shares, which is held indirectly by the Group.

RIEZ—FRIZIEF+ZA=+— E’
R—REEE AR REGECE Y TEREHBY

Details of the principal investments in an associate and a joint venture as
at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

T
MBI
ERL® B3I AVAEIES FrE#EzT DL RRIEE SrERE
Place of
business/
country
establishment/ % of ownership Nature of

Name of entity incorporation interest the relationship Measurement method
2 E2ZTH
2021 2020
AT EERRARAE HE 15% 15%  Mfai %
("B R (Z2ZZHF:[)
The PRC Note i Equity method
(2020: same)
Retail Hardware Solutions [ 100% 50.1%  [f7a%ii =i
LLC (T Retail Hardware J) (ZEZZF  #mF)
Retail Hardware Solutions United States Note ii Consolidation

LLC (“Retail Hardware”)
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16 N—RABEQATR—HMEELE
E2¥ZKEBE®

st -

(i)

(i

BRA-—BR-ZE—NAEFBZ+tH=EMK
UZBRAT Z AT ERMVPANEL M5 &
FIMB TR ERNRIEG &R LMY B AR R
BR-NRIE—AE=ZB -+ B > xE@ETL
— (B E HHE IR R E AR 353,000 U s
BR15%BE RELEABRSEZAER
BREEZHRNGEE ERAFERATEHBIE
ERRGEMBEE - FEIABFEEAREER
HEEZHREREIZFAL RBEARZERE
KEERBE_Z-AE+_B=+—HIL%E
ERER A E MU

RIZE—NELtA+—H XAAAL2EFTAF
Maxnerva Technology Services US LLCEZ¥E L
% =7Soda Labs Inc. (FSoda Labs J) 5] I i& &
ek > LAAR I — & & 12 #Retail Hardware » 3%
REA—BERERTMEALNEBEREE LS
AERHE501% 7T (HHER ARE4,0007T) »
5B Retail Hardware 50.1% i 1% - A £ E 1§ H
i Retail HardwareH#® B DA S E B2 HiE
EREERMERERAPIRBARAFTR

WZZEZ—HAA+MH>Maxnerva
Technology Services US LLCE2Soda Labss] L
BEEBEWRR SBNELAERENSoda LabsHF
B £ 34885 100X T REE T BIRES
K ER R 2 BB ~ 9™~ #F] R F5#E > mSoda
Labsf# B & T 3 Z # &Retail Hardwared
49.9% %1 - B It » Retail Hardwaref % 4~A 5
HN—E2EF AR BHEF ALK > Retail
Hardware R B 18/ 275 - £ B Soda LabshIZ
HESmL EEZRRWENAAEERERS
FEE o ILSh » F2Soda LabsHyr] B EHBE R
E BB, ©

BEAXERNBERRNZEGERMZARE

& o

16

INVESTMENTS IN AN ASSOCIATE AND A
JOINT VENTURE (continued)

Note:

(i)

(ii)

E B is a limited liability company incorporated on 27 February 2019. It
was engaged in the provision of interactive video conference and other loT
solutions under the brand name of VPANEL. On 26 March 2019, the Group
entered into an investment agreement to acquire 15% shareholding of & &
at consideration of RMB353,000, which was settled by injection of intangible
assets of the Group at equivalent value to 5, the fair value of which was
determined by an independent qualified valuer in the PRC. The injected
intangible assets are softwares and trademark internally generated by the
Group. As a result, a gain on investment in an associate was recognised as
other gains during the year ended 31 December 2019.

On 11 July 2019, Maxnerva Technology Services US LLC, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a shareholder agreement with Soda
Labs Inc. (“Soda Labs”), an independent third party, to establish a joint
venture, Retail Hardware, which is a limited liability company incorporated in
the United States. The Group contributed USD501 (equivalent to RMB4,000)
and hold 50.1% of equity shares of Retail Hardware. The Group classified its
investment in Retail Hardware as a joint venture. It engaged in provision of
temperature screening access control solution in the US.

On 14 May 2021, Maxnerva Technology Services US LLC entered into an
assets purchase agreement with Soda Labs to purchase certain intellectual
properties and 49.9% of equity shares of Retail Hardware from Soda Labs by
forfeiting any and all obligations, payments, right and privileges with respective
to outstanding convertible bond held by the Group in Soda Labs in the
amount of USD885,100. Since then, Retail Hardware became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. Retail Hardware has minimal operation since
its incorporation. Considering the minimal business activities of Soda Labs,
directors consider that the intellectual properties acquired were of nominal
value. Also, the convertible bond in Soda Labs had been fully written down last
year.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in an

associate.
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17 MAFETAEGSZETMEE 17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

BEEAFEFTAEGDFTECEREECTET Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include the following:
F&KIE -
& —ECF
2021 2020
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREEE Non-current assets
HKRE Listed investment 3,501 -
JEEHRRAE S (BaLE0) Unlisted equity security (Note (i) 35,413 16,318
JELEMEE WEEG)) Unlisted fund (Note (ii)) 8,863 -
47,777 16,318
BATEFAEBRZEREEZEBHUNT ¢ Movement in the financial assets at FVPL is as follows:
—EZ—F —ZTEHF
2021 2020
ARBEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
w—B—H At 1 January 16,318 17,529
NE Additions 13,697 5,196
NEEWET, (BB518) Fair value gains/(losses) 18,461 (5,017)
PE & 7= &8 Exchange differences (699) (1,390)
R+ZA=+—H At 31 December 47,777 16,318
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17 BATFESFARmZEMEE

(&)

st -

(i)

(i

R_B—-NE+—B+A x&EEEBIF
=HEE72,916R KM% > kI E T EEERE
22.03% > fA1E72,000,000& T FHER AR
14,048,0007t) c R _ZE-ZTERAN\H & &
BEAZBILE=EE18,220RFEINRM - 15
#ZIF E T ERB0.50%H B A# X E4500,000% 7T
(HBE1 AR %3,464,0007T) ©

WEBREARH—REFRNEMEMRLZBRA
B EEFEINEARFERE2TERZER
A R B E (SRS Z R R iR BB RE o

REE_E_—F+_B=+—HIEEEFL
MRABESHSZATEDK2ERLRAITLERRTS
BEE - RFEBRAFERBHR= (:E3.2) o7
BES - H+"A=+—HILEFE AF
B AR ®19,770,000T R & H A B R PR
oI EMBRAFSHUETEE

REZBZ—FRABN\B A&EEEABIE=F
SUERGEHSE UERBREBARER
FEEAMN -—RLERERD  WREHZE
= HE AR30,000,0007T > i 5% £ & 48 K E
BI6% ° F M > A EH HE AR #9,000,0007T °

FEFTEEZAFEBRBRATEER= (WE
32) PEBE_E_—HF+_A=+—HILEF
B> RTFEBEBEARB137,000t R & HAIEER
FRESR LT EESUARESE-

RIEZ—F+ZA=+—H > REEFILIE
EHEEZEREKER ARKE21,000,0007T

FREEATEBRTRBZMEEL EZRRER
NER F2RaHMBRERMEES 2

17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Refer

On 12 November 2019, the Group purchased 72,916 shares from an
independent third party, representing 2.03% of shareholdings of an unlisted
entity at consideration of USD2,000,000 (equivalent to RMB14,048,000).
On 8 May 2020, the Group purchased 18,229 additional shares from this
independent third party, representing 0.50% of shareholdings of the unlisted
entity at consideration of USD500,000 (equivalent to RMB3,464,000).

The investee, a limited liability company incorporated in Delaware, is mainly
focus on the first digital and fully-scalable sensing technology to solve the
noise immunity and tuning challenges of traditional touch sensors.

The fair value of the unlisted equity security was determined by reference to
recent comparable transaction during the year ended 31 December 2021.
The fair value is within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.2). During
the year ended 31 December 2021, a fair value gain of RMB19,770,000 was
recognised in the consolidated income statement. The unlisted equity security
is denominated in USD.

On 8 June 2021, the Group entered into a Limited Partner Agreement with an
independent third party to invest in a private investment fund registered in the
PRC as a limited partner and committed to contribute RMB30,000,000 to the
fund, representing 6% of the total commitment of the fund. During the year,
the Group contributed RMB9,000,000.

The fair value of the unlisted fund is within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
(Note 3.2). During the year ended 31 December 2021, a fair value loss of
RMB137,000 was recognised in the consolidated income statements. The
unlisted fund is denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has a capital commitment of
RMB21,000,000 to this unlisted fund.

to Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements for information

about the valuation methods and assumptions used in determining fair

value.
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18 ¥8 18 INVENTORIES
—EZ—%F —E2IEF
2021 2020
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

e R Hardware and software 115,025 28,080

BEEE Provision for impairment (4,899) (4,899)

FE—FE Inventories — net 110,126 23,181

Mt Notes:

(i) BRARLT Tt A REBEFELIHEREN (i) The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in cost of sales
FERAA ANR377,984,00070 (C B & attributable to the Group’s operations amounted to RMB377,984,000 (2020:
AR1359,819,0007T) ° RMB359,819,000).

(i) FEREEEMT (if) Movement in the provision for inventories is as follows:

S5 TEIEF

2021 2020

AR®TFT ANEWETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

REH] At the beginning of the year 4,899 4,319
GFEBERE Provision for impairment of inventories - 580
REXR At the end of the year 4,899 4,899
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19

BHNEERGH

o

FEBEEDTIEARRENAMZEERA

€2y

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities related to

& : contracts with customers:
T —F TECEE
2021 2020
ok AEBBFT ANE¥EFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
EHEE Contract assets
—%=h — third parties 544 341
—REEATL - related parties 17 187
MENEE Total contract assets (a) 561 528
AHaE Contract liabilities
—%=A — third parties 32,585 10,877
—BAEAT - related parties 2,868 2,429
wEHNBE Total contract liabilities (b) 35,453 13,306

GHEETZHRAEREINRE B H
EEmERREEIRAEZRAE
il e BB ER RIS BFREFEE
P& WRRIE ©

AR AEREEANKEBERGENRE
BRAREHRZRT  GHNEEBME
e

GMNBEEZREEBLEEQATEMEE-

(a)

Contract assets

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to receive
consideration for work completed but not billed as at the reporting
date. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when the
rights become unconditional.

Contract assets increased as the Group has provided more
services ahead of the agreed payment schedules for the I.T.

projects.

The carrying amounts of contract assets approximate their fair
values.
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19 SHNEERGHNER @

172

(b)

BHES

H

kv

BHNERIBZABERNRTINERZE
mEEAREHZRB ALV ZEEH
ARBER - WAEERRNERFRIEH
AR 75 By B 50 o

HRERARZEBER  SNEEAM

IR

TREIINARSHBER Z WA P E
HEHONEERERZERE-

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Contract liabilities

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the deposits or payments
received in advance for sales of goods not yet delivered to
customers or services not yet performed. Revenue is recognised
when goods are delivered to customers or when services are
performed.

Contract liabilities have increased due to timing difference in
payments by customers.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract

liabilities.
—EZ—F —ETTHF
2021 2020
AREFT ANE#BFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
SIABI S E B R Revenue recognised that was included in the
B A contract liabilities balance at the
beginning of the period

YE W =18 Receipts in advance 13,306 2,216

TRITEEBRERMENEEZRE
TERYEE-

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from fixed-price long-term contracts.

—_E-—F _ECE
2021 2020
ARETT ANEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R+ H=+—H7EEE 58 Aggregate amount of the transaction price
DU I BT RIS A allocated to long-term contracts that
BB BT are partially or fully unsatisfied as at
31 December
BB —4 Not later than one year 18,922 23,502
BiR—FERABEAF Later than one year and
not later than five years 16,559 32,643
35,481 56,145

FTEEMESNZHRS —FHER Wik
BARREERBEE RESBYBREE
AEIR AT DEERERBETEN
ZRBERERFTRE-

All other contracts are for periods of one year or less or are
billed based on time incurred. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.
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20 EEKRHEERYERIE 20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES
—E-—F —ETFF
2021 2020
AEBBFT ANE¥EFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

EEENIRIE (K5t (a) Trade receivables (Note (a))

—E= _ third parties 147,082 158,552
—BAE AL — related parties 101,032 97,349

__________________________________________________ 248,114 255,901

MERERWRE-& (Wit () Finance leases receivables — total (Note (c)) 7,178 8,253

SHERAEEWERIE —43%8 (B73#(d)) Trade and lease receivables — gross (Note (d)) 255,292 264,154

BRI RE (WEon) Less: loss allowance (Note (b)) (60,164) (62,154)

EERAEREWIRE 548 Trade and lease receivables — net 195,128 202,000

B EERBERWIRTE Less: trade and lease receivables —

—IEmENER 1D non-current portion (12,698) (20,557)
HERLBEEKREE - RENIGN Trade and lease receivables — current portion 182,430 181,443
EELAEREKREEREEHEEQAFER The carrying amounts of trade and lease receivables approximate their
o fair values.

BEE - Notes:

(a) XTEBZAFMHEHEEEH KN F=+XKE (a)  Majority of the Group’s sales are made with credit terms generally ranging
AR -EERWIRBEBREZHHZRE DN from 30 days to 90 days. The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on
wmr invoice date is as follows:

—E-—F TEIERF
2021 2020
ARBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

DN A N Less than 60 days 148,643 131,277

ANTXRE—BZ+X 60 days to 120 days 30,977 37,324

—BHI+—XE=ZBATtX 121 days to 360 days 10,582 17,330

BB=E/1+X Over 360 days 57,912 69,970

248,114 255,901
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Htat -

(b)

(c)

&

RIEZ—FE+ZA=+—H > HXEKKE
HARM60,164,0007T (ZEZZTHE . AR
62,154,00070) ABEERE BREEEKEERE
WERTE Z 518 % B B B AT 5531 (b) (i) I 58 o &L
EIE - —F+"A=1+—HLEFE B%K
TAERWIRIB B E A AR 2,951,0007T
(ZZZZ4& . AR¥3,492,0007T) ©

B & FH E FEURBRIE
RIE - —FR_E_EF+_RA=+—HEE

HERERRERKEERENREHKRD
T

20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(c)

At 31 December 2021, trade receivables of approximately RMB60,164,000
(2020: RMB62,154,000) were provided for. Movement in the loss allowances
for trade and lease receivables is disclosed in Note 3.1(b)(ii). During the year
ended 31 December 2021, loss allowance for trade and lease receivables of

RMB2,951,000 were made (2020: RMB3,492,000).

Finance leases receivables

The reconciliation between the gross investment in the lease and the present

value of the minimum lease payments receivable at as 31 December 2021 and

2020 is as follows:

T —fF TECEE
2021 2020
ANEREFT ANERBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

JE TR B FE W TR IR Non-current receivables
MEHEE - EWRIEEEE Finance leases — gross receivables 6,949 8,428
REREVRRE WA Unearned finance income (898) (1,250)
6,051 7,178

i Eh FE Y TR I8 Current receivables

RERE - RIS Finance leases — gross receivables 1,479 1,479
REREVRRE WA Unearned finance income (352) (404)
1,127 1,075
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Wizt (48

(c) FEHEREKIRIE &)
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20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(c)

Notes: (continued)

Finance leases receivables (continueq)

—E-—F —EIEF
2021 2020
ARETFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

RLE R E R REUCRRIEAREE ¢ Gross receivables from finance leases:
—FREB—F - No later than 1 year 1,479 1,479
——FEMEZME - Between 1 year and 2 years 1,479 1,479
—MEE=F2H - Between 2 years and 3 years 1,479 1,479
—=FENOFH - Between 3 years and 4 years 1,479 1,479
—NEERFEZME - Between 4 years and 5 years 1,479 1,479
—iBBhE — Later than 5 years 1,033 2,512
8,428 9,907
REAERBENRRRE WA Unearned future finance income on finance leases (1,250) (1,654)
REREREPEE Net investment in finance leases 7,178 8,253

RZB-_—F+ZRB=+—8"

HEERED B

(d)

HOFRI0OFEN W ERMERAEZHFET ZEAE
BRIEE (CE2ZF [ AR AN FHET
R—EFENZEGRIEHFEE HEPHERZR
%) AR LURIRAE MBERERE 25
HELEEREEBBETREA HZBEEHEN
—HREEE

BEREERBERENTIIGBHE

(d)

As at 31 December 2021, the balance represents a smart school project under
two finance leases arrangements for 9 years and 10 years respectively (2020:
same). The project constitutes a finance lease since the contract conveys the
right to control the use of identified assets, the equipment used under this
project, for a period of time in exchange for consideration and at the end of
the lease term, these leased assets will be transferred to the leasee without
any consideration.

Trade and lease receivables are denominated in following currencies:

—E-—f ZEITE

2021 2020

ARETFT ANEBETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR RMB 146,175 121,959
v usD 85,732 125,239
mars NTD 16,376 16,956
B EUR 7,009 -
255,292 264,154
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176

—_E-—F —ECE
2021 2020
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JETRENER Non-current portion
BT RRIB (f13E (@) Prepayments (Note (a)) 271 199
RENE Current portion
BIRIE (5t (@) Prepayments (Note (a)) 38,465 32,491
FENHEE Rental prepayments 230 146
Hh oW [El1iR 18 Other tax recoverable 568 166
H U R IE Other receivables 1,265 1,457
B R Less: loss allowance (98) (98)
40,430 34,162
BT FREE AN TRIE (B5E @) Prepayment to a related party (Note (a)) 679 50
41,109 34,212

Htet -

@ RIB_—FR-_ZF_ZBE+_/=+—§"
BANRETERAHERBEFEZRANTEN
KRENAERS -

FERMRE e REMERREN T &5t
18 :

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, prepayments mainly represented
payments in advance to suppliers for the purchases of inventories and prepaid
rental expenses.

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables are denominated in
following currencies:

—EZ—F T HF

2021 2020

ARHEFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BT HK$ 427 1,546
AR RMB 27,989 30,497
£t Usb 2,882 12
mats NTD 9,538 1,760
Hith Others 544 596
41,380 34,411
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22 WERREEFEY 22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
e % —ETEHF
2021 2020
AEBEFT NEHBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
WBITRE MASHNRANEERR Cash at banks, maximum exposure to credit risk 188,968 212,369
FHERE Cash on hand 96 67
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 189,064 212,436

RTHRENFARBEESEBRITERENX
0.01%FE1.76% B XHERFE (T2 -F
F10.01%E1.75%) - UARBHEZREER
ANRBRERREEBYERINPERIT -
RZEUARESHEG R IR INE DU ER
EREIFESHARET REBFBEMIINEES
HIR AR IR TE

ReEkReEBYUTIEEHE !

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates of 0.01% to 1.76% per annum during the year (2020: 0.01%
to 1.756%). The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in
RMB are deposited with banks in PRC. The conversion of these RMB-
denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of funds
out of PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the government of the PRC.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in following currencies:

—E-—F TR TF

2021 2020

ARBHEFT ANEETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BT HK$ 649 1,858
AR RMB 129,927 153,026
E7T usD 37,060 31,218
ma NTD 20,342 26,302
Hi Others 1,086 32
189,064 212,436
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EIEFRIFHE

ERZENRITEN K AIREZ EHFMEHR A
BHERaERsE UREREMSREE
RaBRFE-REEEAMZERRERITRE
FERNEBBKRZFSNER MEERFHE
BEZBERF ELAPMENEELREERE
o IRI BRI T ¢

23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current income tax recoverable against
current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets
and liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation authority
on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis. The offset amounts are as

follows:
& —ETEF
2021 2020
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FIEFRSMEE ! Deferred income tax assets:
— R RiEBE1218 B B W E — Deferred income tax assets to be recovered
RIEFRSME E after more than 12 months 1,935 -
— #1218 B i uk(Elgy — Deferred income tax assets to be recovered
RIEFRSIME E within 12 months 75 -
2,010 -
FIEFRSMEE Deferred income tax liabilities:
—RBRiBR12ERBEEN — Deferred income tax liabilities to be recovered
IRIEFREMAE after more than 12 months (1,708) -
—R& i 12EB NEERN — Deferred income tax liabilities to be recovered
RIEFRS M EE within 12 months (2,555) -
(4,263) -
EIEFTRIN A EIRER Deferred income tax liabilities, net (2,253) -

BIEFTSIIRENEBFEMT :

The net movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

& —ETZ2F

2021 2020

AREFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

w—HA—H At 1 January - _
&R ERIO Ba10) Charged to consolidated income statement (Note 10) 2,262 -
PE & 7= %8 Exchange differences 9) -
R+-—B=+—H At 31 December 2,253 -
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23 IREFRIFIR @ 23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (ontinued)
FRELZEENREBEEE2EETEREZERZ The nature of items giving rise to deferred tax assets and their respective
#E Rt RPE—MBEEENERIEHE W movements during the year without taking into consideration the
T offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:
RATEH RS2
e RS SRHEEHRRE HEEH EREEZATEBH st

Fair value loss
on financial assets

Loss allowances at fair value through
Accrued expenses for financial assets Tax losses profit or loss Total
Z¥I-F CFC%F TBI-F CFITF ZRC-F CT0%F I¥C-F CI0FE TRI-F CECEF
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

ARETR ARETT ARETE ARETT AREFR ARETT ARBTFR ARETT ABEFR ARKTT
RMB'000  AIB'000  RMB'000  AVB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

®—-B—H At 1 January - - - - - - - - - -
FTARHRBER Credited to consolidated income
statement 75 - 633 - 5,420 - 255 - 6,383 -
ERER Exchange differences - - - - (79 - - - (79) -
R+ZR=+-R At 31 December 75 - 633 - 5,341 - 255 - 6,304 -
FRELRERBESaEZEEEERESEZ The nature of items giving rise to deferred tax liabilities and their
#E) ket RRA—MBEEEANERRIEHE) W respective movements during the year without taking into consideration
T the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:
BRATEFABEZ
EMBEEZATFERE R RFBZENR A
Fair value gain
on financial assets
at fair value through Withholding tax
profit or loss on undistributable profit Total
R 22§ ZE”-f TZI2FE BI-F ZZ2°ZH
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
AREFT ANEEFT AREFT AEEFT ARBEFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
m—B—~H At 1 January = - - - - _
BPN=EivbEES Charged to consolidated income
statement 6,089 - 2,556 - 8,645 -
ERER Exchange differences (88) - - - (88) -
BK+ZB=+—H At 31 December 6,001 - 2,556 - 8,557 -
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24 TRADE PAYABLES

—E-—%& —ToTE
2021 2020
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

FET & FARIE Trade payables
—%=h — third parties 118,775 98,946
—REEATL - related parties 2,535 5,671
121,310 104,617

RBOEEBERTFZEEANF=1TEC T+

X (CEZZF MR -

ENEXREZERAPZIREDFNOT

days (2020: same).

The majority of the suppliers grant credit period ranging from 30 to 75

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

follows:

—EZ—F - 3
2021 2020
AREFT ANEBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
0N NVAG RPN Less than 60 days 117,918 90,912
ATXKE—AI+X 60 days to 120 days 2,364 12,390
BBR—8B_+X Over 120 days 2,122 1,315
121,310 104,617

EEX£RBEMU TG KA - Trade payables are denominated in following currencies:
—E—%F —EIEF
2021 2020
AREFT ANBM¥TFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 63,658 64,944
E7T usD 8,177 29,989
el NTD 8,275 9,684
121,310 104,617
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25 EstERRHEMEGRIE 25 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

T —F TECEE
2021 2020
AEBBFT ANEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
P& &t ¥ & R ACAL Accrued salaries and bonuses 28,911 19,397
FEF R ER% Accrued operating expenses 8,513 3,543
HMEMRE Other tax payables 2,364 1,117
HMENHIE Other payables 2,122 4,562
41,910 28,619

EERREMBELRBUTIEREE Accruals and other payables are denominated in following currencies:
e —% —ETEH
2021 2020
AEBEFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HK$ 2,463 2,501
AR RMB 22,968 17,918
E7T usD 8,177 949
el NTD 8,275 7,251
Hi Others 27 -
41,910 28,619
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26 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

& 4= Share capital
RipEB HE
Number of Nominal
shares value
FiR ANEREFT
‘000 RMB$’000
RZE2EZEF—HF—H- As at 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020
—EEF+"B=+—HK and 1 January 2021
—2”—H%—F—H 654,863 64,479
A&t iR 1n (A7aL) Allotment of shares (Note) 46,680 3,968
R_Z2_—F+"“A=+—H As at 31 December 2021 701,543 68,447
1R E Share premium
ANEEFT
RMB$’000
RZE2ZEF—HF—H- As at 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020
—EEF+"B=1+—HK and 1 January 2021
2 —H%—F—H 187,511
BoEE R (MaE) Allotment of shares (Note) 26,354
RZEZ—F+ZH=+—H As at 31 December 2021 213,865
et - Note:

NZEZEE+AZ+NB AERE KA
AAEFTUERGEEE RS (THHE) > UWKBEERM™R
B E SR (B) MPresenter) & I ChromaCam | B R
M ERE > RE5A23,340,0008 T MAERHNARKE
19,840,0007t) - ZREREBUETR0.50B T2 ¥
TEEE S E46,680,0000 H AR I T TAE & o 1t
B —FZR REBERENROZIATFES
AR 130,322,000 7% MEARNRRNDHEESmE
BOREAFABERBHZATFEZENEBEARE
10,482,0007c I & HFI B REIA BN ZAREEZ o 5%
AR _E-_—F=ZA-+_"H%mM-

On 24 December 2020, the Group entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement with a related company (the “Agreement”’) to acquire intellectual
properties related to two software products, namely “Presenter” and “ChromaCam”
at a consideration of HK$23,340,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB19,840,000).
The consideration would be settled by allotment of 46,680,000 new shares to the
seller at the issue price of HK$0.50 per share. In March 2021, the shares were
granted in accordance with the Agreement with a fair value of RMB30,322,000 and
the difference between the consideration and fair value of the shares granted in the
amount of RMB10,482,000 due to the change of market price of the share was
recognised as share-based payment in the consolidated income statement during the
year. The transaction was completed on 22 March 2021.
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27 FBRGHEETE 27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

BBEARABDNR _E—=FNA=+HERMAZE
RIS EFE2RNBRS M) EER
ERREEER IAERSEREZER =
ERL2EBRNRBES @FEFR2NEAFA
BREARREBRZEMNES  THENT
HIERTRAMEBBULAS) ((AERETZ
EREFZERAFAEA ; K4 E B E R
REERZEAEFASTEBH AKEH RE
AR ERFBAAHER EEBRISET
BHABER - BHHATEA (BEEABRE
FAEN So#Hm ETHER (BEFEEFHOE
R HVESFELENBEIREXTEHRE
EREARREERFHEMZEFTALRR
B

PR IR R IE ST B R Mt St B IR B My R AT
ZERRERARTEBREETERYI FTHITZR
PEERE TREBNEMERERAT D&
TRAGEMZHF10% (ERRBREEREE
RESBFEREZBRENESROHHBE
ESREEMFADTEM0%LMRIFIN - LRR
EERES B R EREMFEEMADRITEZ
MARTEERERI FECTZROBEBE
FEBEEARBTREHETRAZI0%

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 30
August 2013, in the sole discretion of the Board, to grant options to
(i) any full time or part time employees of the Group; or any invested
entity, an entity in which the Group holds an equity interest, (including
any directors, whether executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not, of the Company or any subsidiary or any invested
entity); (i) any holder of any securities issued by the Group; and (i) any
business or joint venture partners, contractors, agents or representatives,
consultants, advisers, suppliers, producers or licensors, customers,
licensees (including any sub-licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants
(including any sub-tenants) of the Group or any invested entity; or (iv) any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group or any invested entity.

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and other schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total issued capital of the Company as at the adoption date unless
the Company obtains a fresh approval from the shareholders to renew
the 10% limit on the basis that the maximum number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
together with any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other scheme shall not exceed 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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27 BREE @ 27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ontinued)
BE T _—F+-_A=+—HLEFERER Movement of the options granted under the share option scheme for the
RESTEIRH N BRESHNT - year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:
BREYE
Number of share options
RIEZ-% RIEZ-& RERERE
BHEHE/ -A-A tZB=+-H BhHERE HHAEHZ
RiAs EIRE HAfTE ERRL FRXH ERRH EniTR WA (i3 (i35 SRUTE
Closing price
per share
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding before
Name or as at Granted Expired Forfeited Exercised as at Exercise the grant
Date of category of 1 January during during during during 31 December price per date of
grant participants 2021 the year the year the year the year 2021 Exercise period share option share option
() Er AT
(Note fj) HKS HKS
EES
Director
“Z-tEN\AE+-B PEERE 300,000 - - - - 300000 ZE-AENBZT-HE 1.684 1.55
ZZZLENRZHH
31 August 2017 Mr. Cheng Yee Pun 31 August 2019 to
30 August 2027
ZZ-\E+-B+IH BEERE 500,000 - - - - 500000 ZEBZEE+-B2AF 0686 0.6
2 \E+-B1-H
12 November 2018 Mr. Cheng Yee Pun 12 November 2020 to
11 November 2028
&8
Employees
“2-tE\A=t-B KEAVER 3,200,000 - - - - 3200000 ZE-NENBZT-HE 1.684 1.55
ZZZLENRZHH
31 August 2017 Continuous contract 31 August 2019 to
employees 30 August 2027
I3-\E+-BtIB #ELHER 5,260,000 - - (350,000} - 4910000 ZECFE+-B1IAE 0686 0.6
ZEI\E+-B1-H
12 November 2018 Continuous contract 12 November 2020 to
employees 11 November 2028

9,260,000 - - (350,000) - 8,910,000
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BE_E_ZFT_A=+—HALFEREE
RSt LM B EEEIMT ¢

27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq)

Movement of the options granted under the share option scheme for the
year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:

BREHE
Number of share options
gk 33 REBERE
2REHE/ RIZZZE +ZB=+-A ShERE  BHEHHZ
RHAH 4BANE —-B-AHEE ERRH EREH ERRK ERiTE HATE i3 T SRUTE
Closing price
per share
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding before
Name or as at Granted Expired Forfeited Exercised as at Exercise the grant
Date of category of 1 January during during during during 31 December price per date of
grant participants 2020 the year the year the year the year 2020 Exercise period share option share option
(1) A1 En
(Note (i) HKS HKS
EE
Director
“Z-tE\A=+-B BEERE 300,000 - - - - 300000 ZE-AENBZt-HE 1.684 1.5
ZEZZLENAZHE
31 August 2017 Mr. Cheng Yee Pun 31 August 2019 to
30 August 2027
Z5-\f¥+-EB1tIH BEERE 500,000 - - - - 500000 ZEZBE+-F+IRE 0.686 0.66
BN \E+-A+-H
12 November 2018 Mr. Cheng Yee Pun 12 November 2020 to
11 November 2028
5
Employees
“2-tENR=t-B FRRAVER 3,200,000 - - - - 3200000 ZE-AENBZT-HE 1.684 1.5
ZEZZLENAZHE
31 August 2017 Continuous contract 31 August 2019 to
employees 30 August 2027
“E-\E+-BtIH EEANEE 5,580,000 - - (320,000) - 5200000 ZZZZE+-F+7HE 0.686 0.66
“EN\E+-A+-H
12 November 2018 Continuous contract 12 November 2020 to
employees 11 November 2028
9,580,000 - - (320,000) - 9,260,000
Vi Notes:
(i) EREREENG BN TR (EE AIEERE (i) The share options forfeited during the year due to the resignation of employees

PR 4R 55 T 1S 4F PROR WX © i R 19 R IR B AR AE W
JE AR %5 % 1 S IE AR IR sE M 4R U > BUSERT T Z
ERNEINEAERINRRENE B EE -

within vesting period or the offer of share options was rejected by the
candidates. Where shares are forfeited due to failures by the employees to
satisfy the service conditions or rejection of the offer, any expenses previously
recognised in relation to such shares are reversed effective the date of the
forfeiture.
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28 RESERVES

ERERE
BRfE Share EEE
Capital BRBEHE option Statutory
reserve Capital ERGHE reserve reserve RERA
(W) redemption Exchange (Hi##27) (Hiz(i) Retained st
(Note (i) reserve reserve (Note 27) (Note (if)) earnings Total
AEBTFT AEBFT ABEFT AEETFT AEETFT AEBTFT AEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

RIB-—%—F—0  At1January 2021 44,065 1,042 (15,177) 3,116 26,223 42,634 102,803

EERF Profitfor the year = - = = - 34,261 34,261

IMEBHEEE Currency translation differences - - (6,891) - - - (6,891)

BREATHE Appropriation to statutory reserve - - - - 1,368 (1,368) -

RIBZ-F At 31 December 2021
+ZB=+-8 44,065 1,042 (22,068) 3,116 27,591 75,527 130,173
ERERE
BRGE Share EERE
Capital BAERRE option Statutory
reserve Capital ERGE reserve reserve REBF
(Hz#) redemption Exchange (z227) (Hi2) Retained st
(Note (j)) reserve reserve (Note 27) (Note (ij) earnings Total
NEBTFT NEBTFT NEETFT NEEFT NEBTFT NEBTFT NEBTFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BERZZZSE-HF—H At1January 2020 44,065 1,942 (11,764) 2,729 23,536 30,687 91,195

EERF Profit for the year - - - - - 14,634 14,634

IMEBHEEE Currency translation differences - - (3,413) - - - (3,4193)

BEEETHE Appropriation to statutory reserve - - - - 2,687 (2,687) -

BEERETE Employee share option scheme -

-EERKEE value of employee services - - - 387 - - 387
RZTZZE+ZH At 31 December 2020
=+-A 44,065 1,942 (15,177) 3,116 26,223 42,634 102,803

HaE - Notes:

(i) FAEBZENERAERAT BT ZRAmEHR (i) Capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
REBER—ANNFEERSHEETAATNT amount of the share capital issued by the Company and the nominal amount
NERABEMEZEZB NLBEE-_ZTZTZ of the share capital of the subsidiaries transferred to the Company pursuant to
F=ZA=1+—HIEFERERABRAERTDREE a group reorganisation in 1994, and the credit of HK$51,594,000 from share
B EENARERS1,594,0008 7T © capital as a result of a reduction of the Company’s share capital taken place

during the year ended 31 March 2000.
(i) FEFRBZEAEREDTRARBEZTABRZ (ii) Statutory reserve of a subsidiary in the PRC can be utilised to offset future

REBIEIIGMEAE S -

losses or increase of the capital of the subsidiary.
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29 EHEERER 29 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS
(a) PBRFIERNAGHNEALEEHMEBREN (a)  Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated from
HER - operations:
T —F —EIEZHF
2021 2020
ARHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRETS IR AT @ Profit before income tax 37,607 22,376
MU TEEEHBEE . Adjustments for:
FEWA Interest income (2,313) (2,729)
FERXZ Interest expense 850 1,213
ME B REREINE (Wat14) Depreciation for property, plant and
equipment (Note 14) 6,068 6,564
ERAEEETE Hat15) Depreciation for right-of-use assets (Note 15) 13,062 12,723
| EESE WaE13) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 13) 2,776 994
FERERE (HaE18) Provision for impairment of inventories
(Note 18) - 580
EEREWERBE R HMEWRIER B Loss allowance for trade and other receivables 2,951 3,492
DME—EBER B EE Share of result of an associate - 4
“IEMREWE BaEC) Gain on termination of a lease (Note (c)) (75) -
HEMZE KRR E 2RI (W (b)) Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (Note (b)) 2 3
BATFEFAEBRZESHEEZ Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets
NFE Wm) EEE at fair value through profit or loss (18,461) 5,017
BHZHHEE Share-based payment 10,482 -
TR Share option expenses - 387
52,949 50,624
EEBTEH . Changes in working capital:
=758 Inventories (86,945) (99)
EENTAEEKERE Trade and lease receivables 3,923 19,124
BHEE Contract assets (33) 995
BB e R EMEREIE Prepayments, deposits and other receivables (6,969) (22,698)
FE T & 2 BR 18 Trade payables 16,693 2,386
FE 5T & A R E A FE (S 7R IE Accruals and other payables 13,291 (1,470)
aHNEaE Contract liabilities 22,147 7,532
REEEPREBRE Cash generated from operations 15,056 56,394
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29
FLOWS (continued)
ReaHReEnER HEMWE -KIRRK

(b) (b)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from

B2 PRRRIEEE - disposals of property, plant and equipment comprise:
—E-—%& —ToTH
2021 2020
ARBETFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEVE BREREZMEHRIE Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment - 12
B BRERE Less: Net book amount 2) (15)
HEME - BREREBZEE Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (2) (3)

(c) REeEHReREBFR KREREZMENIAE (c) In the consolidated statement

of cash flow,

proceeds from

B termination of lease comprise:
—E-—F TEIEF
2021 2020
ARBHEFT ANRBETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

BRI EREEEZIREE Carrying amount of respective

right-of-use assets 1,253 -
EREEEeEZREE Carrying amount of respective lease liabilities (1,328) -
“IEREZ WEm Gain on termination of lease (75) -
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29 EHEEFRER® 29 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (continued)
(d E4SXBmEIHZzZABEHIE (d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
HEaE- HEaE-
RENER S JETREN I 2 HEaRESE
Lease Lease

liabilities liabilities Total

- current - non-current lease

portion portion liabilities

AEBFT AEBEFT ABHEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

WZE-_ZFE—H—H Asat1 January 2020 12,962 28,389 41,351

HERE Cash flows (14,312) - (14,312)
JEIREH Non-cash movements:

SN EE R Foreign exchange adjustments (1,937) - (1,937)

WEEHEY Acquisition of leases 1,178 1,892 3,070

HEaEMNERX Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,213 - 1,213

HIER - EH Other non-cash movement 13,173 (13,173) -

WIE-ZFE As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021
+ZA=+—HRK

—-—&#-A—H 12,277 17,108 29,385

RERE Cash flows (14,399) - (14,399)
FFIREEE . Non-cash movements:

HhEEE R Foreign exchange adjustments (1,031) - (1,031)

WEEREY Acquisition of leases 1,547 7,002 8,549

HEaGEMNERE Interest expense on lease liabilities 850 - 850

®IEHEE Termination of leases (1,328) - (1,328)

HIEREEE) Other non-cash movement 14,566 (14,566) -

RN_EBE - —F+_"8 As at 31 December 2021
=+—H 12,482 9,544 22,026
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29 EHERERER @

(e)

EFRRERD
FEBBUTEIEFRRERS !

HE_Z-_EHF+_B=+—HIFE>
REBRBETHRSBLREHMREARE
7,027,000 tEFEEEEE BB &
HBE UAENRNEEBREZER -

BE_ T —F+_RA=+—HIL=EE"
AEBRBETHEETHAE LR
AEREEEARS 549,000t (ZF
—Z & ARE¥3,070,0007T) ©

HE_E-_—F#+-_A=+—HIFE>
KRB ETAFESARKES0,322,000
JCH48,860,0000% 3@ A% » LLUKBE A F
EAAR19,840,000 2 EREE o
At ERRGEZTEENRIARE
10,482,000 & A R -

30 BREHEDZEMIA

REERSENEMITEZEREENT :

29

30

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (continued)

(e)

Major non-cash transactions
The Group has the following major non-cash transactions:

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group transferred
certain servers and computer equipment amounting of
RMB7,027,000 from inventories to property, plant and equipment
to provide supporting service for I.T. project.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired
certain offices under leases and recognised as right-of-use assets
of RMB8,549,000 (2020: RMB3,070,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company issued
48,860,000 ordinary shares with fair value of RMB30,322,000 for
acquisition of intangible assets with fair value of RMB19,840,000.
Therefore, an expense arising from share-based payment of
RMB10,482,000 was recognized in the consolidated income
statement for the year.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

—EZ—% TECTE
2021 2020
ABEFT ANEBBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EMEE- Financial assets -
BBHER TR SHMEE financial assets at amortised cost
EEEWRE P Trade receivables — net 187,950 193,747
Yo & R HAMME WIS Deposits and other receivables 1,167 1,359
HehREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 189,064 212,436
378,181 407,542
BATEAABHZEMEE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 47,777 16,318
EMEFHE- Financial liabilities -
BEHER AT Rz EMEE financial liabilities at amortised cost
BT E2EARTE Trade payables 121,310 104,617
FEstERBREMBE N RIE Accruals and other payables 10,635 8,105
HEEaE Lease liabilities 22,026 29,385
153,971 142,107
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31 COMMITMENTS

31 Kk
(a) @EBEARE
e AN
RS- —ER-_S-_S&£+_8

=+—B - AEBEEEREETERRA
EZARRBEENRBERBREESE

(a)

Operating lease commitments
As lessee
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the future aggregate minimum

lease payments in respect of office under non-cancellable short-
term leases are recognised as expenses on a straight-line as

WRARZOT : follows:
T —F TECEE
2021 2020
ARHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e —5 Not later than one year 341 130
TEABLHFAN As lessor

RIEZ-—FRk_ZTE-FTF+-A
=+—B ARBEEEEEE T ZRER

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the future minimum lease
payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as

BERENROT : follows:
T —% —EIEHF
2021 2020
ARBHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB —F Not later than one year 2,382 283
BB —FRFABBRF Later than one year and not later than
five years 2,940 173
5,322 456
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31 EiEw 31 COMMITMENTS (continueq)
(b) BEZ&KIE (b) Capital commitments
RBEEARETNEERERABEZ Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the
BEABEABEZOT : reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:
—EZ—%F —E2IEF
2021 2020
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—EBEABZ&E Hi) Investment in an associate (Note) 5,000 -
BATEFABmZ EMEE Financial assets at fair value through
(Hta£17(i) profit or loss (Note 17(ii)) 21,000 -
Hiat . Note:
NR_E - —F+ B AEENEZEFATE In December 2021, Maxnerva (Shenzhen) Technology Services Limited,
2E CEY) BHREREERAS HIEMZE T a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group entered into a shareholder
FE=HIUREGE URPEEMA Y —/M agreement with 4 independent third parties to incorporate a limited company
BRAT (TBEAT)) - AEEBNERKIES (“target company”) in the PRC. The capital commitment of the Group is
A EE#5,000,0007T > & B 12 A B125% A% # © & RMB5,000,000 which represent 25% of equity shareholding of the target
ETE T —F+_A=+—HIEFEEHIR company. Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2021, a supplemental
ERE:TI IR ERE BERTNNES shareholder agreement was entered with the existing shareholders to double
MEEUBELABRERATNE AL EY the capital investment in the target company in the same proportion in
m—E-Eit xEEER _E__5—F4AH accordance to each party’s ownership interests. As a result, the Group has
EBATEE S ARNE10,000,0007T injected a total of RMB10,000,000 to the target company in January 2022.
32 SRITHME 32 BANKING FACILITIES
N E - —F+-"/A=+—H> XEHE®R At 31 December 2021, banking facilities (including short term loan and
EITHME (EEHEIRIBTESR AR banking guarantee) amounting to RMB30,605,000 were granted to the
30,605,000 BER —_E-_—F+ "B =+— Group and none of these facilities were utilised as at 31 December 2021
HURENAZEME CEZEFHF) o (2020: Nil).
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33

34

=) 33 DIVIDENDS
BE _ T FREZEF+_A=+—H During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company did
IEFE ARABRAEZIRKGRE not recommend the payment of dividend.
FAEALR S 34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
WZEZ—F+ZHA=+—H>23.83% (= As at 31 December 2021, 23.83% (2020: 25.54%) of the Company’s
TTEHE 25.54%) 2 ARBRMHEBEFSK shares were directly held by FSK Holdings Limited, a company
Holdings Limited (R&EBZEMAKILZAE) B incorporated in Hong Kong and 10.24% (2020: 11.04%) of the
BEA M10.24% (ZEZZFF 1 11.04%) Z Company’s shares were directly held by FDG Fund, L.P. FSK Holdings
AATRMDEFDG Fund, L.P.EERE A FSK Limited is a limited partner of FDG Fund, L.P. contributing to about 75%
Holdings LimitedZ& A &FDG Fund, L.P.AZEIE of its total commitment.
H75% 2 BIREB A
NWAEEHRNEFEZEEASBZEMKENER Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or any
HRENERIMEBEHE—FNMBNKCERSE member of its key management personnel or their close family members
BEARERARZIANIBER  BIZ A LB has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence over
BUEAEEFRE - BEATIUZEANE the parties in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa.
B8 o Related parties may be individuals or entities.
R BB EMBOATHNEEALERS The following is a summary of significant related party transactions
AEBEREBEATRBEEBFITIINEK entered into in the ordinary course of business between the Group and its
REATRZUKRBEATR ZEENERE related parties and the balances arising from related party transactions in
MR o addition to the related party information shown elsewhere in the financial
statements.
(a) HBEALZRS (a) Transactions with related parties
T % —EZEHF
2021 2020
ok ARHEFT ANEHEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
mAEALTHESR Sales of goods to related parties (0 5,766 5,523
E R E A T IRMERS Rendering of services to related parties (i) 274,319 207,017
HAEALTHEESER Purchases of goods from related parties (0 13,989 22,990
AAEATEZIEEER License fee paid to a related party (iii) 40 625
W EFEE (K5226) Acquisition of intangible assets (Note 26) 19,840 -
BB (f1a26) Share-based payment (Note 26) 10,482 -
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34 FAEANLRZ = 34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) HEREABEALZXRS (&) (a) Transactions with related parties (continued)
RZE2EZI—FrRZZ2EZZF+ZAH As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, amounts due from/(to) related
=+—H> Bl () BB A TR\ A parties are included in below:

ITFIEE

—EZ—%F —E2IEF
2021 2020
ABBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

= FE N ARTE Trade receivables 101,032 97,349

BHEE Contract assets 17 187

e FENMRIE R HMEWEIE Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 679 50

FET & 2 AR IE Trade payables (2,535) (5,671)

Hh (k18 Other payables (628) (1,027)

EHEE Contract liabilities (2,868) (2,429)

Hiat . Notes:

(i) BE_Z_—®+_B=+—HBLtHE (i) During the year ended 31 December 2021, sales and purchases of
E rHERBEEERHEMEBTINSHE goods are charged at prices mutually agreed by the relevant parties.
EREZEBRERKE BEALTIERER The related parties represent Hon Hai Precision Industry Company
BTERNERAS (T¥EE) REER Limited (“Hon Hai”) and its group companies (collectively “Hon Hai
MEAR BB EEH)) (B2 Group”) (2020: Hon Hai Group and Retail Hardware).

F © JB /B4 B KRetail Hardware) ©

(i) IRFEIEDTABEEATERHTE LB E (if) Terms of services are mutually agreed by the relevant parties. The
ATIEREER- related parties represent Hon Hai Group.
(iif) ENEEERBAEALTHERHE & (iif) License fee paid are mutually agreed by the relevant parties. The
BEALTIEREN—RF AT related party represents a subsidiary of Hon Hai.
(b) FTEEEBABZIRHN (b) Key management compensation
—EZ—F - 3
2021 2020
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEREM Salaries and allowances 1,323 1,360
14T Bonuses 185 186
BRE A — & R A ET 2 Pension costs — defined contribution plans 15 16
1,523 1,662
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35 TRz EERERR#EE 35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS
&) OF THE COMPANY

—E-—& —EoTE
2021 2020
Jiog=3 AEBBFT ANEBTFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
EREEE Non-current assets
RFRABNEE Investments in subsidiaries (a) 1 1
EWFABRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 174,232 162,461
______________________________________________________ 174,233 162,462
MBIEE Current assets
FETROE ~ 1 K M E W R E Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables 436 349
HERREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 169 1,127
______________________________________________________________ 605 1,476
WEE Total assets 174,838 163,938
R EQUITY
EATEGDREARGREKR#E Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company
@S Share capital 68,447 64,479
R imE Share premium 213,865 187,511
fEE Reserves ) (109,274) (89,917)
f@ﬁ%fﬁ; ______ Total equity 173,038 162,073
=R LIABILITIES
mENEE Current liabilities
FEstE R R EME S IE Accruals and other payables 1,800 1,865
e s Total liabilities 1,800 1,865
MEEREE Total equity and liabilities 174,838 163,938
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(a)

= = == = 4=4
35 ERFIZEEGERKMHEE 35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
FAT (a) Subsidiaries
RZE2EZI—FrRZZ2EZZF+ZAH Particulars of significant subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 and
=F+—HZEFEFREERNT : 2020 are as follows:
RUTEEMBERET DL
Percentage of
equity interest held
AR,/ HRERK
e R TEEEHY E#fTRE ZBI-F “2CERFE EEEREN TEEH
Place of
Incorporation/  Principal place Registered and Type of
Company establishment of operation issued capital 2021 2020  legal entity Principal activities
EEGARR
Interests held directly
Grand Ditto Limited HEEYES HBRYES 1ET 100% 100% BREERH RELR
Grand Ditto Limited British Virgin British Virgin UsD1 100% 100%  Limited liability Investment holding
Islands Islands company
Upright Ample Limited RBERUHEE HBEZHE iESH 100% 100% BRETAH REZR
Upright Ample Limited British Virgin British Virgin UsD1 100% 100%  Limited liability Investment holding
Islands Islands company
Bright Deal Investments Limited EBELHE HERUEE ESH 100% 100% BREEAH mex
Bright Deal Investments Limited British Virgin British Virgin UsD1 100% 100%  Limited liability Dormant
Islands Islands company
Diamond Harvest Holdings Limited ~ EEEZ#E HERUEE ESH 100% 100% BREEAH REZR
Diamond Harvest Holdings Limited ~ British Virgin British Virgin UsD1 100% 100%  Limited liability Investment holding
Islands Islands company
[GEEEEp 4
Interests held indirectly
BEREERAT EE &5 80,000,001%7¢ 100% 100% BREEAF BERERNAE
BARARE
Grand Field Technology Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$80,000,001 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
company office solutions
ZRERERBERNHBRAT a% aE 150,000,000% & 1 100% 100% BREERT BRENE -WAZRTE
BRRE
Maxnerva Technology Service Inc. Taiwan Taiwan TWD150,000,000 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing,
company office and retail
solutions
Maxnerva Technology Services E3E E3E] ESH 100% 100% BREEAH REZRR
USLLC BEBREBAFE
Maxnerva Technology Services United States United States UsD1 100% 100%  Limited liability Investment holding and
USLLC company smart office solutions
Personify, Inc. £S5 E35] 10%7T 100% 100% BREFLAF BEBAZRARE
Personify, Inc. United States United States usD10 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart office solutions
company
Personify (Vietnam) Company HE HiE 50,000% 7T 100% 100% BREFLAF BEBAZRARE
Limited (#f£2(iv))
Personify (Vietham) Company Vietnam Vietnam USD50,000 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart office solutions
Limited (Note (iv)) company
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35 FATZAEAMEREHS

(a)

6=

FRAF (&

35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (continued)

RUTEERMERET AL
Percentage of
equity interest held

AL HMEFR
27 R TEEEHY gETks CZBI-F ZZIZE EEBRREL TEEH
Place of
Incorporation/ Principal place Registered and Type of
Company establishment of operation issued capital 2021 2020  legal entity Principal activities
Retail Hardware Solutions LLC e E3E FMEZR1,000E 7T 100% 50.1% EBEREERH RERERAPIE
(Hiztv) S YES
Retail Hardware Solutions LLC United States United States Registered capital 100% 50.1%  Limited liability Provision of temperature
(Note v) of USD1,000 company screening access
control solutions
ZBE (B aRERS i HE AfRER 100% 100% BREERF BERERBAE
BIRRR (L) 10,000,000% 7% BARRE
ERE (EE) sMHRREERAT the PRC the PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
(Wisecloud Technology of USD10,000,000 company office solutions
Service Inc.) (Note iii)
EBE HE) RRRBEERAT i HE AMERARE 100% 100% BREERF BERERBAE
(i) 20,000,0007¢ BARRE
ZRE BE) RERBEBRAT the PRC the PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Limited liability ~ Smart manufacturing and
(Maxnerva (Wuhan) Technology of RMB20,000,000 company office solutions
Services Limited) (Note i)
EBE (R aRHERBEERAT RE HE AMERARE 100% 100% BREERF BERERBAE
(i) 20,000,0007¢ BARRE
ERE (R BHBRREERAT the PRC the PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
(Maxnerva (Shenzhen) Technology of RMB20,000,000 company office solutions
Services Limited) (Note i)
LEEREERERBEERAT i HE SMERARE - 100% BREERF gEex
(HfatiiRvi) 1,000,0007%
TRERGEREREBRAT the PRC the PRC Registered capital - 100%  Limited liability Dormant
(Maxnerva (Shanghai) Technology of RMB1,000,000 company

Services Limited) (Note iii & vi)
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35 FAFZHAEAMERERS

198

# @

(@) Fam #

wrst -

(i)

(il

(iv)

(vi)

ERFRIIEARBZF AT HARABE
ERFEEEEBRARAEREER
BE2ERM AFALERARBNHEETF
BEZFRA -EB/EAMF AN ZER
EXgRARER TR

BE-S-_—SR-F-FF+A
S+—BLEEAARE S FATY
BEMBRIT 2 EEEE.

RABEEMRIL 2 EEBRE AR EIE
HEXABRL EFERNIR R TXH
BEIEREX -

Personify, Inc. R ZZ2ZZF=A—HIK

f&Personify (Vietnam) Company Limited ©

HMaxnerva Technology Services US
LLCRZBE-_—FHB+THHKE
49.9% % 1

LEBEEEEMNEBRBAERARDNR-F
T—FEMAZ+ARFEH

35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Notes:

(i) The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Company’s directors and the Group’s management,
principally contributed the results or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would
result in particulars of excessive length.

(if) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

(iif) The English names of the group companies incorporated in The PRC
represent the best effort by the directors in translating its Chinese name
as they do not have official English names.

(iv) Personify (Vietnam) Company Limited was acquired by Personify, Inc.
on 1 March 2020.

(v) 49.9% equity interests were acquired by Maxnerva Technology Services
US LLC on 14 May 2021.

(vi) Maxnerva (Shanghai) Technology Services Limited was deregistered on
25 April 2021.
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35 FRTIZzEEEBRRH#GRE 35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS

& @) OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(b) ZAERFZHEEE (b) Reserve movements of the Company
BEXBEEIfE BhfE  BRERE EREHE RHEE s
Capital Share
redemption Capital option Exchange Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETn ARBETT ARETZ
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R-B-FF-A—H At 1 January 2020 1,042 77,250 2,729 (10,243)  (146,594) (74,916)
FEBR Loss for the year - - - - (4,901) (4,901)
EREH Exchange translation difference - - - (10,487) - (10,487)
BB EE Employee share option scheme

-EERBER - values of employee services - - 387 - - 387
RZE_ZF At 31 December 2020 and 1

+ZE=+-Hk January 2021

2 -%5-B-H 1,942 77,250 3,116 (20,730) (151,495) (89,917)
FERB Loss for the year - - - - (14,682) (14,682)
ERER Exchange translation difference - - - (4,675) - (4,675)
RZZZ—F+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2021 1,942 77,250 3,116 (25,405) (166,177) (109,274)
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of

BEERBE the Group for the last five financial years/period.
ZZZ-f IZZZZE ZZ-HEFE I2-N\F Z—tH
+ZA +-R +-8 +ZA +ZA
=+—-H =+—H =+—H =+—A =+—H
LHEE HEE HFE EFE ENEA
For the For the For the Forthe  For the nine
year ended year ended year ended year ended months ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ARBEFT ANREFT ANREEFT AEEFT AEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA (BELEEE) Revenue (Continuing operations) 596,349 528,417 430,995 326,188 335,384
WA GEBBLEEER) Revenue (Discontinued operations) - - - - 54,294
WA KEZE Total revenue 596,349 523,417 430,995 326,188 389,678
R R AL R Profit attributable to shareholders 34,261 14,634 11,575 1,440 49,215
7 7 7 7 N
- ZZ2IZFE IEZ-hE IZZ-N\E ZZ—tF
+=A +ZRH +Z8 +Z8 +Z8
=+-H =+—H =+—H =+—H =+—H
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ARETFT ARBEFT AEEFT ARBEFT AEETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
nEE Total assets 641,930 536,428 527,428 457,425 509,062
BaE Total liabilities 229,445 181,635 184,243 127,771 180,188
BEFE Net assets 412,485 354,793 343,185 329,654 328,874
fg A& Share capital 68,447 64,479 64,479 65,111 65,111
R BB REMER Share premium and other reserves 344,038 290,314 278,706 264,543 263,763
ey gy Total equity 412,485 354,793 343,185 329,654 328,874
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